
 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Wednesday, January 14, 2015 
9:30 am *approximate start time 

Florida International University 
Modesto A. Maidique Campus 

Graham Center Ballrooms  

 
Committee Membership: 
Sukrit Agrawal, Chair;  Robert T. Barlick, Jr., Vice Chair;  Cesar L. Alvarez;  Gerald C. Grant, Jr.;   
Kathleen L. Wilson 

Liaison:   
Richard Brilliant, Foundation Board of Directors 

  

AAGGEENNDDAA    
  

1. Call to Order and Chair’s Remarks  Sukrit Agrawal

2. Approval of Minutes  Sukrit Agrawal  

3. Action Items  

  FA1.  FIU Direct Support Organizations Financial Audits,  
FY 2013-14 

Kenneth A. Jessell

   A. 
B.  
C.  
D.  

FIU Foundation, Inc. 
FIU Research Foundation, Inc. 
FIU Athletics Finance Corporation 
FIU Academic Health Center Health Care Network Faculty 
Group Practice, Inc. 
 

  FA2.  Investment Policy Amendment 
 

Kenneth A. Jessell

  FA3. Performance Based Funding Metrics 
A. Performance Based Funding – Data Integrity Certification 
B. Audit of Performance Based Funding Metrics:  Good 

Process Controls Contribute to their Reliability 
 

Allen Vann

  FA4. Quality Assessment of FIU Office of Internal Audit Allen Vann
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4. Discussion Items (No Action Required)

  4.1 Financial Performance Review – First Quarter 2015 Kenneth A. Jessell

  4.2 Office of Internal Audit Status Report Allen Vann

  4.3 University Compliance Report Karyn Boston

5. Reports (For Information Only)            

  5.1 Treasury Report                     Phong Vu

  5.2 Business Services Report Aime Martinez

  5.3 Athletics Update      Pete Garcia

  5.4 Emergency Management Status Report Ruben D. Almaguer

  5.5 Safety and Environmental Compliance Report Ruben D. Almaguer

  5.6 Facilities and Construction Update John Cal

  5.7 Foundation Report Richard Brilliant

6. New Business  

       6.1  Senior Management Discussion of Audit Processes Sukrit Agrawal

7. Concluding Remarks and Adjournment Sukrit Agrawal

 
 

The next Finance and Audit Committee Meeting is scheduled for Thursday, March 26, 2015 



Approval of Minutes 
 

THE FLORIDA INTERNATIONAL UNIVERSITY 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

Finance and Audit Committee 
January 14, 2015 

 
Subject:  Approval of Minutes of Meetings held: September 10, 2014 and  

November 17, 2014 
 
 

Proposed Committee Action: 
Approval of Minutes of the Finance and Audit Committee meeting held on Wednesday, 
September 10, 2014 at the FIU, Modesto A. Maidique Campus, Graham Center Ballrooms; 
and Minutes of the Finance and Audit Committee meeting held on Monday, November 17, 
2014 at the FIU, Modesto A. Maidique Campus, Graham Center Ballrooms. 
 

 
Background Information: 

Committee members will review and approve the Minutes of the Finance and Audit meeting 
held on Wednesday, September 10, 2014 at the FIU, Modesto A. Maidique Campus, 
Graham Center Ballrooms; and Minutes of the Finance and Audit Committee meeting held 
on Monday, November 17, 2014 at the FIU, Modesto A. Maidique Campus, Graham Center 
Ballrooms. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Supporting Documentation: 
 
 

Finance and Audit Committee Meeting Minutes:   
September 10, 2014 and November 17, 2014 
 

 
Facilitator/Presenter: Committee Chair Sukrit Agrawal 
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FFLLOORRIIDDAA  IINNTTEERRNNAATTIIOONNAALL  UUNNIIVVEERRSSIITTYY  
BBOOAARRDD  OOFF  TTRRUUSSTTEEEESS  

FFIINNAANNCCEE  AANNDD  AAUUDDIITT  CCOOMMMMIITTTTEEEE  
MINUTES 

SEPTEMBER 10, 2014 
 
 

1.   Call to Order and Chair’s Remarks 
The Florida International University Board of Trustees’ Finance and Audit Committee meeting was 
called to order by Committee Vice Chair Robert T. Barlick, Jr. at 10:00 am on Wednesday, 
September 10, 2014, at the Modesto A. Maidique Campus, Graham Center Ballrooms.    
 
The following attendance was recorded: 

  
  
  
 
 
 
 

Trustees Michael M. Adler, Jorge L. Arrizurieta and Alexis Calatayud and President Mark B. 
Rosenberg were also in attendance.    
 
Committee Vice Chair Barlick welcomed all Trustees, faculty and staff to the meeting.  He also 
welcomed Faculty Trustee Kathleen L. Wilson and thanked her for agreeing to serve as a member of 
the Committee, noting that her expertise will prove to be invaluable to the Committee.    
 
2.   Approval of Minutes 
Committee Vice Chair Barlick asked that the Committee approve the Minutes of the meetings held 
on June 3, 2014 and June 12, 2014.  A motion was made and passed to approve the Minutes of the 
Finance and Audit Committee Meetings held on Tuesday, June 3, 2014 and Thursday, June 12, 2014.   
 
3. Action Items 
FA1. Approval of the Amendment to the Bylaws of the Florida International University 
Foundation, Inc.  
Foundation Board of Directors member Candice B. Gidney presented the Amendments to the 
Bylaws of the FIU Foundation, Inc. for Committee review, noting that on June 7, 2014, the FIU 
Foundation Board of Directors approved amendments to the Foundation’s Bylaws.  She added that 
the amendment to the Bylaws calls for language that directs University staff to update all policies 
and procedures to reflect the Foundation CEO’s current title, which she indicated consists of a 
change from President and CEO to CEO.  She further noted that the FIU Board of Trustees must 

Present Excused 
Robert T. Barlick, Jr., Vice Chair Sukrit Agrawal, Chair 
Gerald C. Grant, Jr. Cesar L. Alvarez 
Kathleen L. Wilson  
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approve any amendments to the FIU Foundation, Inc. Bylaws before their becoming effective. 
 
A motion was made and passed that the FIU Board of Trustees Finance and Audit Committee 
recommend to the FIU Board of Trustees’ approval of the FIU Foundation Inc. Bylaws as amended 
and restated on June 7, 2014. 
 
FA2.  FIU Donative Naming Policy 
Senior Vice President, University Advancement/CEO, FIU Foundation Inc. Howard R. Lipman 
presented the FIU Donative Naming Policy for Committee review, stating that the proposed policy 
sets out to create a standard for all donor naming opportunities throughout the University. He 
explained that the proposed policy has been benchmarked against best practices and peer 
institutions.  He then provided an overview of the requirements for naming opportunities in 
addition to the approval process, stating that honorary namings are not covered by this policy, and 
are reserved to the Board of Trustees.  
 
Sr. VP Lipman indicated that the FIU Foundation retains the latitude to approve a multi-year 
payment plan for the establishment of an endowment at the major gift level.  He noted that the State 
of Florida does not guarantee matching funds, adding that the minimum gift level required for 
naming must be achieved through philanthropic contribution and state matching funds only when 
received.  He stated that any legal impropriety on the part of the donor will make the gift and 
naming subject to reconsideration by the Foundation and University. He further noted that the 
Board of Trustees, upon recommendation from the University President, retains the right to approve 
or disapprove any naming, or to return a gift to a donor, in serving the best interests of the 
University.  
 
Trustee Kathleen L. Wilson requested that Sr. VP Lipman present the University Naming Policy, 
once approved by the Board of Trustees, to the Faculty Senate. Trustee Michael M. Adler 
commented that greater flexibility may be achieved by not limiting specific requirements for the 
permanent naming of buildings and facilities to 50% of the replacement cost of an existing facility 
and 50% or more of the cost of a new facility.  Trustee Grant explained that because of possible 
variations in financial situations and best practices, generally five (5) years is the established period of 
time for full payment to be provided upon the execution of a gift agreement 
 
A motion was made and passed that the FIU Board of Trustees Finance and Audit Committee 
recommend to the FIU Board of Trustees adoption of the University’s Donative Naming Policy. 
 
FA3.  Proposed Amendment to FIU-1101 Tuition and Fees Schedule Regulation 
Associate Vice President for Business and Finance Aime Martinez presented the Proposed 
Amendment to FIU-1101 Tuition and Fees Schedule Regulation for Committee review, noting that 
the tuition for the new Masters of Law degree program was approved at the June 12, 2014 Board of 
Trustees Meeting.  She noted that this amendment provides for charging the tuition and fees on a 
per credit hour basis from a per academic year basis and deletes the health fee charge which is 
already included as the regular set of fees.   
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A motion was made and passed that the FIU Board of Trustees Finance and Audit Committee 
recommend that the FIU Board of Trustees approve the proposed amendments to regulation FIU-
1101 Tuition and Fees Schedule and delegate authority to the University President to approve any 
subsequent amendments that are based on comments to the Regulation received from the State 
University System of Florida Board of Governors as a result of the regulation-making process. 
 
4. Discussion Items 
4.1  Office of Internal Audit Status Report 
Internal Audit Director Allen Vann presented the Internal Audit Report, providing updates on 
recently completed audits and work in progress. He reported that the State University System of 
Florida Board of Governors (BOG) established additional requirements for the BOG’s performance 
based funding model program.  He added that the new procedure requires the Board Chair and 
University President to jointly execute a Data Integrity Certification affirmatively certifying that the 
University maintains reliable systems as they relate to BOG data and reporting requirements.  
Additionally, he indicated that the BOG requested that the Board of Trustees direct the Audit 
Director to perform an audit of the University’s processes completeness, accuracy and timeliness.  
He further noted that both the data certifications and results of the audit need to be approved by the 
Board of Trustees prior to the BOG submission deadline of March 1, 2015.   
 
4.2  Financial Performance Review – FY 2013-14 
Assoc. VP Martinez presented the Financial Performance Review for the fourth quarter of the 2013-
14 fiscal year and provided a summary of University revenues and expenditures.  She reported that 
the University and direct support organizations’ operating revenues were above estimates by $22M 
(or 2 percent), which can be primarily attributed to higher than projected federal and other grants 
and state appropriations for salary and health insurance increases and merit bonuses, combined with 
higher undergraduate enrollment and non-resident students, higher number of tuition differential 
eligible students, and unbudgeted tuition on nursing graduate programs transferred from Auxiliary 
Enterprises.  She noted that expenses were below estimates by $10M (or one percent), primarily due 
to lower expenditures, vacant positions and delays in spending on the capital campaign program.  
 
4.3 New Biscayne Bay Campus Student Housing Project Update 
Assoc. VP Martinez provided an update on the New Biscayne Bay Campus (BBC) Student Housing 
Project, noting that the project is seeking to secure the approval of the Board of Trustees of the 
Internal Improvement Trust Fund through the Division of State Lands and the Board of Governors 
(BOG) due to Standard and Poor’s rating review considering the project indirect debt of the 
University. She added that Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services affirmed its 'AA-' long-term rating on 
the BOG’s parking facility revenue bonds, issued for FIU.  She stated that Standard & Poor's also 
affirmed its 'A' long-term rating on FIU's dormitory revenue bonds currently outstanding, stating 
that the rating reflects Standard & Poor’s view of FIU's stable demand profile, the strong demand 
for the parking system, history of surplus operations, and the housing system's solid occupancy 
levels and adequate maximum annual debt service coverage.  
 
Assoc. VP Martinez reported that since July, the University has been collaborating with the 
Developer, Underwriters, Rating Agencies and BOG on a housing solution for BBC.  She explained 
that in order to get investment grade tax-exempt debt that significantly lowers borrowing costs, the 
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original project as approved by the FIU Board of Trustees may need to be revised.  She added that 
FIU Board of Trustees approval would be required prior to proceeding with any significant revision 
to the original project scope.   
 
5. Reports (For Information Only) 
Committee Vice Chair Barlick requested that the Treasury Report, Business Services Report, 
Athletics Update, Emergency Management Status Report, University Compliance Report, Safety and 
Environmental Compliance Report, Facilities and Construction Update, and Foundation Report be 
accepted as written.  There were no objections.   
 
6.  New Business 
Committee Vice Chair Barlick introduced and welcomed Ms. Karyn Boston, noting that she joined 
FIU as Assistant Vice President, University Compliance and Privacy Officer effective July 14, 2014.  
He added that Ms. Boston oversees the Office of University Compliance and Integrity and is 
responsible for implementing a comprehensive University-wide compliance program for FIU.   
 
6.1  Office of Internal Audit Discussion of Audit Processes  
Committee Vice Chair Barlick noted that as is stipulated in the Finance and Audit Committee 
Charter, the Committee must meet with the Office of Internal Audit without the presence of senior 
management. He further noted that as a meeting conducted in the Sunshine, no one present was 
required to leave during the discussion with the Office of Internal Audit, adding that this was strictly 
voluntary.  Mr. Vann discussed with the Committee in greater depth the Data Integrity Audit 
Requirements for the BOG’s performance based funding model program.  The Committee 
members inquired as to level of cooperation the Office of Internal Audit receives from management 
and Mr. Vann assured them that the Office continues to receive management’s full cooperation for 
all of its audit activities.    
 
7. Concluding Remarks and Adjournment 
With no other business, Committee Vice Chair Robert T. Barlick, Jr. adjourned the meeting of the 
Florida International University Board of Trustees Finance and Audit Committee on Wednesday, 
September 10, 2014 at 11:00 am. 

 
 
Trustee Request 
 

Follow-up Completion 
Date 

Trustee Kathleen L. Wilson requested that Sr. VP Lipman present the 
University Naming Policy, once approved by the Board of Trustees, to the 
Faculty Senate.    

Sr. VP Howard 
R. Lipman 

Spring semester 
Faculty Senate 
meeting  

   
 
9.25.14 MB 
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FFLLOORRIIDDAA  IINNTTEERRNNAATTIIOONNAALL  UUNNIIVVEERRSSIITTYY  
BBOOAARRDD  OOFF  TTRRUUSSTTEEEESS  

FFIINNAANNCCEE  AANNDD  AAUUDDIITT  CCOOMMMMIITTTTEEEE  
MINUTES 

NOVEMBER 17, 2014 
 
 

1.   Call to Order and Chair’s Remarks 
The Florida International University Board of Trustees’ Finance and Audit Committee meeting was 
called to order by Committee Chair Sukrit Agrawal at 9:04 am on Monday, November 17, 2014, at 
the Modesto A. Maidique Campus, Graham Center Ballrooms.    
 
The following attendance was recorded: 

  
  
  
 
 
 

 
Trustee Alexis Calatayud was also in attendance.    
 
Committee Chair Sukrit Agrawal welcomed all Trustees, faculty and staff to the meeting.  He also 
welcomed the University’s outside counsel, Mr. Kenneth R. Artin of Bryant Miller Olive, who was 
participating in the meeting telephonically.  Committee Chair Agrawal noted that Mr. Artin has 
extensive experience practicing public finance and specializes in Public Private Partnerships.   
 
Chair Agrawal noted that the Board’s Real Estate Subcommittee met in October to review the 
Revised Biscayne Bay Campus (BBC) Student Housing Project and requested that Senior Vice 
President of Administration and Chief Financial Officer Kenneth A. Jessell present the proposed 
changes to the project.   
 
2. Action Item 
FA1.  Revised Biscayne Bay Campus Student Housing Project 
Sr. VP and CFO Jessell provided a comprehensive review of the Revised BBC student housing 
project.  He noted that on June 12, 2014, the FIU Board of Trustees authorized the University 
President or designee to enter into a Sublease Agreement and Operating Agreement with NCCD–
Biscayne Properties LLC (“NCCD-Biscayne”), adding that since July, the BBC Housing Project has 
been revised and Board of Trustees reauthorization is required in order to approve the changes.  
 

Present Excused 
Sukrit Agrawal, Chair Cesar L. Alvarez 
Robert T. Barlick, Jr., Vice Chair  
Gerald C. Grant, Jr.  
Kathleen L. Wilson  
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Sr. VP and CFO Jessell indicated that the winning bidder of the open solicitation process, Servitas 
LLC, will assume full responsibility and liability for the project and will serve as the primary point of 
contact for FIU, coordinating all details, decisions and deliverables.  He further noted that the 
collaboration, referred to as a public-private partnership, will serve to meet student needs for safe, 
high-quality on campus housing within close proximity to University facilities while reducing the 
reliance on University debt and lowering risk-adjusted costs.  He noted that the project responds to 
Governor Rick Scott’s letter to the Florida Board of Governors (BOG) encouraging universities to 
consider alternative development and financing of facilities and infrastructure. Sr. VP and CFO 
Jessell reported that Standard & Poor’s classification of the NCCD project as “Indirect Debt” of the 
University prompted the need to obtain BOG approval.  He indicated that the project is unique and 
groundbreaking as it would be the first instance where the BOG considers the request for approval 
of an on-campus public-private partnership project of this nature.    
 
Sr. VP and CFO Jessell presented the key terms pertaining to the revised BBC student housing 
project, providing an overview of the project modifications.  He stated that the project will be a 
facility containing approximately 410 beds (a reduction from the original 618 beds) in a 9-story 
facility totaling approximately 188,000 square feet (a reduction from the original 297,000 square 
feet).  He indicated that Moody’s Investor Service assigned an investment grade rating to the project, 
noting that the debt issue for the project is reduced from $83M to $56.5M and added that FIU’s 
exclusive use (classrooms, Student Services and/or Business Services) was reduced to approximately 
3,760 square feet of space. He added that opening day is now postposed from July 2015 to July 
2016. 
 
Sr. VP and CFO Jessell reported that in order to obtain the investment grade rating, the operating 
agreement now adds responsibilities for FIU that include the subordination of utilities, the 
processing of rental payments through FIU Housing for students and the inclusion of the Project in 
FIU Housing marketing materials and on the Housing website.  He also stated that the rental rates 
are subject to the University’s approval and are expected initially to be no more than 10% higher 
than housing rates at the Modesto A. Maidique Campus, due to the smaller project size, but noted 
that the rates would still be very competitive with local markets given the superior amenities to be 
offered.  He further noted that the Operating Agreement requires the creation of an Advisory 
Committee, membership of which includes FIU representatives and that the Advisory Committee 
will have approval rights over the project’s budget and marketing and operating plans.  
 
A discussion ensued among Trustees regarding the project. Trustee Robert T. Barlick, Jr. inquired as 
to how the project compared to the Royal Caribbean Cruises, Ltd. (RCL) Production, Rehearsal, 
and Performance facility.  Sr. VP and CFO Jessell noted that while both involve long-term ground 
subleases, RCL’s facility is designed almost exclusively for their use with some availability to FIU.  
Trustee Kathleen L. Wilson requested information pertaining to current plans to expand the 
academic programs at BBC.  College of Business Dean David R. Klock and Chaplin School of 
Hospitality and Tourism Management Dean Mike Hampton noted how new and proposed 
development at BBC has placed renewed emphasis on partnerships and discussed implementation 
plans that ensure compatibility of academic support and service functions and Dean Rock described 
College of Medicine activities at BBC. Provost and Executive Vice President Kenneth G. Furton 
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communicated plans of offering FIU’s Bachelor of Arts in Sustainability and The Environment 
degree at BBC.   
 
A motion was made and passed that the FIU Board of Trustees Finance and Audit Committee 
recommend that the FIU Board of Trustees authorize the University President or designee to (i) 
enter into a Sublease Agreement and Operating Agreement with NCCD–Biscayne Properties LLC 
(“NCCD-Biscayne”), a single member limited liability company owned by National Campus and 
Community Development Corporation (“NCCD”), on substantially the same terms as described 
herein, and (ii) take all actions and execute all other incidental documents necessary or desirable in 
connection with NCCD-Biscayne’s development, construction and operation of the Student 
Housing project, including, but not limited to, granting easements and licenses on the Biscayne Bay 
Campus (“BBC”). 
 
3.  New Business 
No new business was raised.   
 
4. Concluding Remarks and Adjournment 
With no other business, Committee Chair Sukrit Agrawal adjourned the meeting of the Florida 
International University Board of Trustees Finance and Audit Committee on Monday, November 
17, 2014 at 10:01 am. 

 
There were no Trustee requests.   

 
12.18.14 MB 
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Agenda Item 3                                                                                                           FA1-A 
                            

THE FLORIDA INTERNATIONAL UNIVERSITY  
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

Finance and Audit Committee 
January 14, 2015 

 
Subject:  Florida International University Foundation Inc., Financial Audit, 2013-14 
 
 

Proposed Committee Action: 
Recommend approval by the Florida International University Board of Trustees of the 
Florida International University Foundation, Inc. Financial Audit for the 2013-14 Fiscal Year 
and authorize the CEO of the Florida International University Foundation, Inc. to take all 
actions necessary pertaining to this Financial Audit, including filing the report with the 
Auditor General.  
 
 

Background information: 
Pursuant to Regulation FIU-1502 (2)(f), the Florida International University Foundation, 
Inc. must submit an independently conducted financial audit of its accounts and records, 
which has been approved by its governing board and recommended by the University 
President to the Florida International University Board of Trustees for review and approval. 
 
The Florida International University Foundation, Inc. Financial Audit for 2013-14 was 
approved by the Florida International University Foundation, Inc. Board of Directors on 
October 25, 2014, and the University President is recommending its approval. 
 
Florida Board of Governors Regulation 9.011 (4) University Direct Support Organizations 
and Health Services Support Organizations, states in relevant part:  
Support organizations shall provide for an annual audit conducted pursuant to university 
regulations or policies. The annual audit report shall be submitted to the university board of 
trustees or designee, the Board of Governors, and the Auditor General for review. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Supporting Documentation: 
 

 
 

Florida International University Foundation, Inc. Financial 
Audit, 2013-14 
 

Facilitator/Presenter:                Kenneth A. Jessell 
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Agenda Item 3                                                                                                           FA1-B 
                            

THE FLORIDA INTERNATIONAL UNIVERSITY  
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

Finance and Audit Committee 
January 14, 2015 

 
Subject:  Florida International University Research Foundation Inc., Financial Audit, 

2013-14 
 
 

Proposed Committee Action: 
Recommend approval by the Florida International University Board of Trustees of the 
Florida International University Research Foundation, Inc. Financial Audit for the 2013-14 
Fiscal Year and authorize the Executive Director of the Florida International University 
Research Foundation, Inc. to take all actions necessary pertaining to this Financial Audit, 
including filing the report with the Auditor General.  
 
 

Background information: 
Pursuant to Regulation FIU-1502 (2)(f), the Florida International University Research 
Foundation, Inc. must submit an independently conducted financial audit of its accounts and 
records, which has been approved by its governing board and recommended by the 
University President to the Florida International University Board of Trustees for review and 
approval. 
 
The Florida International University Research Foundation, Inc. Financial Audit for 2013-14 
was approved by the Florida International University Research Foundation, Inc. Board of 
Directors on November 13, 2014, and the University President is recommending its 
approval. 
 
Florida Board of Governors Regulation 9.011 (4) University Direct Support Organizations 
and Health Services Support Organizations, states in relevant part:  
Support organizations shall provide for an annual audit conducted pursuant to university 
regulations or policies. The annual audit report shall be submitted to the university board of 
trustees or designee, the Board of Governors, and the Auditor General for review. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Supporting Documentation: Florida International University Research Foundation, Inc. 
Financial Audit, 2013-14 
 
 

Facilitator/Presenter:                Kenneth A. Jessell 
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1 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
Members of the Board of Directors and the 
   Assistant Vice President of Direct Support Organizations 
Florida International University Research Foundation, Incorporated 
Miami, Florida 
 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Florida International University 
Research Foundation, Incorporated (the Research Foundation), a direct support organization and a 
component unit of Florida International University, which comprise the statement of net position as 
of June 30, 2014, and the related statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position and 
cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this 
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States America.  Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  Accordingly, we express 
no such opinion.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the Research Foundation as of June 30, 2014, and the respective changes 
in financial position and cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Report on Summarized Comparative Information 
 
We have previously audited the Research Foundation 2013 financial statements, and our report 
dated October 21, 2013 expressed an unmodified opinion on those audited financial statements.  
In our opinion, the summarized comparative information presented herein as of and for the year 
ended June 30, 2013, is consistent, in all material respects, with the audited financial statements 
from which it has been derived. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis on pages 4 – 8 be presented to supplement the financial 
statements.  Such information, although not a part of the financial statements, is required by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial 
reporting for placing the financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or 
historical context.  We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary 
information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the 
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our 
inquiries, the financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the 
financial statements.  We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information 
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion 
or provide any assurance. 
 
Blended Component Unit 
 
The financial statements of the Florida International Research iWASH Initiative Limited 
(iWASH) are presented in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 
and its interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).  
iWASH is a blended component unit, is presented in the Research Foundation's financial 
statements, and has a December 31st year-end.  iWASH is audited by other independent auditors.  
Since the iWASH year end and presentation is not compatible with the Research Foundation's 
presentation as it is presented under the international accounting standards and not in accordance 
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with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America, the financial 
statements and notes related to iWASH are presented on separate pages 18 – 31 along with the 
respective Report of Independent Auditors. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated 
October 6, 2014 on our consideration of the Research Foundation’s internal control over 
financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements and other matters.  The purpose of that report is to describe the 
scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of 
that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on 
compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering Research Foundation’s internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance. 
 

 
 
Miami, FL 
October 6, 2014 
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The management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) provides an overview of the financial 
position and activities of the Florida International University Research Foundation, Incorporated 
(the “Research Foundation”) for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014, and should be read in 
conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto.  The MD&A, financial statements 
and notes thereto, are the responsibility of management. 
 
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 
The Research Foundation’s assets totaled $307 thousand at June 30, 2014.  This balance reflects 
a $60 thousand, or 17 percent, decrease from the 2013 fiscal year, primarily resulting from a 
decrease in cash of $60 thousand.  While assets decreased, liabilities also decreased by $56 
thousand, or 39 percent.  As a result, the Research Foundation’s net position decreased by $5 
thousand reaching a year-end balance of $221 thousand. 
 
The Research Foundation had no operating revenues for the 2014 fiscal year.  Transfers from 
Florida International University (FIU) totaled $20 thousand.  Operating expenses totaled $24.7 
thousand for the 2014 fiscal year, representing an increase of 11 percent over the 2013 fiscal year 
due mainly to an increase in other operating expenses in Tanzania. 
 
 
OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The Research Foundation’s financial report includes three basic financial statements:  the 
statement of net position; the statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position; and 
the statement of cash flows. 
 
Statement of Net Position 
 
The statement of net position reflects the assets and liabilities of the Research Foundation, using 
the accrual basis of accounting, and presents the financial position of the Research Foundation at 
a specified time.  The difference between total assets and total liabilities, net position, is one 
indicator of the Research Foundation’s current financial condition.  The changes in net position 
that occur over time indicate improvement or deterioration in the Research Foundation’s 
financial condition. 
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The following summarizes the Research Foundation’s assets, liabilities, and net position at 
June 30: 
 

Condensed Statement of Net Position at June 30 
(In Thousands) 

 
2014 2013

Assets
Current assets 306.9$          367.3$          

Total Assets 306.9            367.3            

Liabilities
Current liabilities 85.9              141.6            

Total Liabilities 85.9              141.6            

Net Position
Unrestricted 221.0            225.7            

Total Net Position 221.0$          225.7$           
 
Current assets are comprised mainly of cash.  The increase in cash is primarily due to advance 
funding from FIU that is used to operate a U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID) 
grant in Burkina Faso.  The activities are reflected on the statement of net position as Due to 
FIU. 
 
In summary, total assets decreased by $60 thousand, or 17 percent, while total liabilities 
decreased by $56 thousand, or 39 percent.  As a result, the net position balance at June 30, 2014, 
had an unfavorable decrease of $5 thousand. 
 
For more detailed information, see the statement of net position on page 9 of the financial 
statements. 
 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 
 
The statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position presents the Research 
Foundation’s revenue and expense activity, categorized as operating and non-operating.  
Revenues and expenses are recognized when earned or incurred, regardless of when cash is 
received or paid.  
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The following summarizes the Research Foundation’s activity for the 2014 and 2013 fiscal 
years: 
 

Condensed Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 
(In Thousands) 

 
2014 2013

Operating Expenses 24.7$            22.3$            

Operating Loss (24.7)             (22.3)             

Expenses before transfers (24.7)             (22.3)             
Transfer from FIU 20.0              60.0              

Changes in Net Position (4.7)               37.7              

Net Position - Beginning of Year 225.7            188.0            

Net Position - End of Year 221.0$          225.7$           
 
Operating Revenues 
 
The Research Foundation categorizes revenues as either operating or non-operating.  Operating 
revenues generally result from exchange transactions where each of the parties to the transaction 
either give up or receive something of equal or similar value.  There were no operating revenues 
in 2014 or 2013. 
 
Operating Expenses 
 
The Research Foundation categorizes expenses as operating or non-operating.  GASB allows 
financial reporting entities the choice of reporting operating expenses in the functional or natural 
classifications.  The Research Foundation has chosen to report the expenses in their natural 
classification on the statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position. 
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The following summarizes the operating expenses by natural classifications for the 2014 and 
2013 fiscal years: 
 

Operating Expenses 
(In Thousands) 

 
2014 2013

Professional fees 17.5$            22.0$            
Other operating expenses 7.2                0.3                

Total Operating Expenses 24.7$            22.3$             
 

Operating expenses totaled approximately $25 thousand for the 2014 fiscal year.  This represents 
an 11 percent increase over the 2013 fiscal year and was due to an increase in other operating 
expenses in Tanzania of approximately $7 thousand. 
 
 
TRANSFERS 
 
Transfers for the 2014 fiscal year totaled $20 thousand and were related to the transfers from the 
University to support the operating expenses of the Research Foundation. 
 
This represents a 67% decrease over the 2013 fiscal year.  The decrease was attributable to a 
reduced need for funding fiscal year 2013-14 since fund balances were being utilized. 
 
 
BLENDED COMPONENT UNIT 
 
Florida International Research iWASH Initiative Limited 
 
Florida International Research iWASH Initiative Limited was incorporated under the Tanzania 
Companies Act of 2002 on February 22, 2010.  The company, Florida International Research 
iWASH Initiative Limited, is a “not for profit company.” 
 
In January 2010, Florida International University received a cooperative agreement funding 
award to support the Tanzania Integrated Water, Sanitation and Hygiene Program (iWASH).  
The company was established in Tanzania by the Florida International University Research 
Foundation, Inc. in order to implement the iWASH program in Tanzania.  The funding is 
obligated under the USAID Strategic Assistance Objective #13 “Biodiversity Conserved in 
Targeted Landscapes through Livelihood Driven Approaches,” and is under the bilateral 
Economic and Technical Cooperation Agreement signed between the Government of the United 
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Republic of Tanzania and the Government of the United States of America.  Current funding is 
for the period January 1, 2010 through December 31, 2015.  The company has a year end of 
December 31.  For additional information on this component unit, see the blended component 
unit section in Note 1 of the financial statements on page 12. 
 
The goal of Tanzania iWASH Program is to support sustainable, market-driven water supply, 
sanitation, and hygiene services to improve health and increase economic resiliency of the poor 
in targeted rural areas and small towns within an integrated water resource management 
framework. 
 
iWASH Program provision of water supply continued to progress well.  A total of 48,694 people 
gaining access to improved drinking water during the period from January to December 2013.  
Partnerships for provision of water supply with MSABI in Kilombero, SHIPO in Njombe, and 
IDYDC in Iringa have resulted in wells installed with Rope Pumps serving close to 10,000 
people. 
 
The iWASH Program provision' of sanitation and hygiene services continued mobilization in the 
pilot villages.  During the reporting period over 7,900 people were sensitized on hygiene and 
sanitation through community meetings and community theatre.  A total of nearly 5,600 people 
gained access to improved household sanitation, including school pupils gaining access to school 
latrines. 
 
 
ECONOMIC FACTORS THAT WILL AFFECT THE FUTURE 
 
The primary factor that will impact the Research Foundation in the future will be the 
University’s ability to develop intellectual property rights. Royalty income generated from 
licenses of University intellectual property is transferred to the Research Foundation for re-
investment in the FIU research enterprise.  If the University is successful, the Research 
Foundation will have more funds to invest but this does not change the objectives of the 
Research Foundation. 
 
 
REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION 
 
This financial statement is designed to provide a general overview of the Research Foundation’s 
finances for all those with an interest in its finances.  Questions concerning any of the 
information provided in this report or requests for additional financial information should be 
addressed to the Controller, Florida International University Research Foundation, Incorporated, 
11200 S.W. 8th Street, Miami, Florida 33199. 
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2014 2013
Assets

Current Assets
Cash 306,955$      367,317$      

Liabilities

Current Liabilities
Accounts payable 2,166            2,987            
Due to FIU 83,705          138,576        

85,871          141,563        

Net Position
Unrestricted net position 221,084$      225,754$      

(WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR JUNE 30, 2013)

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

RESEARCH FOUNDATION, INCORPORATED
(A Direct Support Organization)

FLORIDA INTERNATIONAL UNIVERSITY

JUNE 30, 2014

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2014 2013
Operating Expenses
   Professional fees 17,418$        20,987$        

Other operating expenses 7,252            1,297            

Operating Loss (24,670)         (22,284)         

Transfer from Florida International University (FIU)  20,000          60,000          

Change in Net Position (4,670)           37,716          

Net Position - Beginning 225,754        188,038        

Net Position - Ending 221,084$      225,754$      

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

(WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013)

(A Direct Support Organization)
RESEARCH FOUNDATION, INCORPORATED

FLORIDA INTERNATIONAL UNIVERSITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2014 2013
Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Receipts from FIU 47,424$        50,106$        
Cash paid for program activities (127,786)       (19,987)         

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities (80,362)         30,119          

Cash Flows from Non-Capital Financing Activities
Transfers from FIU 20,000          60,000          

Increase (Decrease) in Cash (60,362)         90,119          

Cash - Beginning 367,317        277,198        

Cash - Ending 306,955$      367,317$      

Reconciliation of Operating Loss to Net Cash 
Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities

Operating loss (24,670)$       (22,284)$       
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Increase (decrease) in accounts payable (821)              2,297            
Increase (decrease) in due to FIU (54,871)         50,106          

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities (80,362)$       30,119$        

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013)

(A Direct Support Organization)
RESEARCH FOUNDATION, INCORPORATED

FLORIDA INTERNATIONAL UNIVERSITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

REPORTING ENTITY 
 

The Florida International University Research Foundation, Inc. (the Research Foundation 
or the Organization), a Florida not-for-profit corporation, is a direct support organization 
and a component unit of Florida International University (FIU or the University) and was 
organized in the State of Florida on November 25, 1997 for educational and scientific 
purposes.  The articles of incorporation were amended and restated on July 29, 2010. 

 
The Research Foundation is a tax-exempt organization as defined by Section 501(c)(3) of 
the Internal Revenue Code.  The Research Foundation provides direct support to Florida 
International University in matters pertaining to research, and has been designated by the 
FIU Board of Trustees as a University Direct Support Organization pursuant to §1004.28, 
Florida Statutes. 
 
The financial reporting entity covered by this report includes the Organization and its 
component unit.  The reporting entity has been defined by GASB as the Organization and 
those component units for which the Organization is financially accountable and has an 
ongoing relationship of financial burden towards the blended component unit.  Blended 
component units, although legally separate entities, are, in substance, part of the 
government’s operations, therefore, data for these units are generally combined with data of 
the Organization. 
 
Blended Component Unit 
The Florida International Research iWASH Initiative Limited (iWASH) was created on 
February 22, 2010, under the Companies Act of 2002 which was formed in Tanzania.  The 
entity is a not for profit company as defined by the laws in Tanzania.  This entity was 
established solely as a legal entity to implement the development initiative known as 
Tanzania iWASH Program. 
 
The financial statements of iWASH presented are prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and its interpretations adopted by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB).  The iWASH board members consist of two 
members, one of which is authorized as the Research Foundation’s representative at any 
meeting of the company and is entitled to exercise the same powers on behalf of the 
company as if it were an individual member present at the meeting including power to vote.  
iWASH is fiscally dependent on the Research Foundation because the company was 
established as a legal entity solely to implement the development initiative known as 
Tanzania iWASH Program.  Accordingly, iWASH is a blended component unit and is 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

REPORTING ENTITY (CONTINUED) 
 

Blended Component Unit (continued) 
presented in the Research Foundation’s financial statements.  iWASH has a December 31st 
year-end.  Since the iWASH year end and presentation is not compatible with the Research 
Foundation’s presentation as it is presented under the international accounting standards 
and not in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of 
America, the financial statements and notes related to iWASH are presented on separate 
pages 18 – 31.  Complete financial statements for the iWASH Limited can be obtained by 
writing to:  Controller, Florida International University, Division of Research, 11200 S.W. 
8th Street, Miami, FL  33199. 
 
BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

 
The financial statements of the Research Foundation have been prepared in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) as 
applied to governmental units.  The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is 
the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial 
reporting principles.  The Research Foundation reports under the GASB standards because 
it meets the criteria regarding the popular election of officers or appointment of a 
controlling majority of the members of the Organization’s governing body by one or more 
state or local governments and because it is a direct support organization.  Therefore, the 
Research Foundation is reported as a governmental entity. 
 
The Research Foundation met the criteria to use enterprise fund accounting and financial 
reporting.  Accordingly, the financial statements are reported using the economic resources 
measurement focus and accrual basis of accounting, which recognizes revenue when earned 
and expenses when a liability is incurred, regardless of timing of the related cash flow. 
 
GASB Statement No. 65 “Items Previously Reported as Assets and Liabilities” establishes 
accounting and financial reporting standards that reclassify, as deferred outflows of 
resources or deferred inflows of resources, certain items that were previously reported as 
assets and liabilities.  This implementation of this statement had no impact on the Research 
Foundation’s financial statement. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

COMPARATIVE INFORMATION 
 

The financial statements include certain prior year summarized comparative information.  
Such information does not include sufficient detail to constitute a presentation in 
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  
Accordingly, such information should be read in conjunction with the Organization’s 
financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2013, from which the summarized 
information was derived. 
 
USE OF ESTIMATES 

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying 
notes.  Although these estimates are based on management’s knowledge of current events 
and actions it may undertake in the future, they may ultimately differ from actual results. 
 
FLOW ASSUMPTION FOR RESTRICTED ASSETS 

 
If both restricted and unrestricted assets are available for use for a certain purpose, it is the 
Research Foundation’s policy to use restricted assets first, then use unrestricted assets as 
needed. 
 
OPERATING REVENUE AND EXPENSES 
 
The Research Foundation’s statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position 
distinguishes between operating and nonoperating revenue and expenses.  Operating 
revenue results from exchange transactions associated in matters pertaining to research, 
which is the Research Foundation’s principal activity.  Other sources of revenue, including 
investment earnings, are reported as nonoperating revenue.  Operating expenses include all 
expenses incurred in matters pertaining to research, other than external financing costs. 

 
INCOME TAXES 
 
The Organization is a not-for-profit corporation, as described in Section 501(c)(3) of the 
Internal Revenue Code and as such are subject to federal income taxes only on unrelated 
business income.  There were no income taxes resulting from unrelated business income 
during the year ended June 30, 2014. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED) 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require 
management to evaluate tax positions taken and recognize a tax liability  (or asset) if the 
organization has taken an uncertain position that more likely than not would not be 
sustained upon examination by taxing authorities.  Management has analyzed the tax 
positions taken and has concluded that as of June 30, 2014, there are no uncertain positions 
taken or expected to be taken that would require recognition of a liability (or asset) or 
disclosure in the financial statements.  If the Organization were to incur an income tax 
liability in the future, interest and penalties would be reported as income taxes.  The 
Organization is subject to routine audits by taxing jurisdictions; however, there are 
currently no audits for any tax periods in progress.  Management believes the Organization 
is no longer subject to income tax examinations for years prior to 2011. 
 
TRANSFERS 
 
Transfers for the 2014 fiscal year totaled $20 thousand from the University to support the 
operating expenses of the Research Foundation. 

 
 
NOTE 2 – DEPOSITS 
 

In addition to insurance provided by the Federal Depository Insurance Corporation, all 
deposits, except for the bank account in Burkina Faso, West Africa are held in banking 
institutions approved by the State Treasurer of the State of Florida to hold public funds.  
Under Florida Statutes Chapter 280, Florida Security for Public Deposits Act, the State 
Treasurer requires all Florida qualified public depositories to deposit with the Treasurer or 
another banking institution eligible collateral.  In the event of a failure of a qualified public 
depository, the remaining public depositories would be responsible for covering any 
resulting losses.  Accordingly, all amounts reported as deposits, except for the bank account 
in Burkina Faso, West Africa are insured or collateralized. 
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NOTE 2 – DEPOSITS (CONTINUED) 
 
CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK FOR CASH 

 
The Organization has a bank account in Burkina Faso, West Africa to support the 
operations pertaining to the West Africa Water Supply, Sanitation and Hygience (WA-
WASH) Program under a U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID) grant.  The 
balance in this account of $78,281 as of June 30, 2014 is not FDIC insured and is subject to 
foreign currency exchange risk.  The Research Foundation maintains its other cash balances 
with high quality financial institutions, which the Research Foundation believes limits these 
risks. 
 
 

NOTE 3 – DUE TO FLORIDA INTERNATIONAL UNIVERSITY 
 
The amount Due to FIU of $83,705 represents funds that were sent to Burkina Faso related 
to grant operations.  This liability will be reduced as vendors are paid in Burkina Faso.  The 
funds for grant operations in Burkina Faso are repaid directly to the University from the 
grantor. 
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2013 2012
Assets

Non Current Assets
Property and equipment 5,780$           58,000$         

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 11,673           42,125           

Total Assets 17,453$         100,125$       

Equity and Liabilities

Fund Accounts
Retained earnings --$                 --$                 

Long Term Liabilities
Capital grant --                   5,780             

Current Liabilities
Capital grant - current portion 5,780             52,220           
Deferred grant 11,673           42,125           

Total Current Liabilities 17,453           94,345           

Total Equity and Liabilities 17,453$         100,125$       

FLORIDA INTERNATIONAL RESEARCH

(A Component Unit)

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2013

iWASH INITIATIVE LIMITED

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2013 2012
Statement of Comprehensive Income

Income
Grant income $      525,024  $        440,884 
Amortization of capital grant           52,220              58,055 

Total Income 577,244         498,939          

Expenditure
Operating expenditure         577,244            498,939 

Operating Surplus --                   --                     

Other Comprehensive Income (Net Taxes) --                   --                     

Total Comprehensive Income --$                 --$                   

Statement of Changes in Equity
Accumulated Accumulated

Surplus Surplus

Balance - January 2013 --$                 --$                   

Surplus for the period --                   --                     

Balance - December 2013 --$                 --$                   

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

iWASH INITIATIVE LIMITED
FLORIDA INTERNATIONAL RESEARCH

(A Component Unit)

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

19
80



2013 2012
Cash Flow (Used in) from Operating Activities

Operating surplus $                 --  $                 -- 

Depreciation           52,220            58,055 

Amortization of capital grant (52,220)         (58,055)         

Operating Profit before Working Capital Changes --                   --                   

Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities                    --                     -- 

Cash Flow from Financing Activities
Capital grant received --                   --                   

Movement in deferred grant (30,452)         13,997           

Cash Flow from Financing Activities          (30,452)            13,997 

Cash Flow from Investing Activities
Acquisition of plant and equipment's --                   --                   

Cash Flow from Investing Activities                    --                     -- 

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents          (30,452)            13,997 

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of Period 42,125           28,128           

Cash and Cash Equivalents - End of Period $        11,673  $        42,125 

FLORIDA INTERNATIONAL RESEARCH
iWASH INITIATIVE LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

(A Component Unit)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTE 1 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Florida International Research iWASH Initiative Limited (the Company) is an Organization 
domiciled in Tanzania.  The financial statements of the Company are for the period ended 
December 31, 2013. 
 
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements 
are set out below: 
 
STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE 
 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and its interpretations adopted by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 
 
BASIS OF PREPARATION 

 
Presentation of Financial Statements 
The Company applies revised IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (2007), which 
became effective as of January 1, 2009.  As a result, the Program presents in the statement 
of changes in equity all owner changes in equity, whereas all non-owner changes (if any) in 
equity are presented in the statement of comprehensive income. 
 
Statement of Compliance 
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with and comply with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 
 
Basis of Measurement 
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. 
 
Translation of Foreign Currencies 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to USD at the foreign exchange rate at the 
date of the transaction.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at 
the reporting date are translated to USD at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date.  
Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognized in the statement of profit 
and loss and other comprehensive income.  
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NOTE 1 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 
 
Use of Estimates and Judgment 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to 
make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses.  Actual results may differ 
from these estimates. 
 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and in 
any future periods affected. 
 
Going Concern 
The Company operations are funded by its member, Florida International University 
Research Foundation, Inc. 
 
Florida International University Research Foundation, Inc. has confirmed in its letter dated 
May 9, 2014 its intention to continue providing financial support and will not recall the 
outstanding advance within the foreseeable future. 
 
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

 
The Company makes statutory contributions (Defined Contribution Plan) to the 
Government Employees Pension Fund (GEPF).  The Company's obligations in respect of 
contributions to such funds are 10% of the employees' gross emoluments.  Contributions to 
this pension fund are recognized as an expense in the period the employees render the 
related services. 
 
REVENUE RECOGNITION 

 
Grants that compensate the Company for expenses incurred are recognized in Statement of 
Comprehensive Income on a systematic basis in the same periods in which the expenses are 
recognized.  Grant income is comprised entirely of a grant from US Agency for 
International Development (USAID) to Florida International University. 
 
Capital grant recognized as differed income and amortized over the useful life of the assets. 
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NOTE 1 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
 

Recognition and Measurement 
Items of property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation (see 
accounting policy). 
 
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.  The 
cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labor, any other 
costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the working condition for its intended use, 
and the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they 
are located.  Borrowing costs related to the acquisition or construction of qualifying assets 
is recognized in profit or loss as incurred. 
 
When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are 
accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment. 
 
Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by 
comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and 
equipment and are recognized net within "operating expenses" in profit or loss. 
 
Subsequent Costs 
The cost of replacing an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized in the carrying 
amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the 
part will flow to the Company and its costs can be measured reliably.  The carrying amount 
of the replaced part is derecognized.  The cost of day to day servicing of property, plant and 
equipment are recognized in statement of comprehensive income as incurred. 
 
Depreciation 
Depreciation is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis 
over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant and equipment. 
 
The annual rates for the estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are 
as follows: 
 

Motor vehicles 25%
Computer equipment 37.5%
Furniture and other equipment 12.5%
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NOTE 1 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

NEW AND AMENDED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS 
 
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet 
effective for annual periods beginning after January 1, 2013 and have not been applied in 
preparing these financial statements.  None of those are expected to have a significant effect 
on the financial statements of the Company except for: 
 

i. Amendments to JAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation: Offsetting Financial 
Assets and Financial Liabilities 
 
The amendments clarify when an entity can offset financial assets and financial 
liabilities. This amendment will result in the Group no longer offsetting two of its 
master netting arrangements.  This amendment is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2014 with early adoption permitted. 
 

ii. IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
 

IFRS 9 (2009) introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement 
of financial assets.  Under IFRS 9 (2009), financial assets are classified and 
measured based on the business model in which they are held and the characteristics 
of their contractual cash flows. IFRS 9 (2010) introduces additions relating to 
financial liabilities.  The IASB currently has an active project to make limited 
amendments to the classification and measurement requirements of IFRS 9 and add 
new requirements to address the impairment of financial assets and hedge 
accounting.  The effective date of IFRS 9 was 1 January 2017. 
 
The company will adopt the standard in the first annual period beginning on or after 
the mandatory effective date (once specified).  The Company does not plan to early 
adopt these standards and the extent of the impact has not been determined. 
 

FUNCTIONAL AND REPRESENTATION CURRENCY 
 

These financial statements are presented in United States of American Dollars (USD) 
which is the Company's functional currency.  The unaudited memorandum columns are 
presented in thousands of Tanzanian Shillings (Tzs'000).  The exchange rates used to 
translate USD figures into Tzs memorandum were as follows: 
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NOTE 1 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

FUNCTIONAL AND REPRESENTATION CURRENCY (CONTINUED) 
 

 assets and liabilities were translated at the closing rate at the reporting date of Tzs 
1,600 to USD; 

 income and expenses were translated using an average exchange rate for the year of 
Tzs 1,596 to USD I 

 
COMPARATIVES 

 
Where necessary, comparative figures have been restated to conform with changes in 
presentation in the current year. 

 
 

NOTE 2 – DEFERRED GRANT 
 

2013 2012
Opening Balance $           42,125  $           28,128 

Receipts for the period            494,572             454,881 
Grant income released (see Note 3 below)          (525,024)           (440,884)
Exchange difference                      --                       -- 

Balance at December 31 $           11,673  $           42,125  
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NOTE 3 – OPERATING EXPENDITURES 
 

2013 2012
NRA - salaries and consultants (non U.S. personnel) 296,876$       238,088$       
Foreign travel (travel in TZ) 79,530           76,170           
Airfare - foreign 2,174             --                   
Maintenance contracts 6,840             4,368             
Security services 6,767             6,869             
Rent of buildings 4,410             --                   
Rent expenses 5,353             12,042           
Cellular phones 1,725             1,638             
Communications charges 5,401             3,103             
Motor vehicles others 5,390             --                   
Bank fees 1,713             1,162             
Office supplies 4,671             6,586             
Other materials and supplies 645                1,004             
Gasoline and diesel 23,889           14,832           
Other motor fuel supplies 5,394             6,539             
Auto insurance 3,072             6,929             
Postage 2                    29                  
Courier/freight 593                239                
Printing, copy card, Xerox and reproduction 13                  1,055             
Miscellaneous 187                1                    
Scholarships 25,670           35,617           
F&E <$1000 --                   2,215             
F&E <$5000 (is under $5,000 not over) (4,230)           --                   
Computer equipment under $5,000 8,637             --                   
Stipend 27,867           2,423             
Professional fees 4,458             12,078           
Exchange loss 168                --                   
Food products 7,809             7,897             

Total Expenditures 525,024         440,884         

Depreciation 52,220           58,055           

Total Operating Expenditures 577,244$       498,939$        
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NOTE 4 – PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
 

Office
Office Motor Furniture Computer

Equipment Vehicles and Fittings Accessories Total
Cost

At January 2012 2,465$      203,110$  9,091$      23,333$    237,999$  
Additions --              --              --              --              --              
Translation difference --              --              --              --              --              

At December 31, 2012 2,465        203,110    9,091        23,333      237,999    

At January 2013 2,465        203,110    9,091        23,333      237,999    
Additions --              --              --              --              --              
Disposals --              --              --              --              --              
Translation difference --              --              --              --              --              

At December 31, 2013 2,465        203,110    9,091        23,333      237,999    

Depreciation
At January 2012 616           101,556    2,272        17,500      121,944    
Charge for the year 308           50,778      1,136        5,833        58,055      
Eliminated on disposal --              --              --              --              --              
Translation difference --              --              --              --              --              

At December 31, 2012 924           152,334    3,408        23,333      179,999    

At January 2013 924           152,334    3,408        23,333      179,999    
Charge for the year 308           50,776      1,136        --              52,220      
Eliminated on disposal --              --              --              --              --              
Translation difference --              --              --              --              --              

At December 31, 2012 1,232        203,110    4,544        23,333      232,219    

Carrying Amount at
December 31, 2013 1,541$      50,776$    5,683$      --$            58,000$    

At December 31, 2013 1,233$      --$            4,547$      --$            5,780$       
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NOTE 5 – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

2013 2012
USD Account 6002092 9,782$           34,980$         
TZS Account 6000200 1,891             7,145             

11,673$         42,125$         

 
 

NOTE 6 – CAPITAL GRANTS MOVEMENT 
 

2013 2012
Opening Balance 58,000$         116,055$       

Capital grant received during the period --                   --                   
Amortization of capital grants (52,220)         (58,055)         

Balance - December 31 5,780$           58,000$         

Long term portion --$                 --$                 
Current portion 5,780             58,000           

Total 5,780$           58,000$          
 
Capital grants represent donations the company received in the form of fixed assets, and it 
is amortized annually depending on their useful life. 

 
 
NOTE 7 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

The Florida International University, Winrock International and Cooperate for Assistance 
and Relief Everywhere (CARE) are the only related parties of the Company.  All 
transactions were conducted at arm’s length. 
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NOTE 8 – TAXES 
 

The Florida International Research iWASH Initiative Limited has been registered as 
company limited by guarantee, governed by Companies Act, 2002, having no motive to 
make profits.  The company is exempted from VAT and Corporate Tax. 
 
 

NOTE 9 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

The Company's principal financial instruments comprise cash and payables.  These 
financial instruments arise directly from the Company's operations.  The Company has not 
traded in financial instruments throughout the year end December 31, 2013. 
 
The main risks arising from the Company's financial instruments are credit risks and market 
risk.  The Company's management is responsible for the establishment and oversight of the 
Company's risk management framework.  The Board of Directors reviews and agrees 
policies for managing each of these risks as summarized below. 
 
LIQUIDITY RISK 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations 
as they fall due.  The Company's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as 
possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under 
both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risk 
damaging the Company's reputation. 
 
The Company monitors its exposure to liquidity risk using projected cash flows from 
operations.  The Company's exposure to liquidity risk is considered low due to existence of  
sufficient cash and bank balances. 
 
The Company has a policy not to utilize debt or overdraft facilities. 
 
MARKET RISK 
 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and 
interest rates will affect the Company's income or the value of its holdings of financial 
instruments.  The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market 
risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return. 
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NOTE 9 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

MARKET RISK (CONTINUED) 
 
The Company does not trade in financial markets and accordingly, there is no material 
exposure to market risk except as described below. 
 
INTEREST RATE RISK 
 
The Company's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to 
cash and bank balances.  Bank account balances are monitored monthly, and kept at the 
lowest possible operations balance.  A fluctuation of interest rates due to the changes in 
economic conditions will not have a material impact on the financial position of the 
Company; therefore no sensitivity analysis has been presented. 
 
CREDIT RISK 
 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Organization if a counterparty to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the 
Organization’s balances receivable and money maintained in bank accounts. 
 
There is no credit risk to the organization because there are no receivable balances. 
 
FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK 
 
The Company is exposed to currency risk on bank balances which are denominated in 
currencies other than the U.S. dollar. 
 
The Company manages this risk by ensuring that foreign currency bank balances are kept at 
the minimum amount possible.  In the recent years, due to the depreciation of the local 
currency, the Company has not experienced any adverse effect from its foreign currency 
denominated bank balances. 
 
FAIR VALUES 
 
The Company's financial instruments are cash and cash equivalents and other payables.  
These financial instruments realize over a short term resulting in the financial instruments' 
carrying amounts reasonably approximating their fair values. 
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NOTE 10 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 

At the date of signing the financial statements, the Company Management is not aware of 
any other matter or circumstance arising since the date of the end of the reporting period, 
not otherwise dealt in these financial statements, which significantly affected the financial 
position of the Company and results of its operations. 
 
 

NOTE 11 – CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND OTHER COMMITMENTS 
 

The Company Management confirms that there were no significant contingent liabilities as 
at the date of the end of the reporting period.  Similarly, there were no significant 
commitments for operational or capital expenditure as at the same date. 

 
 
NOTE 12 – ULTIMATE HOLDING ENTITY 
 

The organization’s ultimate holding entity is the Florida International University, an entity 
incorporated and registered in the United States. 
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REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON 
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF  

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

 
 
Members of the Board of Directors and the  
   Assistant Vice President of Direct Support Organizations 
Florida International University Research Foundation, Incorporated 
Miami, Florida 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial 
statements of Florida International University Research Foundation, Incorporated (the Research 
Foundation) (the Research Foundation  or Organization) as of and for the year ended June 30, 
2014, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the 
Organization’s financial statements, as listed in the table of contents, and have issued our report 
thereon dated October 6, 2014.  Other auditors audited the financial statements of the Florida 
International Research iWASH Initiative Limited, a component unit.  Their audit was not 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards. This report does not include the 
results of the other auditors’ testing of internal control over financial reporting and other matters 
that are reported separately by those auditors. 
 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the 
Organization’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on 
the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Organization’s internal control.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Organization’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to 
prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented 
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or detected and corrected on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet 
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.  
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph 
of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be 
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did 
not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses.  
However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.  
 
Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Organization’s financial statements 
are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions 
of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a 
direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts.  However, 
providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and 
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The results of our tests disclosed no instances 
of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing 
Standards. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity’s internal control or on compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s 
internal control and compliance.  Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other 
purpose.  
 

 
 
Miami, FL 
October 6, 2014 
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Agenda Item 3                                                                                                           FA1-C 
                            

THE FLORIDA INTERNATIONAL UNIVERSITY  
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

Finance and Audit Committee 
January 14, 2015 

 
Subject:  Florida International University Athletics Finance Corporation Financial 

Audit, 2013-14 
 
 

Proposed Committee Action: 
Recommend approval by the Florida International University Board of Trustees of the 
Florida International University Athletics Finance Corporation Financial Audit for the 2013-
14 Fiscal Year and authorize the Executive Director of the Florida International University 
Athletics Finance Corp. to take all actions necessary pertaining to this Financial Audit, 
including filing the report with the Auditor General.  
 
 

Background information: 
Pursuant to Regulation FIU-1502 (2)(f), the Florida International University Athletics 
Finance Corp. must submit an independently conducted financial audit of its accounts and 
records, which has been approved by its governing board and recommended by the 
University President to the Florida International University Board of Trustees for review and 
approval. 
 
The Florida International University Athletics Finance Corp. Financial Audit for 2013-14 
was approved by the Florida International University Athletics Finance Corp. Board of 
Directors on October 21, 2014, and the University President is recommending its approval. 
 
Florida Board of Governors Regulation 9.011 (4) University Direct Support Organizations 
and Health Services Support Organizations, states in relevant part:  
Support organizations shall provide for an annual audit conducted pursuant to university 
regulations or policies. The annual audit report shall be submitted to the university board of 
trustees or designee, the Board of Governors, and the Auditor General for review. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Supporting Documentation: 
 

 
 

Florida International University Athletics Finance Corp., 
Financial Audit, 2013-14 
 
 

Facilitator/Presenter:                Kenneth A. Jessell 

97



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

130



Agenda Item 3                                                                                                           FA1-D 
                            

THE FLORIDA INTERNATIONAL UNIVERSITY  
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

Finance and Audit Committee 
January 14, 2015 

 
Subject:  Florida International University Academic Health Center Health Care 

Network Faculty Group Practice, Inc. Financial Audit, 2013-14 
 
 

Proposed Committee Action: 
Recommend approval by the Florida International University Board of Trustees of the 
Florida International University Academic Health Center Health Care Network Faculty 
Group Practice, Inc. Financial Audit for the 2013-14 Fiscal Year and authorize the Executive 
Director of the Florida International University Academic Health Center Health Care 
Network Faculty Group Practice, Inc. to take all actions necessary pertaining to this 
Financial Audit, including filing the report with the Auditor General.  
 
 

Background information: 
The Florida International University Academic Health Center Health Care Network Faculty 
Group Practice, Inc. (FIU HCN) must submit an independently conducted financial audit of 
its accounts and records, which has been approved by its governing board and 
recommended by the University President to the Florida International University Board of 
Trustees for review and approval. 
 
The FIU HCN Financial Audit for the 2013-14 fiscal year was submitted and approved by 
the Florida International University Academic Health Center Health Care Network Faculty 
Group Practice Board of Directors on October 15, 2014, and the University President is 
recommending its approval. 
 
Florida Board of Governors Regulation 9.017 (2)(e) Faculty Practice Plans, states in relevant 
part that each Faculty Practice Plan shall include and/or provide for an annual audit, which 
shall be forwarded to the Board of Governors for review and oversight. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Supporting Documentation: 
 
 

 
 

Florida International University Academic Health Center 
Health Care Network Faculty Group Practice, Inc. Financial 
Audit, 2013-14 
 

Facilitator/Presenter:               Kenneth A. Jessell 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
 
To the Board of Directors and Audit Committee of the  
The Florida International University Academic Health Center  
Health Care Network Faculty Group Practice, Inc.  
Miami, Florida 
 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of The Florida International University 
Academic Health Center Health Care Network Faculty Group Practice, Inc. (the “FIU HCN”), a 
direct support organization and component unit of Florida International University, which 
comprise the statement of net position as of June 30, 2014, and the related statements of 
revenues, expenses and changes in net position and cash flows for the year then ended, and the 
related notes to the financial statements.   
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this 
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal controls relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are fee from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We 
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States of America.  Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 
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Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the FIU HCN as of June 30, 2014, and the changes in net position and cash flows 
for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America. 
 
Report on Summarized Comparative Information 
 
We have previously audited the FIU HCN’s 2013 financial statements, and our report dated October 29, 
2013 expressed an unmodified opinion on those audited financial statements.  In our opinion, the 
summarized comparative information presented herein as of and for the year ended June 30, 2013, is 
consistent, in all material respects, with the audited financial statements from which it has been 
derived. 
 
Other Matters – Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis on pages 3 – 9 be presented to supplement the basic financial 
statements.  Such information, although not part of the financial statements, is required by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of the financial 
reporting for placing the financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical 
context.  We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which 
consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing 
the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the financial statements, 
and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the financial statements.  We do not express an 
opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us 
with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 15, 
2014 on our consideration of the FIU HCN’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests 
of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and 
other matters.  The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on 
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering FIU HCN’s internal 
control over financial reporting and compliance. 

 
 
Miami, FL 
October 15, 2014 
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THE FLORIDA INTERNATIONAL UNIVERSITY 
ACADEMIC HEALTH CENTER HEALTH CARE NETWORK 

FACULTY GROUP PRACTICE, INC. 
 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 
 
The management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) provides an overview of the financial 
position and activities of The Florida International University Academic Health Center Health 
Care Network Faculty Group Practice, Inc. (the “FIU HCN”) for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2014, and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto.  The 
MD&A, financial statements and notes thereto, are the responsibility of management. 
 
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 
The FIU HCN assets totaled $2.7 million at June 30, 2014.  While assets remained consistent, 
liabilities increased by $1.5 million, totaling $6.7 million at June 30, 2014, compared to $5.2 
million at June 30, 2013.  The increase in liabilities was a result of the following: (a) accounts 
payable increases due to growth in operations; (b) deferred revenues increases from the 
agreement with the American University of Antigua; and (c) from additional borrowings on the 
loan agreement with Florida International University (the “University” of “FIU”), whereby the 
University will loan the FIU HCN $5.3 million to provide working capital and build out capital 
to fund the expansion of the faculty practice plan.  As of June 30, 2014, the draw downs on the 
loan totaled $5.5 million, which includes accrued interest.  As a result, the FIU HCN’s net 
position decreased by $1.5 million, reaching a year-end deficit of $4.1 million. 
 
The FIU HCN’s operating revenues totaled $4.5 million for the 2014 fiscal year, a $3.2 million 
increase from the 2013 fiscal year.  This increase was comprised of primary care and specialty 
care physician clinical services (approximately $2.2 million), as well as other operating revenues 
generated by the HCN relating to non-clinical practice services (approximately $1 million).  
Operating expenses totaled $7.3 million for the 2014 fiscal year, representing an increase of $4.1 
million over the 2013 fiscal year due to increases in the following: (a) salaries of administrative, 
clinical and support staff of the Herbert Wertheim College of Medicine and their associated 
benefits; (b) rent and lease expense; (c) non-capitalized equipment and medical supplies; (d) 
higher billing and collection fees due to increased clinical service revenues; (e) additional 
software and increased user licenses and (f) consulting, professional, marketing and other 
expenses, many related to the Department of Health – NHELP Community Collaborative project, 
for which the FIU HCN received $1.4 million in non-reciprocal funding from FIU.  These 
operating expenses and equipment all were incurred related to the expansion of medical services 
and the administrative capabilities for the faculty practice plan. 
 
 
OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The FIU HCN’s financial report includes three basic financial statements:  the statement of net 
position; the statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position; and the statement of 
cash flows. 
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Statement of Net Position 
 
The statement of net position reflects the assets and liabilities of the FIU HCN, using the accrual 
basis of accounting, and presents the financial position of the FIU HCN at a specified time.  The 
difference between total assets and total liabilities, net position, is one indicator of the FIU 
HCN’s current financial condition.  The changes in net position that occur over time indicate 
improvement or deterioration in the FIU HCN’s financial condition. 
 
The following summarizes the FIU HCN’s assets, liabilities, and net position at June 30: 
 

2014 2013 2012
Assets

Current assets 1,164$           1,348$           380$              
Noncurrent assets 1,498             1,316             1,475             

Total Assets 2,662$           2,664$           1,855$           

Liabilities
Current liabilities 1,198$           263$              129$              
Noncurrent liabilities 5,525             4,916             3,823             

Total Liabilities 6,723$           5,179$           3,952$           

Net Position
Unrestricted (4,061)$          (2,515)$          (2,097)$          

Total Net Position (4,061)$          (2,515)$          (2,097)$          

Condensed Statement of Net Position at June 30
(In Thousands)

 
 
The statement of net position reflects the FIU HCN’s expansion of operations.  Current assets 
mainly depict cash and receivables. 
 
In summary, total assets remained flat, while total liabilities increased by $1.5 million.  As a 
result, the net position balance at June 30, 2014, had an unfavorable decrease of $1.5 million. 
 
For more detailed information, see the statement of net position on page 10 of the financial 
statements. 
 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 
 
The statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position presents the FIU HCN’s 
revenue and expense activity, categorized as operating and non-operating.  Operating revenues 
are comprised principally of net patient service revenues and revenues earned from non-patient 
service activities.  Revenues and expenses are recognized when earned or incurred, regardless of 
when cash is received or paid. 
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The following summarizes the FIU HCN’s activity for the fiscal years ended June 30: 
 

2014 2013 2012

Operating revenues 4,482$           1,329$           322$              
Operating expenses 7,308             3,152             2,164             

Operating Income (2,826)            (1,823)            (1,842)            

Non-operating expenses (100)               (78)                 (29)                 

Non-operating income 1,380             1,483             --                   

Change in Net Position (1,546)            (418)               (1,871)            

Net Position - Beginning of Year (2,515)            (2,097)            (226)               

Net Position - End of Year (4,061)$          (2,515)$          (2,097)$          

Condensed Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and
Changes in Net Position

(In Thousands)

 
 
Operating Revenues 
 
The FIU HCN categorizes revenues as either operating or non-operating.  Operating revenues are 
derived from direct patient care services provided by employed physicians of Florida 
International University’s Herbert Wertheim College of Medicine (“HWCOM”) and from 
revenues derived from administrative, management and business development services 
performed (non-patient care services). 
 
The following summarizes the operating revenues by source that were used to fund operating 
activities during the fiscal years ended June 30: 
 

2014 2013 2012

Net patient service revenue 3,009$           810$              267$              
Other revenues 1,473             519                55                  

Total Operating Revenues 4,482$           1,329$           322$              

Operating Revenues
(In Thousands)

 
 
Prior to 2014, the activities of the FIU HCN primarily consist of the provision of specialty and 
primary care clinical services to patients of the local community, as well as the University’s 
faculty and staff.  During 2014, the growth in the FIU HCN clinical operations was through 
service expansion at its clinical sites (i.e. Pain Management, Ob/Gyn, Cardiology and Internal 
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Medicine); and the addition of new clinical sites (i.e. Department of Health Sexually Transmitted 
Infections clinic).  Specialty and primary care services growth is attributable to both inpatient 
and outpatient services to patients who are insured through commercial managed care payers, as 
well as Medicare and Medicaid. 
 
Other revenues represent the following: (a) rental income from leasing physicians and (b) $1.4 
million of management services and program revenues relating to the HWCOM Certificate 
Program, which currently has enrolled 3rd Year international medical students from the American 
University of Antigua. 
 
Operating Expenses 
 
The FIU HCN categorizes expenses as operating or non-operating.  Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (“GASB”) gives financial reporting entities the choice of reporting operating 
expenses in the functional or natural classifications.  The FIU HCN has chosen to report the 
expenses in their natural classification on the statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net 
position. 
 
The following summarizes the operating expenses by natural classifications for the fiscal years 
ended June 30: 
 

2014 2013 2012

Contractual personnel services 5,307$           2,204$           1,392$           
Contracted professional and
   consulting services 829                191                154                
Rentals and leases 331                223                167                
Other operating 206                124                44                  
Depreciation 187                185                164                
Supplies - medical 155                53                  37                  
Utilities 73                  54                  34                  
Repairs and maintenance 61                  8                    7                    
Advertising and promotion 58                  57                  107                
Insurance 58                  22                  13                  
Supplies - other 43                  31                  45                  

Total Operating Expenses 7,308$           3,152$           2,164$           

Operating Expenses
(In Thousands)

 
 
Operating expenses totaled $7.3 million for the 2014 fiscal year.  This represents a $4.1 million 
increase over the 2013 fiscal year and was primarily due to increases in: (a) salaries of 
administrative, clinical and support staff of the HWCOM and their associated benefits; (b) rent 
and lease expense: (c) medical, office and non-capitalized equipment supplies; (d) higher billing 
and collection fees due to increased clinical service revenues; (e) additional software and 
increased user licenses and (f) consulting, professional, marketing and other expenses, many 
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related to the Department of Health – NHELP Community Collaborative project for which the 
FIU HCN received $1.4 million in non-reciprocal funding from FIU.  These operating expenses 
all were incurred related to the expansion of medical services and the administrative capabilities 
for the faculty practice plan. 
 
Non-Operating Expenses 
 
Non-operating expenses include interest expense on the loans owed to the University for start-up 
costs, working capital and capital funding for the expansion of the faculty practice plan and other 
clinical activities.  The following summarizes the FIU HCN’s non-operating expenses for the 
fiscal years ended June 30: 
 

2014 2013 2012

Interest Expense (100)$             (78)$               (29)$               

Non-Operating Expenses (100)$             (78)$               (29)$               

Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses)
(In Thousands)

 
 
Non-Operating Income 
 
Non-operating income for 2014 represents the proceeds received from the State of Florida 
Department of Health (DOH) in connection with expenses attributable to the $4.5 million grant 
funding approved by the Legislature in connection with the DOH - NHELP Community 
Collaborative project. 
 
Non-operating income for 2013 represents the proceeds received from Miami Dade County as a 
recoupment of funds expended relating to the construction/build-out of the Faculty Group 
Practice and its related equipping.  This is part of the greater Ambulatory Care Center building 
project that will be added to the Modesto Maidique Campus of FIU as a result of the $10 million 
grant from the Miami Dade County. 
 
Additional information about the FIU HCN’s obligations to the University is presented in the 
notes to financial statements on page 18. 
 
Debt Administration 
 
As of June 30, 2014, the FIU HCN had debt payable to FIU of approximately $5,525,000, 
representing an increase of approximately $609,000, from prior fiscal year. 
 
Additional information about the FIU HCN’s debt due to FIU is presented in Note 5 to the 
financial statements. 
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ECONOMIC FACTORS THAT WILL AFFECT THE FUTURE 
 
The overall healthcare economy and environment will continue to present opportunities, 
challenges and benefits. 
 
As it relates to the current funding of its operations, the FIU HCN is dependent upon the 
following funding sources: (a) clinical operating revenues; (b) management service revenues; 
and (c) physician lease revenue. 
 
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014, a significant portion of the FIU HCN’s clinical revenues 
is generated from operations at the ambulatory clinical practice location.  Clinical operating 
revenues are expected to continue to increase in the coming year due to the following factors: 
 
 Increased patient volume as patient referrals increase and as the clinical practice 

incorporate existing community physicians into its employed physician base 

 Increased number of insurance options being accepted at the practice, including Medicare, 
Medicaid and other managed care payers 

 Provision of additional ancillary services (i.e. ultrasound) and physician specialty services 

 Provision of inpatient evaluation & management services by physicians in hospitals, 
nursing homes and rehabs 

 
Management service opportunities within the HWCOM and throughout the University (i.e. 
Student Health) will continue to be evaluated and implemented.  The management of the 
Graduate Certificate program through HWCOM for 3rd year international medical student 
clinical rotations here in South Florida is continuing to expand.  The FIU HCN also expects to 
continue its expansion of physician services at its clinical practice locations through such 
programs as the DOH – NHELP Community Collaborative.  The FIU HCN will also continue to 
monitor its operations and make appropriate business decisions to reduce operating expenses and 
improve cash flow availability. 
 
Based on current market trends, the FIU HCN does not expect to experience a decrease in 
reimbursement rates, as the principal source of services is in primary care, which is a major focus 
of the federal government’s Accountable Care Act.  Additionally, the FIU HCN will continue to 
focus on physicians providing services in inpatient settings due to the higher reimbursement 
levels (i.e. surgeries, inpatient evaluation & management services).  Revenue growth can be 
further impacted through the following: 
 
 P4P (pay for performance) initiatives 

 Increasing capitation membership with managed care 

 Ability to become “participating” providers with managed care organizations 
 
Revenue Lease Agreement 
 
During October 2013, HWCOM executed a lease agreement on behalf of FIU HCN with a local 
hospital affiliate of HWCOM to operate an ambulatory surgery center as part of the broader 
Ambulatory Care Center project being constructed on the campus of FIU.  The lease agreement 
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provides for a rent free period of approximately 180 days subsequent to completion of the core 
Ambulatory Care Center building, which is expected to be January 2015. 
 
The initial term of the non-cancelable lease agreement is for twenty (20) years with a ten (10) 
year renewal option.  Monthly base rent plus operating expenses from the effective date through 
December 31, 2017 is $52,579 and then increases by CPI as further defined in the lease 
agreement. 
 
 
REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION 
 
This financial statement is designed to provide a general overview of the FIU HCN’s finances 
for all those with an interest in its finances.  Questions concerning any of the information 
provided in this report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to the 
Chief Financial Officer, The Florida International University Academic Health Center Health 
Care Network Faculty Group Practice, Inc., 11200 S.W. 8th Street, Miami, Florida  33199. 
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2014 2013
Assets

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 398,675$       1,189,627$    
Patient accounts receivable, net 412,265 86,348           
Other receivables 296,766         21,767           
Other current assets 56,212           49,837           

Total Current Assets 1,163,918      1,347,579      

Noncurrent Assets
Depreciable capital assets, net 1,498,333      1,316,565      

Total Assets 2,662,251$    2,664,144$    

Liabilities 

Current Liabilities
Accounts payable 676,257$       173,478$       
Due to FIU 1,713 --                    
Unearned revenue 520,743         90,000           

Total Current Liabilities 1,198,713      263,478         

Noncurrent Liabilities
Due to FIU 5,524,577      4,915,807      

Total Liabilities 6,723,290      5,179,285      

Unrestricted Net Position (4,061,039)$   (2,515,141)$   

(WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR JUNE 30, 2013)

THE FLORIDA INTERNATIONAL UNIVERSITY
ACADEMIC HEALTH CENTER HEALTH CARE NETWORK

FACULTY GROUP PRACTICE, INC.

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2014

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2014 2013
Operating Revenues

Net patient service revenue 3,009,155$    809,670$       
Educational program 1,440,780      500,000         
Rental income 14,785           9,270             
Miscellaneous revenue 17,025           9,854             

Total Operating Revenues 4,481,745      1,328,794      

Operating Expenses
Contractual personnel services 5,306,642      2,203,960      
Contracted professional and consulting services 828,766         190,884         
Rentals and leases 331,316         222,646         
Other operating 205,889         123,875         
Depreciation 186,513         184,568         
Supplies - medical 156,675         53,424           
Utilities 72,625           54,359           
Repairs and maintenance 61,137           8,121             
Advertising and promotion 58,283           57,285           
Insurance 57,792           22,245           
Supplies - other 42,361           31,079           

Total Operating Expenses 7,307,999      3,152,446      

Operating Loss (2,826,254)     (1,823,652)     

Non-Operating Expenses
Interest expense (99,645)          (77,660)          

Non-Operating Income

Contribution from FIU 1,380,001      1,482,964      

Change in Net Position (1,545,898)     (418,348)        

Net Position - Beginning of Year (2,515,141)     (2,096,793)     

Net Position - End of Year (4,061,039)$   (2,515,141)$   

(WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013)

THE FLORIDA INTERNATIONAL UNIVERSITY
ACADEMIC HEALTH CENTER HEALTH CARE NETWORK

FACULTY GROUP PRACTICE, INC.

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2014 2013
Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Operating receipts 3,183,237$    749,177$       
Other operating receipts 1,197,591      516,670         
Payments to suppliers for goods and services (4,938,313)     (358,148)        

Net Cash and Cash Equivalents (Used in) 
Provided by Operations (557,485)        907,699         

Cash Flows From Non-Capital Financing Activities
Payments to FIU --                   (28,573)          

Net Cash and Cash Equivalents (Used in) Provided by 
Non-Capital Financing Activities --                   (28,573)          

Cash Flows From Capital and Related Financing Activities
Purchase of capital assets (233,467)        --                   

Net Cash Used in Capital and Related Financing Activities (233,467)        --                   

Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents (790,952)        879,126         

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of Year 1,189,627      310,501         

Cash and Cash Equivalents - End of Year 398,675$       1,189,627$    

Reconciliation of Operating Loss to Net Cash and
Cash Equivalents (Used in) Provided by Operations

Operating loss (2,826,254)$   (1,823,652)$   
Depreciation 186,513         184,568         
Expenses paid by FIU 1,380,001      2,499,598      
(Decrease) increase in operating assets:

Patient accounts receivable (325,917)        (60,493)          
Other receivables (274,999)        (2,454)            
Other current assets (6,375)            (25,315)          

Increase (decrease) in operating liabilities:
Accounts payable 878,803         135,447         
Unearned revenue 430,743         --                   

Net Cash and Cash Equivalents (Used in) 
Provided by Operations (557,485)$      907,699$       

Non-Cash Investing and Financing Activities
Accrued interest on balance due to FIU (99,645)$        76,761$         

Purchase of capital assets paid by FIU 134,814$       26,477$         

Borrowings from FIU 509,125$       2,499,598$    

Contributions from FIU 1,380,001$    1,482,964$    

(WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013)

THE FLORIDA INTERNATIONAL UNIVERSITY
ACADEMIC HEALTH CENTER HEALTH CARE NETWORK

FACULTY GROUP PRACTICE, INC.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
REPORTING ENTITY 
 
The Florida International University Academic Health Center Health Care Network Faculty 
Group Practice, Inc. (the “FIU HCN” or the “Organization”), a Florida not-for-profit 
corporation, is a component unit of Florida International University (“FIU”).  The 
Organization exists exclusively to support the mission of Florida International University to 
improve and support health education at the Florida International University in the Herbert 
Wertheim College of Medicine (“HWCOM”), the Robert Stempel College of Public Health 
and Social Work, the College of Nursing and Health Sciences, and departments in the 
College of Arts and Sciences with clinical activities.  The Organization has been granted 
tax-exempt organization status as defined by Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue 
Code. 
 
The FIU HCN was organized in the State of Florida on February 21, 2008 and on August 9, 
2012, the Organization changed its name from The Florida International University College 
of Medicine Health Care Network Faculty Group Practice, Inc. to The Florida International 
University Academic Health Center Health Care Network Faculty Group Practice, Inc. 
 
BASIS OF PRESENTATION 
 
The financial statements of the FIU HCN have been prepared in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) as 
applied to governmental units.  The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) 
is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and 
financial reporting principles.  The FIU HCN reports under the GASB standards because it 
meets the criteria regarding the popular election of officers or appointment of a controlling 
majority of the members of the Organization’s governing body by one or more state or local 
governments.  
 
In accordance with GASB Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements—and 
Management's Discussion and Analysis—for State and Local Governments, the FIU HCN 
met the criteria to use enterprise fund accounting and financial reporting.  Accordingly, the 
financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and 
accrual basis of accounting, which recognizes revenue when earned and expenses when a 
liability is incurred, regardless of timing of the related cash flow. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
BASIS OF PRESENTATION (CONTINUED) 
 
GASB Statement No. 65 “Items Previously Reported as Assets and Liabilities” establishes 
accounting and financial reporting standards that reclassify, as deferred outflows of 
resources or deferred inflows of resources, certain items that were previously reported as 
assets and liabilities.  This implementation of this statement had no impact on the 
Organization’s financial statement. 
 
COMPARATIVE INFORMATION 
 
The financial statements include certain prior year summarized comparative information.  
Such information does not include sufficient detail to constitute a presentation in 
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  
Accordingly, such information should be read in conjunction with the Organization’s 
financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2013, from which the summarized 
information was derived. 
 
USE OF ESTIMATES 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying 
notes.  Although these estimates are based on management’s knowledge of current events 
and actions it may undertake in the future, they may ultimately differ from actual results. 
 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
The FIU HCN considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or 
less when purchased to be cash equivalents. In addition to insurance provided by the 
Federal Depository Insurance Corporation, all deposits are held in banking institutions 
approved by the State Treasurer of the State of Florida to hold public funds.  Under Florida 
Statutes Chapter 280, Florida Security for Public Deposits Act, the State Treasurer requires 
all Florida qualified public depositories to deposit with the Treasurer or another banking 
institution, eligible collateral.  In the event of a failure of a qualified public depository, the 
remaining public depositories would be responsible for covering any resulting losses.  
Accordingly, all amounts reported as deposits (includes cash and restricted cash) are 
insured or collateralized. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
Capital assets are reported at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization.  
Capital assets consist of fixed and moveable medical equipment and leasehold 
improvements.  Depreciation and amortization are calculated using the straight line method 
over the following estimated service lives, which consist of 10 years for leasehold 
improvements, 5-15 years for moveable equipment and 7 years for fixed equipment. 
 
FLOW ASSUMPTION FOR RESTRICTED ASSETS 

 
If both restricted and unrestricted assets are available for use for a certain purpose, it is the 
FIU HCN’s policy to use restricted assets first, and then use unrestricted assets as needed. 
 
OPERATING REVENUE AND EXPENSES 
 
The FIU HCN’s statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position distinguishes 
between operating and non-operating revenue and expenses.  Operating revenue results 
from exchange transactions associated with providing healthcare services, which is the FIU 
HCN’s principal activity.  Other sources of revenue, including investment earnings, are 
reported as non-operating revenue.  Operating expenses include all expenses incurred to 
provide healthcare, other than external financing costs. 

 
NET PATIENT SERVICE REVENUE AND PATIENT ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 
 
Patient service revenue is recognized as revenue in the period when the services are 
performed and is reported on the accrual basis at the estimated net realizable amounts from 
patients.  Net patient service revenue includes amounts estimated by management to be 
reimbursable by third-party payor programs under payment formulas in effect.  Net patient 
service revenue also includes an estimated provision for bad debts based upon 
management’s evaluation of collectability of patient receivables considering the age of the 
receivables and other criteria, such as payor classifications. 
 
Patient accounts receivable are reported net of both an estimated allowance for 
uncollectible accounts and an allowance for contractual adjustments.  Individual accounts 
are charged-off against the estimated allowance for uncollectible accounts when 
management determines that it is unlikely that the account will be collected.  The 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
NET PATIENT SERVICE REVENUE AND PATIENT ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (CONTINUED) 
 
contractual adjustments represent the difference between established billing rates and 
estimated reimbursement from patients and third party payors.  The FIU HCN does not 
require collateral or other security for patient accounts receivable. 
 
EDUCATIONAL PROGRAM REVENUE 
 
Educational program revenues are earned under the terms of the agreement with the 
American University of Antigua and consist of monthly management fee revenues, as well 
as clinical program revenues earned at the start of each six (6) week clinical rotation cycle.  
Additionally, an advance payment of clinical program fees is amortized monthly on a pro-
rata basis over the life of the agreement which is sixty four (64) months. 
 
INCOME TAXES 
 
The FIU HCN is a not-for-profit corporation, as described in Section 501(c)(3) of the 
Internal Revenue Code and is exempt from federal income taxes, except for unrelated 
business income.  There were no income taxes resulting from unrelated business income 
during the year ended June 30, 2014. 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require 
management to evaluate tax positions taken and recognize a tax liability (or asset) if the 
Organization has taken an uncertain position that more likely than not would not be 
sustained upon examination by taxing authorities.  Management has analyzed the tax 
positions taken and has concluded that as of June 30, 2014, there are no uncertain positions 
taken or expected to be taken that would require recognition of a liability (or asset) or 
disclosure in the financial statements.  If the Organization were to incur an income tax 
liability in the future, interest and penalties would be reported as income taxes.  The 
Organization is subject to routine audits by taxing jurisdictions; however, there are 
currently no audits for any tax periods in progress.  Management believes the Organization 
is no longer subject to income tax examinations for years prior to 2011. 
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NOTE 2 – NET PATIENT SERVICE REVENUE AND PATIENT ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 
 
Net patient service revenue is derived principally from professional fees generated by the 
faculty of the FIU Academic Health Center from treating patients.  Net patient service 
revenue represents direct revenue from patient care.  This revenue is derived from 
professional fees charged to individual patients and funded through third party payors and 
private patient payments based on established reimbursement rates.  A reconciliation of the 
net patient service revenue and amounts of services provided to patients at established rates 
to direct revenue from patient care, as presented in the statement of revenue, expenses and 
changes in net position is as follows: 
 

2014 2013
Gross direct charges from patient care 5,318,442$    1,242,428$    
Less: contractual adjustments (2,085,459)     (432,758)        
Less: bad debt expense (223,828)        --                   

Total Net Patient Service Revenue 3,009,155$    809,670$       

Year Ending June 30,

 
 
Contractual adjustments for 2014 included approximately $157,000 related to adjustments 
provided to self-insured patient accounts.  The majority of these adjustments were for 
hospital services provided to unfunded patients, which represents individuals who are not 
enrolled in a health plan and must meet their financial obligations by using personal 
resources.  These adjustments do not include allowances offered under a discount program 
according to the FIU HCN’s self-pay discount policy, which were immaterial. 
 
The following is a summary of the payment arrangements with major third party payors: 
 

Medicare: As of June 30, 2014, all HWCOM faculty physicians are participating in the 
Medicare program.  In most instances, Medicare pays 80% of the allowed charge with the 
patient being responsible for 20% co-payment and an annual deductible.   

 
Medicaid: As of June 30, 2014, a number of the HWCOM faculty physicians are 
participating in the Medicaid program.  Those physicians that meet the enhanced 
reimbursement requirement for Medicaid have been enrolled; all other faculty physicians 
are reimbursed at the current Medicaid fee schedule rates. 
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NOTE 2 – NET PATIENT SERVICE REVENUE AND PATIENT ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (CONTINUED) 
 

Other: HWCOM, on behalf of FIU, has entered into payment agreements with certain 
commercial insurance carriers, health maintenance organizations (“HMO’s”) and 
preferred provider organizations (“PPO’s”).  The basis for payment, which is deposited 
into an FIU HCN account under these arrangements, varies.  Many of the HMO and PPO 
arrangements are based on the third party’s fee schedule or capitated arrangements with 
certain Medicare Advantage HMO’s which have been executed. Capitation revenue for 
the year ended June 30, 2014 was approximately $240,000, which is included in net 
patient service revenue. 
 

The FIU HCN’s net patient accounts receivable consists primarily of amounts owed by 
third party payors and private payments.  Net patient accounts receivable are summarized as 
follows: 
 

2014 2013
Patient accounts receivable based on
   established charges 1,467,238$    196,565$       
Less: contractual adjustments (831,145)        (110,217)        
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts (223,828)        --                   

Patient Accounts Receivable, Net 412,265$       86,348$         

Year Ending June 30,

 
 
Net patient accounts receivable by major financial classification is as follows: 
 

2014 2013
Commercial and managed care 245,487$       66,010$         
Medicare 138,886         14,088           
Medicaid 27,892           4,819             
Self-pay --                   1,431             

Patient Accounts Receivable, Net 412,265$       86,348$         

Year Ending June 30,
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NOTE 3 – EDUCATIONAL PROGRAM 
 
Effective October 1, 2013, an Agreement was executed by HWCOM on behalf of the FIU 
HCN with the American University of Antigua (the “School”) that allows for the opportunity 
for qualified School students to participate in an HWCOM Clinical Certificate Program that 
offers core clinical rotations in multiple medical specialties to third year students.  The 
agreement is for a period of sixty four (64) months and will generate management and 
clinical program service revenues for the FIU HCN. As per the terms of the Agreement, the 
FIU HCN received a $500,000 advance in October 2013, which will be earned as revenue on 
a pro-rata basis over the term of the Agreement.  As of June 30, 2014, the unearned amount is 
approximately $431,000 and is included in unearned revenue as a liability. 

 
For the year ended June 30, 2014, total revenues earned under the terms of this Agreement 
approximated $1,441,000 composed of $960,000 in management fees for the clinical 
certificate program and $481,000 for the clinical certificate program. 

 
For the year ended June 30, 2013, the FIU HCN recognized $500,000 as revenue attributable 
to an initial agreement entered into with the School for the first phase of the project, which 
included establishing a clinical education agreement with a hospital affiliate that would 
provide the “home base” for the third year medical student rotations.  The clinical education 
agreement was executed with Westchester General Hospital, Inc. on June 25, 2013. 
 
 

NOTE 4 – DEPRECIABLE CAPITAL ASSETS 
 

A summary of depreciable capital assets is as follows: 
 

Ending Balance Ending Balance
June 30, 2013 Additions Disposals June 30, 2014

Medical equipment 244,211$         368,281$    --$         612,492$         

Leasehold improvements 1,422,715        --                --           1,422,715        

Total Depreciable Capital Assets 1,666,926$      368,281$    --$         2,035,207$      

June 30, 2013 Depreciation Disposals June 30, 2014
Accumulated Depreciation Totals (350,361)$        (186,513)$   --$         (536,874)$        

Depreciable Capital Assets, Net 1,316,565$      1,498,333$      

Depreciable Capital Assets

Accumulated Depreciation
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NOTE 5 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
DUE TO FIU 
 
Following is a rollforward of the due to FIU balance for the year ended June 30, 2014: 
 

Beginning Ending Due Within
Balance Additions Payments Balance One Year

Due to FIU - Loan 4,915,807$  608,770$     --$                5,524,577$  --$                

Total Due to FIU 4,915,807$  608,770$     --$                5,524,577$  --$                

 
On August 27, 2010, the FIU HCN entered into a loan agreement totaling $5,321,198 with 
FIU in order to provide working capital and build out capital to fund the expansion of the 
faculty practice plan and the establishment of the ambulatory care center and other FIU 
clinical activities.  Interest on the loan accrues at 2.00% simple interest and is added to the 
principal balance. The loan is scheduled to mature on June 1, 2030.  Draw downs on the 
loan through fiscal year ended June 30, 2014 totaled $5,321,198 and relate principally to 
expenses paid directly by FIU on behalf of FIU HCN. As of June 30, 2014 this loan had a 
balance of $5,524,577, which includes approximately $203,000 of accrued interest.  Interest 
payments on the loan are scheduled to begin on June 1, 2015. 

 
Estimated principal and interest payments for the life of the amounts due to FIU, based on 
the balance due as of June 30, 2014, are as follows: 
 

For the Year Ending
June 30, Principal Interest Total

2015 --$                 108,250$       108,250$       
2016 --                   108,250         108,250         
2017 --                   108,250         108,250         
2018 389,508         110,492         500,000         
2019 397,299         102,701         500,000         

2020-2024 2,108,909      391,091         2,500,000      
2025-2029 2,328,406      171,594         2,500,000      

2030 300,455         6,009             306,464         

Total 5,524,577$    1,106,637$    6,631,214$     
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NOTE 5 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 
 
LEASE COMMITMENT 
 
The University and the FIU HCN are parties to a space leasing agreement with an initial 
term of ten (10) years, expiring February 2021, which is for the Faculty Group Practice site 
at PG 5 Market Station.  For the years ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, rent expense under 
this agreement amounted to $196,050 each year.  Furthermore, certain space within this 
facility is subleased until March 2015.  For the year ended June 30, 2014, the total sub-lease 
rental income was approximately $14,785. 
 
Future minimum annual lease commitments are as follows: 
 

For the Year Ending
June 30, Amount

2015 182,040$       
2016 182,040         
2017 182,040         
2018 182,040         
2019 182,040         

Thereafter 293,106         

Total 1,203,306$     
 
OTHER 
 
The FIU HCN received approximately $1.4 million in non-reciprocal funding from FIU for 
expenses and capital assets incurred during the 2014 fiscal year.  Of this amount, $633,000 
is attributable to legislative funding from the State of Florida, through the Department of 
Health, for an innovative community collaborative model involving the State of Florida 
Department of Health and Florida International University and its Herbert Wertheim 
College of Medicine.  The remaining funds were for management and administrative 
expenses incurred by the FIU HCN on behalf of HWCOM. 
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NOTE 6 – OPERATING LEASES 
 
The FIU HCN is party to a non-cancelable a medical equipment lease with an unrelated 
third party vendor, with a four (4) year term ending in February 2016.  
 
During November 2013, FIU HCN entered into a medical office space lease for its FIU 
Health Sunset location in monthly installments of $9,049.  The lease is for a one (1) year 
term ending in November 2014, and is automatically extended for consecutive one year 
terms unless terminated. 
 
 Future minimum rental payments required under this lease are as follows: 
 

For the Year Ending
June 30, Amount

2015 69,689$         
2016 14,259           

Total 83,948$          
 
For the year ended June 30, 2014, the FIU HCN recognized $87,787 in expenses related to 
these operating leases. 
 
 

NOTE 7 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
SELF-INSURANCE PROGRAM  
 
Board of Governor’s Regulation 10.001 authorizes self-insurance programs for the purpose 
of providing comprehensive general liability and professional liability insurance for health 
care and veterinary sciences to university boards of trustees.  On October 1, 2010, the 
University made an initial non-refundable deposit into a Self-Insurance Program (the 
“SIP”) bank account of $1,000,000. 
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NOTE 7 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED) 
 
SELF-INSURANCE PROGRAM (CONTINUED) 
 
As part of its mission to support the Academic Health Center and FIU, the FIU HCN will 
transfer a portion of its future surplus from operations to the Academic Health Center and 
FIU to fund the future cost of the SIP.  This future surplus will be transferred to an 
appropriate FIU account as directed by the FIU’s Division of Finance when such funds are 
available and budgeted by the Board of Directors of the FIU HCN for this purpose. FIU 
HCN will, when there is sufficient surplus from operations; fulfill its commitment to 
provide future SIP funding.  Through June 30, 2014, FIU HCN has not made any transfers 
to this SIP. 
 
HEALTHCARE INDUSTRY 
 
The healthcare industry is subject to numerous laws and regulations of federal, state and 
local governments.  These laws and regulations include, but are not necessarily limited to, 
matters such as licensure, accreditation, government healthcare participation requirements, 
reimbursement for patient services, Medicare fraud and abuse and most recently, under 
provisions of the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, patient 
records privacy and security.  Recently, government activity has increased with respect to 
investigations and allegations concerning possible violations of fraud and abuse statutes and 
regulations by healthcare programs together with the imposition of significant fines and 
penalties, as well as significant repayments for patient services previously billed. 
 
Management believes that the FIU HCN is currently in compliance with fraud and abuse 
statutes as well as other applicable government laws and regulations.  Compliance with 
such laws and regulations can be subject to future government review and interpretation as 
well as regulatory actions unknown or unasserted at this time. 
 
FUTURE STRATEGIC INITIATIVES 
 
As part of a strategic initiative between FIU and Miami-Dade County, a political 
subdivision of the State of Florida (“MDC”), $10 million from interest proceeds of a GOB 
bond funding has been granted for an on-campus Ambulatory Care Center.  Approximately, 
$1.5 million was received during the 2013 fiscal year with the balance to be received 
through the end of fiscal 2015.  No amounts were received during the 2014 fiscal year.  FIU 
has entered into agreements with both an architectural and engineering firm, as well as a 
general contractor, to complete this project.  The project is expected to be completed and 
occupied in January 2015. 
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REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON 
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF  

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

 
 
To the Board of Directors and Audit Committee of   
   The Florida International University Academic Health Center 
Health Care Network Faculty Group Practice, Inc. 
Miami, Florida 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial 
statements of The Florida International University Academic Health Center Health Care Network 
Faculty Group Practice, Inc. (the “ Organization”) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2014, 
and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Organization’s 
financial statements, as listed in the table of contents, and have issued our report thereon dated 
October 15, 2014. 
 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the 
Organization’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on 
the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Organization’s internal control.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Organization’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to 
prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented 
or detected and corrected on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet 
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
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Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph 
of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be 
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did 
not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses.  
However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 
 
Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Organization’s financial statements 
are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions 
of laws, regulations, contrpacts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a 
direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts.  However, 
providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and 
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The results of our tests disclosed no instances 
of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing 
Standards. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity’s internal control or on compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s 
internal control and compliance.  Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other 
purpose.  
 

 
 
Miami, FL 
October 15, 2014 
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Agenda Item 3  FA2 

THE FLORIDA INTERNATIONAL UNIVERSITY  
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

Finance and Audit Committee 
January 14, 2015 

 
Subject: Investment Policy Amendment 
 
 

Proposed Committee Action: 
Recommend to the Florida International University Board of Trustees (the BOT) adoption of 
revisions to the University’s Investment Policy. 
 
 

Background Information: 
The University Investment Committee is an advisory committee created by the BOT to make 
recommendations to the University administration and BOT regarding University investments. The 
University is recommending approval of the proposed revisions to the Investment Policy. The 
proposed revisions were ratified by the University Investment Committee on November 20, 2014.  
 
The first proposed change is to add the Credit Fixed Income category to the Fixed Income asset 
class. The proposed change would provide additional diversification and enable the University to 
focus on corporate fixed income investments. 
 
The second proposed change is to add the Master Limited Partnership category to the Real Assets 
class. The proposed change would provide additional income, growth potential, portfolio 
diversification and a hedge against inflation. 
 
The third proposed change is to update the Investment Grade Fixed Income category guidelines to 
provide additional clarity and flexibility to managers. It also creates consistency with and between 
the proposed Credit Fixed Income guidelines. 
 
The fourth proposed change is to amend the Asset Allocation Guidelines to incorporate the Credit 
Fixed Income and Master Limited Partnership categories into the portfolio and maintains the most 
efficient structure for the target portfolio. 
 
The BOT is authorized to adopt an investment policy pursuant to Sections 1011.42 and 218.415 of 
the Florida Statutes. The University’s Investment Policy was last revised on September 10, 2013. 

 
 
 

 

Supporting Documentation: 
 
 

Amended Investment Policy 
 
Proposed revisions to the University’s Investment Policy in 
tracked form 
 
 

Facilitator/Presenter: 
 
 

Kenneth A. Jessell 
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II. GOVERNANCE 
 
A. BOT Finance and Audit Committee 
 
The Florida International University Board of Trustees (“BOT”) is responsible for the oversight and approval of 
this Policy (and any amendments thereto) and oversight of the University's implementation of the Policy.  
 
This Policy addresses specifics relating to: 
 
• Investment goals and objectives 
• Asset allocation policy targets specifying minimum and maximum ranges 
• Rebalancing policy 
• Selection of investment managers 
• Authorized investments 
 
B. Investment Committee 
 
The BOT’s Investment Committee recognizes that matters concerning the investment of the operating fund assets 
owned by the University merit serious attention and frequent consideration. The Investment Committee, at a 
minimum, will consist of: 
 
• An individual designated by the BOT, 
• The Chief Financial Officer of the University, 
• The Treasurer of the University and 
• A representative from University academics. 
 
In addition, the Investment Committee may include up to two business community representatives and other 
representatives with specific expertise in investment and portfolio management to strengthen the Committee’s 
capabilities. The need for adding members will be determined by the Chair of the BOT, in consultation with the 
Chair of the Finance and Audit Committee. 
 
The Investment Committee, with the guidance and recommendations of the investment consultant hired by the 
University, is responsible for: 
 
• Directing all of its efforts toward the investment objectives stated herein 
• Performing at least annually a review of the investment objectives stated herein 
• Ensuring that the objectives stated in this Policy are practical and reflect the mission of the University 
• Hiring an investment consultant, consistent with University procurement requirements  
• Implementing and monitoring the asset allocation policy 
• Conducting an annual formal review of the investment structure  
• Developing an updated financial projection a minimum of every three years 
• Selecting and monitoring of qualified, competent investment managers 
• Terminating investment managers failing to maintain acceptable quantitative (e.g. risk/return profile) 

and/or qualitative (e.g. organizational changes) standards  
• Developing and reviewing the objectives and guidelines given to each specific investment manager 
• Meeting at least quarterly to review the results of the investment portfolios  
• determining whether the investment objectives set forth herein are being met and whether the investment 

guidelines are being followed 
• Providing the BOT with regular performance reports on the investment portfolios 
• Completing annually eight (8) hours of continuing education in subjects or courses of study related to 

investment practices and procedures, or the Chief Financial officer shall complete this requirement. 
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C. Staff 
 
The staff is an integral part of the day-to-day requirements of the operating portfolio. The staff has the 
responsibility of administering and coordinating the implementation of decisions made by the Investment 
Committee and the BOT. The staff is responsible for: 
 
• Administering the investments of the Portfolio at the lowest possible cost, being careful to avoid 

sacrificing quality 
• Administering the rebalancing policy 
• Day-to-day interaction with the consultants and investment managers 
 
 
III.  INVESTMENT GUIDELINES 
 
The investment guidelines set forth herein establish parameters for the Portfolio and for the University’s 
investment managers to follow in implementing their respective investment strategies. These guidelines address 
asset allocation, restricted transactions, diversification, quality and turnover.  
 
A. Investment Pools* 
 
1. TOTAL COMBINED POOL   

This pool is the overall combined investments of the Portfolio. In its entirety, it is intended to satisfy the 
overall objectives and constraints set forth in this Policy. The Total Combined Pool is divided into three 
distinct pools; each pool has a different investment time horizon, investment objective and minimum and 
maximum asset class allocations.  

 
2. WORKING CAPITAL POOL 

This pool is intended to provide for the immediate normal operating requirements of the University (funds 
awaiting clearance), and other short-term investments of the University. This pool includes funds that 
must be invested in a restricted manner in accordance with federal and/or state law. 

 
3. STRATEGIC CAPITAL POOL 

This pool is intended to be invested over the medium-term, as the cash needs of this pool are intermediate 
and long-term in nature.   

 
4. RESERVE POOL 

This pool encompasses a state-mandated unencumbered reserve. This pool is intended to be invested over 
the medium-longer term. 

 
*University and affiliated-organization bond proceeds are outside the purview of this Policy and will be invested 
in compliance with all relevant federal and state laws. 
 
B. Asset Class/Category Characteristics 
 
1. CASH EQUIVALENTS 

The purpose of the cash equivalents portfolio is to provide liquidity to fund operational expenses, debt 
service and other short term cash needs. 

 
2. FIXED INCOME 

 
Investment Grade 
This asset class is intended to be representative of the overall U.S. investment grade bond market. The 
purpose of the fixed income asset class is to provide a high level of current income to provide liquidity for 
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intermediate cash flow needs and to provide diversification benefits during periods of a stock market 
decline. 

 
Credit Fixed Income 
This asset class is intended to be representative of the overall U.S. corporate credit bond market. The 
purpose of this asset class is to provide a high level of current income, total return enhancement, and 
diversification benefits. An active investment manager with strong credit research capabilities will be 
used to implement this exposure. 

 
High Yield 
This asset class is intended to be representative of the non-investment grade U.S. bond market (bonds 
rated BB or lower). The purpose of this fixed income asset class is to provide a higher level of current 
income to compensate for the additional level of credit risk employed. The purpose of this asset class is to 
provide some return enhancement and diversification benefit in order for the Portfolio to realize long-term 
growth above inflation. 

 
3. EQUITIES 
 

U.S. Equity 
This asset class is intended to be representative of the overall U.S. stock market. The purpose of the 
equity asset class is to provide a high level of capital appreciation in order for the Portfolio to realize 
long-term growth above inflation. 

 
International Equity 
The purpose of the international equity asset class is to provide exposure to equities in international equity 
markets. Exposure to international equities enhances returns of the combined equity portfolio while 
reducing return volatility. 

 
Private Equity 
The purpose of the private equity asset class is to provide a global exposure to private equity markets that 
is diversified by geography, investment type (venture capital, growth equity, buyout, mezzanine, 
distressed and special situations) and vintage year.  Exposure to the private equity market is expected to 
provide access to outsized returns as compared to the public equity market. 

 
4. REAL ASSETS 
 

Treasury Inflation Protected Securities (TIPS) 
This asset class is intended to be representative of the fixed income investments in which the principal is 
adjusted periodically based on changes in CPI. The purpose of the TIPS asset class is to provide fixed 
income returns with the additional diversification benefits of inflation protection. 

 
Real Estate Investment Trusts (REITS) 
This asset class is intended to be representative of the Real Estate Investment Trust market. The purpose 
of the REIT asset class is to provide a higher level of current income and capital appreciation than fixed 
income with diversification benefits from its low correlation to both stocks and bonds. 

 
Commodities 
This asset class is intended to be a passively managed representation of a direct investment in a 
diversified commodities strategy. A direct investment is either through the purchase of the physical 
commodity (e.g., crude oil, metals) or the purchase of derivatives (e.g., futures). The principal roles for 
commodities in the Portfolio are as a risk diversifier, and an inflation hedge, providing an expected offset 
to assets such as fixed rate instruments, which typically lose value during periods of unexpected inflation. 
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Master Limited Partnerships (MLPs) 
This asset class is intended to be representative of an actively managed investment in energy Master 
Limited Partnerships.  The investment will provide exposure to businesses that primarily engage in in the 
midstream portion of the energy chain – i.e pipelines, storage terminals, gathering and processing.  The 
principal roles for MLPs in the Portfolio are for income generation, high growth potential, portfolio 
diversification, and a hedge against inflation. 
 

5. ABSOLUTE RETURN 
 

This asset class is intended to be representative of a broadly diversified hedge fund strategy intended to 
provide an “absolute return” in any market environment with low to intermediate level of risk. This 
strategy is intended to provide modest return enhancement to that of fixed income with diversification 
benefits derived from its low correlation to other asset classes. 

 
C. Authorized Investments and Restrictions 
 
The following authorized investments and restrictions establish the parameters the University’s investment 
managers must follow in implementing their respective investment strategies. Each underlying manager will have 
a specific set of guidelines that may be more restrictive than those set forth herein.  
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Investment Guidelines - Investment Grade Fixed Income 

Authorized Investments: Status 

Fixed Income securities issued in the U.S. investment grade bond market Authorized 

Rule 144A securities  Authorized 

Non dollar securities and securities of issuers outside the U.S.  Authorized 

U.S. Treasury, Agency, Eurodollar, and Swap financials futures Authorized 

Interest rate swaps Authorized 

Options on securities otherwise allowable under the guidelines Authorized 

Agency mortgage dollar rolls Authorized 

Cash vehicle through trustee Authorized 

Restrictions: Guideline 

Maximum invested in securities not paying in US dollars 10% of account market value 

Maximum invested in issuers domiciled outside the US 10% of account market value 

Maximum invested in non US dollar-denominated assets  10% of account market value 

Cross-currency hedging  Prohibited 

Rated by any two of  S&P / Moody's / Fitch (except US government and 
agency securities) 

Required 

Must be rated BB- / Ba3 or better at time of purchase  Required 

Weighted average credit quality must average at a minimum BBB / Baa Required 

Convertible securities and preferred stocks Prohibited 

Maximum position in securities not rated or rated BB+ /Bal or lower 5% of account market value 

Collateralized securities must have a credit quality rated AAA by S&P and 
rated Aaa by Moody's  

Required 

Interest-only (IO) securities  Prohibited 

Collateralized Bond Obligations, Collateralized Debt Obligations, and 
Collateralized Loan Obligations 

Prohibited 

Credit derivatives Prohibited 

Maximum per any one issuer 5% of account market value 

Maximum duration exposure derived from futures, options or swaps 20% 

Borrowing and/or lending of funds or securities Prohibited 

Explicit leverage at the vehicle level Prohibited 
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Investment Guidelines - Credit Fixed Income 

Authorized Investments: Status 

Fixed Income securities issued in the U.S. investment grade bond market Authorized                  

Rule 144A securities  Authorized 

Non dollar securities and securities of issuers outside the U.S.  Authorized 

U.S. Treasury, Agency, Eurodollar, and Swap financials futures Authorized 

Interest rate swaps Authorized 

Options on securities otherwise allowable under the guidelines Authorized 

Agency mortgage dollar rolls Authorized 

Cash vehicle through trustee Authorized 

Restrictions: Guideline 

Maximum invested in non US dollar-denominated assets  10% of account market value 

Maximum invested in High Yield (as rated by S&P, Moody’s, And Fitch)  20% of account market value 

Maximum invested in Mortgage, Commercial Mortgage, and ABS 10% of account market value 

Rated by any two of  S&P / Moody's / Fitch (except US government and 
agency securities) 

Required 

Must be rated BB- / Ba3 or better at time of purchase  Required 

Weighted average credit quality must average at a minimum BBB / Baa Required 

Convertible securities and preferred stocks Prohibited 

Interest-only (IO) securities  Prohibited 

Collateralized Bond Obligations, Collateralized Debt Obligations, and 
Collateralized Loan Obligations 

Prohibited 

Credit derivatives Prohibited 

Maximum per any one issuer 5% of account market value 

Maximum duration exposure derived from futures, options or swaps 20% 

Borrowing and/or lending of funds or securities Prohibited 

Explicit Leverage at the vehicle level Prohibited 
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Investment Guidelines - High Yield Fixed Income 

Authorized Investments:  Status 

Registered high yield and Rule 144A, with registration rights, fixed income 
securities and debt obligations issued by public, corporate, and sovereign 
entities 

Authorized 

Securities issue or guaranteed by the US government, its agencies and 
instrumentalities 

Authorized 

Forward contracts on "eligible" securities Authorized 

Common stock, preferred stock and options or warrants to purchase common or 
preferred stock only where included in a unit with, or attached to, fixed income 
securities or upon conversion of a convertible security or exercise of a warrant 
or option or received in a reorganization 

Authorized 

Convertible securities and preferred stocks, if most of their value is attributable 
to their yield and other fixed income features 

Authorized 

Cash vehicle through trustee Authorized 

Restrictions: Guideline 

Maximum position in an individual security (excluding Government securities) 5% of account market value  

Maximum position in any one issuer (excluding Government securities) 5% of account market value  

Maximum position in Rule 144A, with registration rights, securities 5% of account market value  

Maximum position in emerging market debt (corporate or sovereign debt of 
countries with credit rating BB+/Ball or lower) 

5% of account market value  

Purchase of securities on margin Prohibited 

Short sales Prohibited 

Securities lending Prohibited 

Employ leverage Prohibited 

Structured securities (e.g. ABS, CMBS, CDO) except for equipment trust 
certificates 

Prohibited 

Maximum position in equipment trust certificates  5% of account market value  

Investment in direct real estate or real estate mortgage loans Prohibited 

Debt issued by corporate entities involved in real estate otherwise allowed 
under these guidelines 

Permitted 

Investment in commodities or commodity contracts  Prohibited 

All securities at the time of purchase must be rated single-B or higher by both 
S&P and Moody's (securities issued w/o rating are exempt if one can be 
reasonable expected within one month of issuance) 

Required 

Maximum invested in securities not rated single-B or higher by both S&P and 
Moody's and any equity securities received into the account  

5% of account market value  
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Investment Guidelines - US Equity  

Authorized Investments: Status 

Equity denominated in US dollars and traded on recognized US exchanges 
include NASDAQ 

Common and preferred stock, securities convertible into common and preferred 
stock, rights and warrants, depository receipts 

Authorized 

Cash vehicle available through the trustee Authorized 

Restrictions Guideline 

Maximum investment in an individual company 5% of account market value 

Maximum ownership of an individual company's outstanding shares 10% 

Maximum cash or cash equivalent position 10% of account market value 

Maximum position in preferred stocks 5% of account market value 

Maximum position in convertible securities  5% of account market value 

Maximum position in rights and warrants  10% of account market value 

Maximum position in depository receipts  10% of account market value 

Margined stocks  Prohibited 

Short sales Prohibited 

Real or personal property Prohibited 

Commodities or commodity contracts Prohibited 

Swaps, options, or other derivatives Prohibited 

Limited partnerships Prohibited 

Venture capital Prohibited 

Letter stock and other securities restricted as to public resale Prohibited 

Borrowing and/or lending funds or securities Prohibited 

Maximum position in dollar-denominated equity securities issued by non-US 
domiciled companies but traded on a recognized US exchange 

10% of account market value 

Investments  with a market capitalization less than the smallest security or 
greater than the largest security in the Benchmark at time of purchase  

Prohibited 

Maximum position in investments with a market capitalization less than the 
smallest security or greater than the largest security in the Benchmark 

5% of account market value 

 
  

173



Investment Guidelines - International Equity 

Authorized Investments: Status 

Countries represented in the MSCI ACWI ex-US (net) benchmark Authorized 

Equity securities of companies domiciled in countries represented in the MSCI 
ACWI ex-US (net) benchmark 

Common and preferred Stock, securities convertible into common and 
preferred stock, rights and warrants, depository receipts, Rule 144A securities 

Authorized 

Foreign currency and currency forwards of countries allowable under the 
guidelines 

Authorized 

International index futures contracts used solely for hedging purposes Authorized 

Cash vehicle available through the trustee Authorized 

Restrictions: Guideline 

Maximum investment in an individual company 5% of account market value 

Maximum ownership of an individual company's outstanding shares 10% 

Maximum cash or cash equivalent position 10% of account market value 

Maximum position in preferred stocks 5% of account market value 

Maximum position in convertible securities 5% of account market value 

Maximum position in rights and warrants 10% of account market value 

Maximum position in private placement securities eligible for resale pursuant 
to Rule 144A 

10% of account market value 

Private placements outside of Rule 144A Prohibited 

Maximum position in depository receipts 10% of account market value 

Margined stocks Prohibited 

Shorts sales Prohibited 

Real or personal property Prohibited 

Commodities or commodity contracts Prohibited 

Swaps, options, or other derivatives Prohibited 

Limited partnerships Prohibited 

Venture capital  Prohibited 

Letter stock and other securities restricted as to public resale Prohibited 

Foreign currency and currency forward contracts for hedging purposes Permitted 

Use of derivatives to expose more than 100% of the net assets of the account 
to equity securities 

Prohibited 

Net aggregate holdings of foreign currency exposure in excess of net assets of 
the account 

Prohibited 

Borrowing and/or lending of funds or securities Prohibited 
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Investment Guidelines - Private Equity 

Authorized Investments: Status 

Private equity investments should be invested in  institutionally-oriented, 
globally diversified fund-of-funds vehicles  

Authorized 

  Buyout Authorized 

  Venture Capital Authorized 

  Special Situations Authorized 

  Primary partnerships Authorized 

  Secondary partnerships Authorized 

  Direct / Co-investments Authorized 

Restrictions: Guideline 

Investment Vehicle Fund of funds only 

Allowable range for Total Private Equity investments:   

  Buyout 40% - 60% 

  Venture Capital 0%  -  30% 

  Special Situations 10% - 40% 

  Primary Partnerships Up to 100% 

  Secondary Partnerships Up to 40% 

  Direct / Co-investments Up to 20% 

Allowable geographic diversification for Total Private Equity investments:   

  United States 40% - 70% 

  Europe 25% - 50% 

  Latin America Up to 25% 

  Asia / Pacific Up to 40% 

Vintage year diversification must be achieved within each fund of funds 
structure 

Minimum of three years 

General Partners must demonstrate acceptance through retention of other 
institutionally-oriented clients 

Required 

General Partners must have capital committed in the private partnership Required 

General Partner must have a track record demonstrating investment 
capabilities with previous funds of funds and sizable assets 

Required 
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Guidelines for Commodities 
 
This asset class is intended to be representative of a passively managed commodities portfolio. It requires staying 
current at all times with the objectives of the manager’s investment policy for discretionary commodity portfolios 
and the requirements of these guidelines.  
 
The manager may buy or sell futures, forwards, options and swaps on both individual commodities as well as the 
derivatives on commodity indices. Although this account is intended to be passively managed, should the account 
migrate to an active management strategy, a short duration fixed income portfolio will be maintained as collateral. 
The guidelines for investment grade fixed income portfolios contained herein must be followed.  
 
A portion of this investment may hold cash and cash instruments, including short-term investment vehicles. 
Although certain investments may exhibit characteristics of leveraged transactions, the overall commodities 
investments will be managed to produce an unleveraged return. The investment will not borrow money or use 
derivatives in a manner that has the purpose of creating investment leverage. 
 
The firm responsible for managing these investments must be registered with the SEC. Specific investment 
guidelines will be reviewed and approved by the Investment Committee prior to the implementation of such an 
investment vehicle. 
 

Investment Guidelines - Commodities  

Authorized Investments: Status 

Securities represented in the DJ - UBS Commodity Index Authorized 

Commodity Groups Currently Included in the Dow Jones-UBS Commodity Index

Energy, Agriculture, Industrial Metals, Precious Metals, Livestock 

 Authorized 

Commodities Currently Included in the Dow Jones-UBS Commodity Index 

Aluminum, Coffee, Copper, Corn, Cotton, Crude Oil, Gold, Heating Oil, Lean 
Hogs, Live Cattle, Natural Gas, Nickel, Silver, Soybeans, Soybean Oil, Sugar, 
Unleaded Gasoline, Wheat and Zinc 

Authorized 

Futures, Forwards, Options and Total Return Swaps Authorized 

Commodity or Commodity Contracts Authorized 

Restrictions: Guideline 

Maximum weight to any commodity group 33% of account market value 

Minimum weight to any single commodity 2% of account market value 
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Investment Guidelines - MLPs 

Authorized Investments: Status 

Companies must be master limited partnerships or C-corporations principally 
engaged in the energy industry 

Authorized 

A company is considered to be “principally engaged in the energy industry” if 
the company owns or operates midstream energy assets or is engaged in the 
transportation, processing, or storage of natural resources, including, but not 
limited to, natural gas, crude oil, and refined petroleum products 

Authorized 

Companies’ publicly traded securities must have a minimum market 
capitalization of $100 million 

Authorized 

Restrictions: Guideline 

Long-only mandate No leverage 

Diversification Account should have at least 20 
securities 

Maximum exposure to single security 20% of account market value 

Maximum exposure to private investments (i.e. PIPEs) 10% of account market value 

Maximum weight to cash and cash equivalents 10% of account market value 

 
 
Guidelines for Hedge Funds 
 
The Absolute Return asset class shall be implemented through a fund-of-funds investment vehicle.  The 
organization managing the fund-of-funds vehicle must be registered with the SEC. Specific investment guidelines 
will be reviewed and approved by the Investment Committee prior to the implementation of such an investment 
vehicle. 
 
Guidelines for Commingled Investment Vehicles and/or Mutual Funds 
 
Investment may be made in commingled vehicles and/or mutual funds in which a specified set of guidelines 
developed for a broad number of institutions are already predetermined. These investments will be managed in a 
manner consistent with the authorized investments and restrictions set forth herein. These guidelines will be 
reviewed and approved by the Investment Committee prior to the implementation of such an investment vehicle. 
 
 
IV. ASSET ALLOCATION GUIDELINES 
 
The long-term allocation guidelines herein are expressed in terms of a target and ranges for each asset class to 
provide sufficient flexibility to take advantage of shorter-term market opportunities as they may occur. The asset 
allocation shall be sufficiently diversified to maintain risk at a reasonable level without imprudently sacrificing 
return.  
 
The target allocation to each asset class will differ between the various pools as denoted in a previous section of 
this Policy. The asset allocation of each of the individual investment pools and the total combined pool are 
summarized in Appendix I – Asset Allocation Targets and Rebalancing Policy.  
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V.  MANAGER SELECTION 
 
For the Strategic Capital and Reserve Pools, the Investment Committee, with the guidance and recommendations 
of the consultant, is responsible for the selection and continued monitoring of qualified, competent investment 
managers in accordance with University policy and Florida law. 
 
For the Working Capital Pool, staff is authorized to invest in the following managers and investments: 
 
• Florida State Treasury 
• State Board of Administration 
• Qualified Public Depositories as defined by the State of Florida 
• U.S. Government and its Agencies 
• Money Market and Short Term Fixed Income Funds rated AA or higher by at least two of the following 

ratings agencies: Moody’s Investors Service, Standard & Poor’s and Fitch. 
 
 
VI. PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT & EVALUATION 
 
Investment objectives provide quantifiable standards to measure and evaluate the progress of both the investment 
pools and each individual investment manager. For the purpose of monitoring and evaluating the ongoing 
investment activity and results, both relative and comparative performance standards and objectives are defined. 
 
Relative standards are used to review the return and risk at both the pool and individual manager level. The 
relative standards for the pool level will represent a target policy index that will be constructed from the relative 
market indices weighted by the Portfolio’s target allocation to each asset class. Each individual investment 
manager will be evaluated relative to an appropriate benchmark. An appropriate benchmark is defined as an 
identifiable market index or a “normal” portfolio that is constructed to replicate the manager’s investment style. 
Benchmarks for each investment manager are identified in the Individual Manager section of this document. 
 
Comparative standards are used to evaluate the returns of both the pool and each of its asset class components. 
 
Investment objectives are established to measure the long-term (3 to 5 years) results of the Total Pool and each 
investment manager. The Committee must recognize the limitations of reviewing results over short-term horizons; 
however, current performance can serve as an early indication of the Portfolio’s progress toward meeting the 
more fundamental primary objectives. 
 
The Portfolio’s performance objectives may be divided into two components: objectives for the overall fund and 
objectives for the individual portfolio components. Both levels of objectives will be incorporated into quarterly 
reviews of the Portfolio’s performance. The performance objectives for each individual investment pool and the 
Total Combined Pool are detailed in Appendix II – Performance Objectives. 
 

REASON FOR POLICY (O*) 
 

This document will provide the framework for the investment management of the Portfolio. Specifically, it will 
address: 
• The general goals of the investment Portfolio 
• The guidelines and parameters for the management of the Portfolio 
• The asset allocation guidelines 
• Performance objectives 
 
This Policy is intended to allow for sufficient flexibility in the management process to capture investment 
opportunities as they may occur, yet set forth reasonable parameters to ensure prudence and care in the execution 
of the investment program. 
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RELATED INFORMATION (O*) 

 
APPENDIX I – Asset Allocation Targets & Rebalancing Policy 
 
Asset Allocation Guidelines 
 
The asset allocation guidelines differ between the various pools, and are summarized as follows: 
   

 Working 
Capital Pool 

Strategic 
Capital Pool Reserve Pool 

Total 
Combined Pool 

% of Total Combined Pool 30% 60% 10% 100% 
     
Cash Equivalents 40.00% 0.00% 0.00% 12.00% 
Short-Int. Fixed Income 60.00% 0.00% 0.00% 18.00% 
Fixed Income (Inv. Grade) 0.00% 18.60% 18.60% 13.00% 
High Yield 0.00% 8.50% 8.50% 6.00% 
Credit Fixed Income 0.00% 5.70% 5.70% 4.00% 
     Total Fixed Income 100.00% 32.80% 32.80% 53.00% 
TIPS 0.00% 14.30% 14.30% 10.00% 
Commodities 0.00% 9.30% 9.30% 6.50% 
REITS 0.00% 4.30% 4.30% 3.00% 
MLPs 0.00% 7.10% 7.10% 5.00% 
     Total Real Assets 0.00% 35.00% 35.00% 24.50% 
Domestic Equity 0.00% 4.30% 4.30% 3.00% 
International Equity 0.00% 4.30% 4.30% 3.00% 
Private Equity 0.00% 9.30% 9.30% 6.50% 
     Total Equity 0.00% 17.90% 17.90% 12.50% 
     Absolute Return 0.00% 14.30% 14.30% 10.00% 
Total 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 

                 
Asset Allocation Ranges and Rebalancing 
 
Asset allocation refers to the strategic deployment of assets among the major classes of investments such as 
domestic equity, fixed income and cash equivalents. The asset allocation decision reflects the Portfolio’s return 
requirements as well as the Portfolio’s tolerance for return variability (risk) within the context of the expected 
liabilities of the fund. Asset allocation is widely recognized and accepted as the primary source of return and risk 
for an investment program.  It is used for setting the parameters for long term risk and return in order to meet the 
University’s long-term financial objectives.  
 
The tables below set forth the asset allocation for the Portfolio, the strategic target weights and the allowable 
ranges around the target weights: 
 

Total Combined Pool  Target (%) Minimum (%) Maximum (%) 
Working Capital Pool 30.00% 25.00% 93.00% 
Strategic Capital Pool  60.00% 0.00% 70.00% 
Reserve Pool 10.00% 7.00% 20.00% 

 
 

Working Capital Pool  Target (%) Minimum (%) Maximum (%) 
Cash Equivalents  40.00% 0.00% 100.00% 
Short Term Fixed Income  60.00% 0.00% 90.00% 
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Strategic/Reserve Capital Pools  Target (%) Minimum (%) Maximum (%) 
Fixed Income (Inv. Grade) 18.60% 13.60% 23.60% 
High Yield 8.50% 5.00% 12.00% 
Credit Fixed Income 5.70% 3.00% 8.00% 
TIPS 14.30% 5.00% 19.00% 
Commodities 9.30% 6.00% 13.00% 
REITS 4.30% 2.50% 8.00% 
MLPs 7.10% 4.00% 10.00% 
Domestic Equity 4.30% 2.50% 8.00% 
International Equity 4.30% 2.50% 8.00% 
Private Equity 9.30% 5.00% 13.00% 
Absolute Return 14.30% 10.00% 17.00% 

 
   
Portfolio rebalancing is designed to provide a disciplined approach to control the risk exposure of the Portfolio to 
the investment categories that have deviated from the established target policy weights.  Rebalancing parameters 
are addressed at the asset class level. Rebalancing requires a reallocation to be made whenever the quarter-end 
allocations exceed the minimum or maximum allocations specified above. Naturally occurring cash flows shall be 
used to the fullest extent possible to minimize transaction costs and rebalance toward policy targets.   
 
The funding of the private equity asset class occurs over the term of the investment.  In order to maintain the 
Policy’s overall target allocation to equity, the Portfolio may maintain an overweight (or underweight) position to 
public equity no greater than the corresponding underweight (or overweight) target allocation to private equity.  
The staff and consultants will annually review the rebalancing to take into account the funding of private equity. 
 
 
  

180



Appendix II – Performance Objectives 
 
The performance objectives for the overall fund are threefold: 
 
1. Objective relative to asset allocation targets 
2. Objective relative to capital market assumptions 
3. Objective relative to inflation 
 
The first objective results in a comparative index that reflects the University’s unique asset allocation policy (see 
example in Table 1). Exceeding this objective indicates that the active management of the various portfolio 
components has added value over a passively-managed fund with a similar asset mix. The second objective, to 
compare asset class performance to the capital market assumptions, ensures that the asset mix continues to 
achieve the long-term goals of the Portfolio. The inflation objective requires that the investment performance 
provide an adequate real return over the expected rate of inflation, the primary driver of costs. 
 
Individual portfolio components also have performance objectives reflecting the unique investment style of each 
category. The investment style and performance benchmarks are also shown below: 
 
Five-Year Performance Objectives Methodology 
Relative to asset allocation targets, indexes that represent appropriate asset classes 
 

Target Portfolio Weight x Representative cash equivalent portfolio 
Target Portfolio Weight x Investment grade fixed income index 
Target Portfolio Weight x TIPS index 
Target Portfolio Weight x Credit fixed income index 
Target Portfolio Weight x Absolute return benchmark 
Target Portfolio Weight x High yield fixed income index 
Target Portfolio Weight x Global REIT index 
Target Portfolio Weight x Commodity index 
Target Portfolio Weight x MLP index 
Target Portfolio Weight x Broad U.S equity index 
Target Portfolio Weight x International equity index 
Target Portfolio Weight x Private equity benchmark 
100% Total Portfolio Benchmark 

 
Total Combined Pool Objectives (net of all fees and costs) 
Relative to asset allocation targets, index weighted by: 
 
 30.00% x 91-Day Treasury Bill rate 

13.00% x Barclays U.S. Aggregate Bond Index 
 10.00% x Barclays TIPS Index  

  4.00% x Barclays U.S. Credit Index 
   6.00% x ML High Yield Master II Index 
 10.00% x CPI + 3.25% (Absolute Return benchmark) 
   6.50% x Dow Jones - UBS Commodity Index 

  5.00% x Alerian MLP Index  
   3.00% x FTSE EPRA / NAREIT Developed Real Estate 
   3.00% x Wilshire 5000 Index (US Equity broad market) 
   3.00% x MSCI All Country World ex-U.S. Index (int’l equity market) 
   6.50% x Wilshire 5000 (1-quarter lag) + 3%  
 100.00% Total Combined Pool Benchmark 
 
Relative to inflation: Consumer Price Index + 3.5% 
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Working Capital Pool Objectives (net of all fees and costs) 
Relative to asset allocation targets, index weighted by: 
 
 100.00% x 91-Day Treasury Bill rate  
 100.00% Working Capital Pool Benchmark 
 
Strategic Capital and Reserve Pool Objectives (net of all fees and costs) 
Relative to asset allocation targets, index weighted by: 
 
 18.60% x Barclays U.S. Aggregate Bond Index 
 14.30% x Barclays TIPS Index  

  5.70% x Barclays U.S. Credit Index 
 14.30% x CPI + 3.25%   (Absolute Return benchmark) 
   8.50% x ML High Yield Master II Index 
     4.30% x FTSE EPRA / NAREIT Developed Real Estate 
   9.30% x Dow Jones – UBS Commodity Index 

  7.10% x Alerian MLP Index 
   4.30% x Wilshire 5000 Index (US Equity broad market) 
   4.30% x MSCI All Country World ex-U.S. Index (int’l equity market) 
   9.30% x Wilshire 5000 (1-quarter lag) + 3%  
 100.00% Strategic Capital or Reserve Pool Benchmark 
 
Relative to capital market assumptions: (Wilshire’s Asset Allocation Return and Risk Assumptions, most recent 
published date, or equivalent publication). 
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RESPONSIBILITIES (O*) 

LEGAL AUTHORITY:   
 
The BOT is authorized to adopt an Investment Policy pursuant to Section 1011.42 and 218.415 of the Florida Statutes. 

 

HISTORY (R*) 

Effective Date: June 29, 2005; Revision Date(s): September 11, 2007; March 12, 2008; March 30, 2009; June 12, 2009; September 
24, 2010, March 14, 2012, September 10, 2013 and January 14, 2015. 
. 

 

RESPONSIBLE UNIVERSITY DIVISION/DEPARTMENT (R*)  

Office of the Treasurer 
Finance and Administration 

The University Policies and Procedures Library is updated 
regularly.  In order to ensure a printed copy of this document 
is current, please access it online at http://policies.fiu.edu/ . 

RESPONSIBLE ADMINISTRATIVE OVERSIGHT (R*) 
 
 

University Treasurer 
Florida International University 

11200 S.W. Eighth Street, MARC 110 
Miami, Florida 33199 

Telephone: (305) 348-2544 
Facsimile: (305) 348-2990 

For any questions or comments, the “Document Details” 
view for this policy online provides complete contact 
information. 

 

FORMS/ONLINE PROCESSES (O*) 

Links to the above referenced Form(s) available in the "Document Details" Section of the online version of this policy document. 
*R = Required *O = Optional 
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II. GOVERNANCE 
 
A. BOT Finance and Audit Committee 
 
The Florida International University Board of Trustees (“BOT”) is responsible for the oversight and approval of 
this Policy (and any amendments thereto) and oversight of the University's implementation of the Policy.  
 
This Policy addresses specifics relating to: 
 
• Investment goals and objectives 
• Asset allocation policy targets specifying minimum and maximum ranges 
• Rebalancing policy 
• Selection of investment managers 
• Authorized investments 
 
B. Investment Committee 
 
The BOT’s Investment Committee recognizes that matters concerning the investment of the operating fund assets 
owned by the University merit serious attention and frequent consideration. The Investment Committee, at a 
minimum, will consist of: 
 
• An individual designated by the BOT, 
• The Chief Financial Officer of the University, 
• The Treasurer of the University and 
• A representative from University academics. 
 
In addition, the Investment Committee may include up to two business community representatives and other 
representatives with specific expertise in investment and portfolio management to strengthen the Committee’s 
capabilities. The need for adding members will be determined by the Chair of the BOT, in consultation with the 
Chair of the Finance and Audit Committee. 
 
The Investment Committee, with the guidance and recommendations of the investment consultant hired by the 
University, is responsible for: 
 
• Directing all of its efforts toward the investment objectives stated herein 
• Performing at least annually a review of the investment objectives stated herein 
• Ensuring that the objectives stated in this Policy are practical and reflect the mission of the University 
• Hiring an investment consultant, consistent with University procurement requirements  
• Implementing and monitoring the asset allocation policy 
• Conducting an annual formal review of the investment structure  
• Developing an updated financial projection a minimum of every three years 
• Selecting and monitoring of qualified, competent investment managers 
• Terminating investment managers failing to maintain acceptable quantitative (e.g. risk/return profile) 

and/or qualitative (e.g. organizational changes) standards  
• Developing and reviewing the objectives and guidelines given to each specific investment manager 
• Meeting at least quarterly to review the results of the investment portfolios  
• determining whether the investment objectives set forth herein are being met and whether the investment 

guidelines are being followed 
• Providing the BOT with regular performance reports on the investment portfolios 
• Completing annually eight (8) hours of continuing education in subjects or courses of study related to 

investment practices and procedures, or the Chief Financial officer shall complete this requirement. 
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C. Staff 
 
The staff is an integral part of the day-to-day requirements of the operating portfolio. The staff has the 
responsibility of administering and coordinating the implementation of decisions made by the Investment 
Committee and the BOT. The staff is responsible for: 
 
• Administering the investments of the Portfolio at the lowest possible cost, being careful to avoid 

sacrificing quality 
• Administering the rebalancing policy 
• Day-to-day interaction with the consultants and investment managers 
 
 
III.  INVESTMENT GUIDELINES 
 
The investment guidelines set forth herein establish parameters for the Portfolio and for the University’s 
investment managers to follow in implementing their respective investment strategies. These guidelines address 
asset allocation, restricted transactions, diversification, quality and turnover.  
 
A. Investment Pools* 
 
1. TOTAL COMBINED POOL   

This pool is the overall combined investments of the Portfolio. In its entirety, it is intended to satisfy the 
overall objectives and constraints set forth in this Policy. The Total Combined Pool is divided into three 
distinct pools; each pool has a different investment time horizon, investment objective and minimum and 
maximum asset class allocations.  

 
2. WORKING CAPITAL POOL 

This pool is intended to provide for the immediate normal operating requirements of the University (funds 
awaiting clearance), and other short-term investments of the University. This pool includes funds that 
must be invested in a restricted manner in accordance with federal and/or state law. 

 
3. STRATEGIC CAPITAL POOL 

This pool is intended to be invested over the medium-term, as the cash needs of this pool are intermediate 
and long-term in nature.   

 
4. RESERVE POOL 

This pool encompasses a state-mandated unencumbered reserve. This pool is intended to be invested over 
the medium-longer term. 

 
*University and affiliated-organization bond proceeds are outside the purview of this Policy and will be invested 
in compliance with all relevant federal and state laws. 
 
B. Asset Class/Category Characteristics 
 
1. CASH EQUIVALENTS 

The purpose of the cash equivalents portfolio is to provide liquidity to fund operational expenses, debt 
service and other short term cash needs. 

 
2. FIXED INCOME 

 
Investment Grade 
This asset class is intended to be representative of the overall U.S. investment grade bond market. The 
purpose of the fixed income asset class is to provide a high level of current income to provide liquidity for 
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intermediate cash flow needs and to provide diversification benefits during periods of a stock market 
decline. 

 
Credit Fixed Income 
This asset class is intended to be representative of the overall U.S. corporate credit bond market. The 
purpose of this asset class is to provide a high level of current income, total return enhancement, and 
diversification benefits. An active investment manager with strong credit research capabilities will be 
used to implement this exposure. 

 
High Yield 
This asset class is intended to be representative of the non-investment grade U.S. bond market (bonds 
rated BB or lower). The purpose of this fixed income asset class is to provide a higher level of current 
income to compensate for the additional level of credit risk employed. The purpose of this asset class is to 
provide some return enhancement and diversification benefit in order for the Portfolio to realize long-term 
growth above inflation. 

 
3. EQUITIES 
 

U.S. Equity 
This asset class is intended to be representative of the overall U.S. stock market. The purpose of the 
equity asset class is to provide a high level of capital appreciation in order for the Portfolio to realize 
long-term growth above inflation. 

 
International Equity 
The purpose of the international equity asset class is to provide exposure to equities in international equity 
markets. Exposure to international equities enhances returns of the combined equity portfolio while 
reducing return volatility. 

 
Private Equity 
The purpose of the private equity asset class is to provide a global exposure to private equity markets that 
is diversified by geography, investment type (venture capital, growth equity, buyout, mezzanine, 
distressed and special situations) and vintage year.  Exposure to the private equity market is expected to 
provide access to outsized returns as compared to the public equity market. 

 
4. REAL ASSETS 
 

Treasury Inflation Protected Securities (TIPS) 
This asset class is intended to be representative of the fixed income investments in which the principal is 
adjusted periodically based on changes in CPI. The purpose of the TIPS asset class is to provide fixed 
income returns with the additional diversification benefits of inflation protection. 

 
Real Estate Investment Trusts (REITS) 
This asset class is intended to be representative of the Real Estate Investment Trust market. The purpose 
of the REIT asset class is to provide a higher level of current income and capital appreciation than fixed 
income with diversification benefits from its low correlation to both stocks and bonds. 

 
Commodities 
This asset class is intended to be a passively managed representation of a direct investment in a 
diversified commodities strategy. A direct investment is either through the purchase of the physical 
commodity (e.g., crude oil, metals) or the purchase of derivatives (e.g., futures). The principal roles for 
commodities in the Portfolio are as a risk diversifier, and an inflation hedge, providing an expected offset 
to assets such as fixed rate instruments, which typically lose value during periods of unexpected inflation. 
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Master Limited Partnerships (MLPs) 
This asset class is intended to be representative of an actively managed investment in energy Master 
Limited Partnerships.  The investment will provide exposure to businesses that primarily engage in in the 
midstream portion of the energy chain – i.e pipelines, storage terminals, gathering and processing.  The 
principal roles for MLPs in the Portfolio are for income generation, high growth potential, portfolio 
diversification, and a hedge against inflation. 
 

5. ABSOLUTE RETURN 
 

This asset class is intended to be representative of a broadly diversified hedge fund strategy intended to 
provide an “absolute return” in any market environment with low to intermediate level of risk. This 
strategy is intended to provide modest return enhancement to that of fixed income with diversification 
benefits derived from its low correlation to other asset classes. 

 
C. Authorized Investments and Restrictions 
 
The following authorized investments and restrictions establish the parameters the University’s investment 
managers must follow in implementing their respective investment strategies. Each underlying manager will have 
a specific set of guidelines that may be more restrictive than those set forth herein.  
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Investment Guidelines - Investment Grade Fixed Income 

Authorized Investments: Status 

Fixed Income securities issued in the U.S. investment grade bond market Authorized 

Rule 144A securities with registration rights Authorized 

Non dollar securities and securities of issuers outside the U.S.  Authorized 

U.S. Treasury, Agency, Eurodollar, and Swap financials futures Authorized 

Interest rate swaps Authorized 

Options on securities otherwise allowable under the guidelines Authorized 

Agency mortgage dollar rolls Authorized 

Cash vehicle through trustee Authorized 

Restrictions: Guideline 

Maximum invested in securities not paying in US dollars 10% of account market value 

Maximum invested in issuers domiciled outside the US 10% of account market value 

Maximum invested in non US dollar-denominated assets  10% of account market value 

Cross-currency hedging  Prohibited 

Rated by both any two of  S&P / Moody's / Fitch (except US government and 
agency securities) 

Required 

Must be rated BBB- / Baa3 or better at time of purchase  Required 

Weighted average credit quality must average at a minimum BBB / Baa Required 

Convertible securities and preferred stocks Prohibited 

Maximum position in securities not rated or rated BB+ /Bal or lower 5% of account market value 

Collateralized securities must have a credit quality rated AAA by S&P and 
rated Aaa by Moody's  

Required 

Interest-only (IO) securities  Prohibited 

Collateralized Bond Obligations, Collateralized Debt Obligations, and 
Collateralized Loan Obligations 

Prohibited 

Credit derivatives Prohibited 

Maximum per any one issuer 5% of account market value 

Maximum duration exposure derived from futures, options or swaps 20% 

Borrowing and/or lending of funds or securities Prohibited 

Explicit leverage at the vehicle level Prohibited 
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Investment Guidelines - Credit Fixed Income 

Authorized Investments: Status 

Fixed Income securities issued in the U.S. investment grade bond market Authorized                  

Rule 144A securities  Authorized 

Non dollar securities and securities of issuers outside the U.S.  Authorized 

U.S. Treasury, Agency, Eurodollar, and Swap financials futures Authorized 

Interest rate swaps Authorized 

Options on securities otherwise allowable under the guidelines Authorized 

Agency mortgage dollar rolls Authorized 

Cash vehicle through trustee Authorized 

Restrictions: Guideline 

Maximum invested in non US dollar-denominated assets  10% of account market value 

Maximum invested in High Yield (as rated by S&P, Moody’s, And Fitch)  20% of account market value 

Maximum invested in Mortgage, Commercial Mortgage, and ABS 10% of account market value 

Rated by any two of  S&P / Moody's / Fitch (except US government and 
agency securities) 

Required 

Must be rated BB- / Ba3 or better at time of purchase  Required 

Weighted average credit quality must average at a minimum BBB / Baa Required 

Convertible securities and preferred stocks Prohibited 

Interest-only (IO) securities  Prohibited 

Collateralized Bond Obligations, Collateralized Debt Obligations, and 
Collateralized Loan Obligations 

Prohibited 

Credit derivatives Prohibited 

Maximum per any one issuer 5% of account market value 

Maximum duration exposure derived from futures, options or swaps 20% 

Borrowing and/or lending of funds or securities Prohibited 

Explicit Leverage at the vehicle level Prohibited 
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Investment Guidelines - High Yield Fixed Income 

Authorized Investments:  Status 

Registered high yield and Rule 144A, with registration rights, fixed income 
securities and debt obligations issued by public, corporate, and sovereign 
entities 

Authorized 

Securities issue or guaranteed by the US government, its agencies and 
instrumentalities 

Authorized 

Forward contracts on "eligible" securities Authorized 

Common stock, preferred stock and options or warrants to purchase common or 
preferred stock only where included in a unit with, or attached to, fixed income 
securities or upon conversion of a convertible security or exercise of a warrant 
or option or received in a reorganization 

Authorized 

Convertible securities and preferred stocks, if most of their value is attributable 
to their yield and other fixed income features 

Authorized 

Cash vehicle through trustee Authorized 

Restrictions: Guideline 

Maximum position in an individual security (excluding Government securities) 5% of account market value  

Maximum position in any one issuer (excluding Government securities) 5% of account market value  

Maximum position in Rule 144A, with registration rights, securities 5% of account market value  

Maximum position in emerging market debt (corporate or sovereign debt of 
countries with credit rating BB+/Ball or lower) 

5% of account market value  

Purchase of securities on margin Prohibited 

Short sales Prohibited 

Securities lending Prohibited 

Employ leverage Prohibited 

Structured securities (e.g. ABS, CMBS, CDO) except for equipment trust 
certificates 

Prohibited 

Maximum position in equipment trust certificates  5% of account market value  

Investment in direct real estate or real estate mortgage loans Prohibited 

Debt issued by corporate entities involved in real estate otherwise allowed 
under these guidelines 

Permitted 

Investment in commodities or commodity contracts  Prohibited 

All securities at the time of purchase must be rated single-B or higher by both 
S&P and Moody's (securities issued w/o rating are exempt if one can be 
reasonable expected within one month of issuance) 

Required 

Maximum invested in securities not rated single-B or higher by both S&P and 
Moody's and any equity securities received into the account  

5% of account market value  

 
  

192



Investment Guidelines - US Equity  

Authorized Investments: Status 

Equity denominated in US dollars and traded on recognized US exchanges 
include NASDAQ 

Common and preferred stock, securities convertible into common and preferred 
stock, rights and warrants, depository receipts 

Authorized 

Cash vehicle available through the trustee Authorized 

Restrictions Guideline 

Maximum investment in an individual company 5% of account market value 

Maximum ownership of an individual company's outstanding shares 10% 

Maximum cash or cash equivalent position 10% of account market value 

Maximum position in preferred stocks 5% of account market value 

Maximum position in convertible securities  5% of account market value 

Maximum position in rights and warrants  10% of account market value 

Maximum position in depository receipts  10% of account market value 

Margined stocks  Prohibited 

Short sales Prohibited 

Real or personal property Prohibited 

Commodities or commodity contracts Prohibited 

Swaps, options, or other derivatives Prohibited 

Limited partnerships Prohibited 

Venture capital Prohibited 

Letter stock and other securities restricted as to public resale Prohibited 

Borrowing and/or lending funds or securities Prohibited 

Maximum position in dollar-denominated equity securities issued by non-US 
domiciled companies but traded on a recognized US exchange 

10% of account market value 

Investments  with a market capitalization less than the smallest security or 
greater than the largest security in the Benchmark at time of purchase  

Prohibited 

Maximum position in investments with a market capitalization less than the 
smallest security or greater than the largest security in the Benchmark 

5% of account market value 
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Investment Guidelines - International Equity 

Authorized Investments: Status 

Countries represented in the MSCI ACWI ex-US (net) benchmark Authorized 

Equity securities of companies domiciled in countries represented in the MSCI 
ACWI ex-US (net) benchmark 

Common and preferred Stock, securities convertible into common and 
preferred stock, rights and warrants, depository receipts, Rule 144A securities 

Authorized 

Foreign currency and currency forwards of countries allowable under the 
guidelines 

Authorized 

International index futures contracts used solely for hedging purposes Authorized 

Cash vehicle available through the trustee Authorized 

Restrictions: Guideline 

Maximum investment in an individual company 5% of account market value 

Maximum ownership of an individual company's outstanding shares 10% 

Maximum cash or cash equivalent position 10% of account market value 

Maximum position in preferred stocks 5% of account market value 

Maximum position in convertible securities 5% of account market value 

Maximum position in rights and warrants 10% of account market value 

Maximum position in private placement securities eligible for resale pursuant 
to Rule 144A 

10% of account market value 

Private placements outside of Rule 144A Prohibited 

Maximum position in depository receipts 10% of account market value 

Margined stocks Prohibited 

Shorts sales Prohibited 

Real or personal property Prohibited 

Commodities or commodity contracts Prohibited 

Swaps, options, or other derivatives Prohibited 

Limited partnerships Prohibited 

Venture capital  Prohibited 

Letter stock and other securities restricted as to public resale Prohibited 

Foreign currency and currency forward contracts for hedging purposes Permitted 

Use of derivatives to expose more than 100% of the net assets of the account 
to equity securities 

Prohibited 

Net aggregate holdings of foreign currency exposure in excess of net assets of 
the account 

Prohibited 

Borrowing and/or lending of funds or securities Prohibited 
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Investment Guidelines - Private Equity 

Authorized Investments: Status 

Private equity investments should be invested in  institutionally-oriented, 
globally diversified fund-of-funds vehicles  

Authorized 

  Buyout Authorized 

  Venture Capital Authorized 

  Special Situations Authorized 

  Primary partnerships Authorized 

  Secondary partnerships Authorized 

  Direct / Co-investments Authorized 

Restrictions: Guideline 

Investment Vehicle Fund of funds only 

Allowable range for Total Private Equity investments:   

  Buyout 40% - 60% 

  Venture Capital 0%  -  30% 

  Special Situations 10% - 40% 

  Primary Partnerships Up to 100% 

  Secondary Partnerships Up to 40% 

  Direct / Co-investments Up to 20% 

Allowable geographic diversification for Total Private Equity investments:   

  United States 40% - 70% 

  Europe 25% - 50% 

  Latin America Up to 25% 

  Asia / Pacific Up to 40% 

Vintage year diversification must be achieved within each fund of funds 
structure 

Minimum of three years 

General Partners must demonstrate acceptance through retention of other 
institutionally-oriented clients 

Required 

General Partners must have capital committed in the private partnership Required 

General Partner must have a track record demonstrating investment 
capabilities with previous funds of funds and sizable assets 

Required 
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Guidelines for Commodities 
 
This asset class is intended to be representative of a passively managed commodities portfolio. It requires staying 
current at all times with the objectives of the manager’s investment policy for discretionary commodity portfolios 
and the requirements of these guidelines.  
 
The manager may buy or sell futures, forwards, options and swaps on both individual commodities as well as the 
derivatives on commodity indices. Although this account is intended to be passively managed, should the account 
migrate to an active management strategy, a short duration fixed income portfolio will be maintained as collateral. 
The guidelines for investment grade fixed income portfolios contained herein must be followed.  
 
A portion of this investment may hold cash and cash instruments, including short-term investment vehicles. 
Although certain investments may exhibit characteristics of leveraged transactions, the overall commodities 
investments will be managed to produce an unleveraged return. The investment will not borrow money or use 
derivatives in a manner that has the purpose of creating investment leverage. 
 
The firm responsible for managing these investments must be registered with the SEC. Specific investment 
guidelines will be reviewed and approved by the Investment Committee prior to the implementation of such an 
investment vehicle. 
 

Investment Guidelines - Commodities  

Authorized Investments: Status 

Securities represented in the DJ - UBS Commodity Index Authorized 

Commodity Groups Currently Included in the Dow Jones-UBS Commodity Index

Energy, Agriculture, Industrial Metals, Precious Metals, Livestock 

 Authorized 

Commodities Currently Included in the Dow Jones-UBS Commodity Index 

Aluminum, Coffee, Copper, Corn, Cotton, Crude Oil, Gold, Heating Oil, Lean 
Hogs, Live Cattle, Natural Gas, Nickel, Silver, Soybeans, Soybean Oil, Sugar, 
Unleaded Gasoline, Wheat and Zinc 

Authorized 

Futures, Forwards, Options and Total Return Swaps Authorized 

Commodity or Commodity Contracts Authorized 

Restrictions: Guideline 

Maximum weight to any commodity group 33% of account market value 

Minimum weight to any single commodity 2% of account market value 
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Investment Guidelines - MLPs 

Authorized Investments: Status 

Companies must be master limited partnerships or C-corporations principally 
engaged in the energy industry 

Authorized 

A company is considered to be “principally engaged in the energy industry” if 
the company owns or operates midstream energy assets or is engaged in the 
transportation, processing, or storage of natural resources, including, but not 
limited to, natural gas, crude oil, and refined petroleum products 

Authorized 

Companies’ publicly traded securities must have a minimum market 
capitalization of $100 million 

Authorized 

Restrictions: Guideline 

Long-only mandate No leverage 

Diversification Account should have at least 20 
securities 

Maximum exposure to single security 20% of account market value 

Maximum exposure to private investments (i.e. PIPEs) 10% of account market value 

Maximum weight to cash and cash equivalents 10% of account market value 

 
 
Guidelines for Hedge Funds 
 
The Absolute Return asset class shall be implemented through a fund-of-funds investment vehicle.  The 
organization managing the fund-of-funds vehicle must be registered with the SEC. Specific investment guidelines 
will be reviewed and approved by the Investment Committee prior to the implementation of such an investment 
vehicle. 
 
Guidelines for Commingled Investment Vehicles and/or Mutual Funds 
 
Investment may be made in commingled vehicles and/or mutual funds in which a specified set of guidelines 
developed for a broad number of institutions are already predetermined. These investments will be managed in a 
manner consistent with the authorized investments and restrictions set forth herein. These guidelines will be 
reviewed and approved by the Investment Committee prior to the implementation of such an investment vehicle. 
 
 
IV. ASSET ALLOCATION GUIDELINES 
 
The long-term allocation guidelines herein are expressed in terms of a target and ranges for each asset class to 
provide sufficient flexibility to take advantage of shorter-term market opportunities as they may occur. The asset 
allocation shall be sufficiently diversified to maintain risk at a reasonable level without imprudently sacrificing 
return.  
 
The target allocation to each asset class will differ between the various pools as denoted in a previous section of 
this Policy. The asset allocation of each of the individual investment pools and the total combined pool are 
summarized in Appendix I – Asset Allocation Targets and Rebalancing Policy.  
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V.  MANAGER SELECTION 
 
For the Strategic Capital and Reserve Pools, the Investment Committee, with the guidance and recommendations 
of the consultant, is responsible for the selection and continued monitoring of qualified, competent investment 
managers in accordance with University policy and Florida law. 
 
For the Working Capital Pool, staff is authorized to invest in the following managers and investments: 
 
• Florida State Treasury 
• State Board of Administration 
• Qualified Public Depositories as defined by the State of Florida 
• U.S. Government and its Agencies 
• Money Market and Short Term Fixed Income Funds rated AA or higher by at least two of the following 

ratings agencies: Moody’s Investors Service, Standard & Poor’s and Fitch. 
 
 
VI. PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT & EVALUATION 
 
Investment objectives provide quantifiable standards to measure and evaluate the progress of both the investment 
pools and each individual investment manager. For the purpose of monitoring and evaluating the ongoing 
investment activity and results, both relative and comparative performance standards and objectives are defined. 
 
Relative standards are used to review the return and risk at both the pool and individual manager level. The 
relative standards for the pool level will represent a target policy index that will be constructed from the relative 
market indices weighted by the Portfolio’s target allocation to each asset class. Each individual investment 
manager will be evaluated relative to an appropriate benchmark. An appropriate benchmark is defined as an 
identifiable market index or a “normal” portfolio that is constructed to replicate the manager’s investment style. 
Benchmarks for each investment manager are identified in the Individual Manager section of this document. 
 
Comparative standards are used to evaluate the returns of both the pool and each of its asset class components. 
 
Investment objectives are established to measure the long-term (3 to 5 years) results of the Total Pool and each 
investment manager. The Committee must recognize the limitations of reviewing results over short-term horizons; 
however, current performance can serve as an early indication of the Portfolio’s progress toward meeting the 
more fundamental primary objectives. 
 
The Portfolio’s performance objectives may be divided into two components: objectives for the overall fund and 
objectives for the individual portfolio components. Both levels of objectives will be incorporated into quarterly 
reviews of the Portfolio’s performance. The performance objectives for each individual investment pool and the 
Total Combined Pool are detailed in Appendix II – Performance Objectives. 
 

REASON FOR POLICY (O*) 
 

This document will provide the framework for the investment management of the Portfolio. Specifically, it will 
address: 
• The general goals of the investment Portfolio 
• The guidelines and parameters for the management of the Portfolio 
• The asset allocation guidelines 
• Performance objectives 
 
This Policy is intended to allow for sufficient flexibility in the management process to capture investment 
opportunities as they may occur, yet set forth reasonable parameters to ensure prudence and care in the execution 
of the investment program. 
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RELATED INFORMATION (O*) 

 
APPENDIX I – Asset Allocation Targets & Rebalancing Policy 
 
Asset Allocation Guidelines 
 
The asset allocation guidelines differ between the various pools, and are summarized as follows: 
   

 Working 
Capital Pool 

Strategic 
Capital Pool Reserve Pool 

Total 
Combined Pool 

% of Total Combined Pool 30% 60% 10% 100% 
     
Cash Equivalents 40.00% 0.00% 0.00% 12.00% 
Short-Int. Fixed Income 60.00% 0.00% 0.00% 18.00% 
Fixed Income (Inv. Grade) 0.00% 18.6029.50% 18.6029.50% 13.0020.65% 
High Yield 0.00% 8.5010.00% 8.5010.00% 67.00% 
Credit Fixed Income 0.00% 5.70% 5.70% 4.00% 
     Total Fixed Income 100.00% 32.8039.50% 32.8039.50% 53.0057.65% 
TIPS 0.00% 14.300% 14.300% 10.009.80% 
Commodities 0.00% 9.3010.00% 9.3010.00% 6.507.00% 
REITS 0.00% 4.305.50% 4.305.50% 3.0085% 
MLPs 0.00% 7.10% 7.10% 5.00% 
     Total Real Assets 0.00% 35.0029.50% 35.0029.50% 24.5020.65% 
Domestic Equity 0.00% 4.305.50% 4.305.50% 3.0085% 
International Equity 0.00% 4.305.50% 4.305.50% 3.0085% 
Private Equity 0.00% 9.3010.00% 9.3010.00% 6.507.00% 
     Total Equity 0.00% 17.9021.00% 17.9021.00% 12.5014.70% 
     Absolute Return 0.00% 14.3010.00% 14.3010.00% 107.00% 
Total 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 

                 
Asset Allocation Ranges and Rebalancing 
 
Asset allocation refers to the strategic deployment of assets among the major classes of investments such as 
domestic equity, fixed income and cash equivalents. The asset allocation decision reflects the Portfolio’s return 
requirements as well as the Portfolio’s tolerance for return variability (risk) within the context of the expected 
liabilities of the fund. Asset allocation is widely recognized and accepted as the primary source of return and risk 
for an investment program.  It is used for setting the parameters for long term risk and return in order to meet the 
University’s long-term financial objectives.  
 
The tables below set forth the asset allocation for the Portfolio, the strategic target weights and the allowable 
ranges around the target weights: 
 

Total Combined Pool  Target (%) Minimum (%) Maximum (%) 
Working Capital Pool 30.00% 25.00% 93.00% 
Strategic Capital Pool  60.00% 0.00% 70.00% 
Reserve Pool 10.00% 7.00% 20.00% 

 
 

Working Capital Pool  Target (%) Minimum (%) Maximum (%) 
Cash Equivalents  40.00% 0.00% 100.00% 
Short Term Fixed Income  60.00% 0.00% 90.00% 
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Strategic/Reserve Capital Pools  Target (%) Minimum (%) Maximum (%) 
Fixed Income (Inv. Grade) 18.60% 13.60% 23.60% 
High Yield 8.50% 5.00% 12.00% 
Credit Fixed Income 5.70% 3.00% 8.00% 
TIPS 14.30% 5.00% 19.00% 
Commodities 9.30% 6.00% 13.00% 
REITS 4.30% 2.50% 8.00% 
MLPs 7.10% 4.00% 10.00% 
Domestic Equity 4.30% 2.50% 8.00% 
International Equity 4.30% 2.50% 8.00% 
Private Equity 9.30% 5.00% 13.00% 
Absolute Return 14.30% 10.00% 17.00% 

 
   

Strategic Capital Pool  Target (%) Minimum (%) Maximum (%) 
Cash Equivalents 0.00% 0.00% 5.00% 
Fixed Income (Investment. Grade) 29.50% 20.50% 34.50% 
TIPS 14.00% 5.00% 19.00% 
Absolute Return 10.00% 5.00% 15.00% 
High Yield 10.00% 5.00% 15.00% 
Commodities 10.00% 7.50% 12.50% 
REITS 5.50% 3.00% 12.00% 
International Equity 5.50% 2.50% 8.50% 
Domestic Equity 5.50% 2.50% 8.50% 
Private Equity 10.00% 5.00% 15.00% 

 
Reserve Pool  Target (%) Minimum (%) Maximum (%) 
Cash Equivalents 0.00% 0.00% 5.00% 
Fixed Income (Investment. Grade) 29.50% 20.50% 34.50% 
TIPS 14.00% 5.00% 19.00% 
Absolute Return 10.00% 5.00% 15.00% 
High Yield 10.00% 5.00% 15.00% 
Commodities 10.00% 7.50% 12.50% 
REITS 5.50% 3.00% 12.00% 
International Equity 5.50% 2.50% 8.50% 
Domestic Equity 5.50% 2.50% 8.50% 
Private Equity 10.00% 5.00% 15.00% 

 
Portfolio rebalancing is designed to provide a disciplined approach to control the risk exposure of the Portfolio to 
the investment categories that have deviated from the established target policy weights.  Rebalancing parameters 
are addressed at the asset class level. Rebalancing requires a reallocation to be made whenever the quarter-end 
allocations exceed the minimum or maximum allocations specified above. Naturally occurring cash flows shall be 
used to the fullest extent possible to minimize transaction costs and rebalance toward policy targets.   
 
The funding of the private equity asset class occurs over the term of the investment.  In order to maintain the 
Policy’s overall target allocation to equity, the Portfolio may maintain an overweight (or underweight) position to 
public equity no greater than the corresponding underweight (or overweight) target allocation to private equity.  
The staff and consultants will annually review the rebalancing to take into account the funding of private equity. 
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Appendix II – Performance Objectives 
 
The performance objectives for the overall fund are threefold: 
 
1. Objective relative to asset allocation targets 
2. Objective relative to capital market assumptions 
3. Objective relative to inflation 
 
The first objective results in a comparative index that reflects the University’s unique asset allocation policy (see 
example in Table 1). Exceeding this objective indicates that the active management of the various portfolio 
components has added value over a passively-managed fund with a similar asset mix. The second objective, to 
compare asset class performance to the capital market assumptions, ensures that the asset mix continues to 
achieve the long-term goals of the Portfolio. The inflation objective requires that the investment performance 
provide an adequate real return over the expected rate of inflation, the primary driver of costs. 
 
Individual portfolio components also have performance objectives reflecting the unique investment style of each 
category. The investment style and performance benchmarks are also shown below: 
 
Five-Year Performance Objectives Methodology 
Relative to asset allocation targets, indexes that represent appropriate asset classes 
 

Target Portfolio Weight x Representative cash equivalent portfolio 
Target Portfolio Weight x Investment grade fixed income index 
Target Portfolio Weight x TIPS index 
Target Portfolio Weight x Credit fixed income index 
Target Portfolio Weight x Absolute return benchmark 
Target Portfolio Weight x High yield fixed income index 
Target Portfolio Weight x Global REIT index 
Target Portfolio Weight x Commodity index 
Target Portfolio Weight x MLP index 
Target Portfolio Weight x Broad U.S equity index 
Target Portfolio Weight x International equity index 
Target Portfolio Weight x Private equity benchmark 
100% Total Portfolio Benchmark 

 
Total Combined Pool Objectives (net of all fees and costs) 
Relative to asset allocation targets, index weighted by: 
 
 30.00% x 91-Day Treasury Bill rate 

13.0020.65% x Barclays U.S. Aggregate Bond Index 
 10.009.80% x Barclays TIPS Index  

4.00% x Barclays U.S. Credit Index 
 67.00% x ML High Yield Master II Index 
 107.00% x CPI + 3.25% (Absolute Return benchmark) 
 6.507.00% x Dow Jones - UBS Commodity Index 

5.00% x Alerian MLP Index  
 3.0085% x FTSE EPRA / NAREIT Developed Real Estate 
 3.0085% x Wilshire 5000 Index (US Equity broad market) 
 3.0085% x MSCI All Country World ex-U.S. Index (int’l equity market) 
 6.507.00% x Wilshire 5000 (1-quarter lag) + 3%  
 100.00% Total Combined Pool Benchmark 
 
Relative to inflation: Consumer Price Index + 3.5% 
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Working Capital Pool Objectives (net of all fees and costs) 
Relative to asset allocation targets, index weighted by: 
 
 100.00% x 91-Day Treasury Bill rate  
 100.00% Working Capital Pool Benchmark 
 
Strategic Capital and Reserve Pool Objectives (net of all fees and costs) 
Relative to asset allocation targets, index weighted by: 
 
 18.6029.50% x Barclays U.S. Aggregate Bond Index 
 14.3000% x Barclays TIPS Index  

5.70% x Barclays U.S. Credit Index 
 14.3010.00% x CPI + 3.25%   (Absolute Return benchmark) 
 8.5010.00% x ML High Yield Master II Index 
   4.305.50% x FTSE EPRA / NAREIT Developed Real Estate 
 9.3010.00% x Dow Jones – UBS Commodity Index 

7.10% x Alerian MLP Index 
 4.305.50% x Wilshire 5000 Index (US Equity broad market) 
 4.305.50% x MSCI All Country World ex-U.S. Index (int’l equity market) 
 9.3010.00% x Wilshire 5000 (1-quarter lag) + 3%  
 100.00% Strategic Capital or Reserve Pool Benchmark 
 
Relative to capital market assumptions: (Wilshire’s Asset Allocation Return and Risk Assumptions, most recent 
published date, or equivalent publication). 
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RESPONSIBILITIES (O*) 

LEGAL AUTHORITY:   
 
The BOT is authorized to adopt an Investment Policy pursuant to Section 1011.42 and 218.415 of the Florida Statutes. 

 

HISTORY (R*) 

Effective Date: June 29, 2005; Revision Date(s): September 11, 2007; March 12, 2008; March 30, 2009; June 12, 2009; September 
24, 2010, March 14, 2012, and September 10, 2013 and January 14, 2015. 
. 

 

RESPONSIBLE UNIVERSITY DIVISION/DEPARTMENT (R*)  

Office of the Treasurer 
Finance and Administration 

The University Policies and Procedures Library is updated 
regularly.  In order to ensure a printed copy of this document 
is current, please access it online at http://policies.fiu.edu/ . 

RESPONSIBLE ADMINISTRATIVE OVERSIGHT (R*) 
 
 

University Treasurer 
Florida International University 

11200 S.W. Eighth Street, MARC 110 
Miami, Florida 33199 

Telephone: (305) 348-2544 
Facsimile: (305) 348-2990 

For any questions or comments, the “Document Details” 
view for this policy online provides complete contact 
information. 

 

FORMS/ONLINE PROCESSES (O*) 

Links to the above referenced Form(s) available in the "Document Details" Section of the online version of this policy document. 
*R = Required *O = Optional 
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Agenda Item 3                                                               FA3 
        

 THE FLORIDA INTERNATIONAL UNIVERSITY  
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

Finance and Audit Committee 
January 14, 2015 

 
Subject:  Performance Based Funding Metrics 

A. Performance Base Funding – Data Integrity Certification 
B. Audit of Performance Based Funding Metrics: Good Process Controls 

Contribute to their Reliability 
 

 
Proposed Committee Action: 

Recommend that the Florida International University Board of Trustees:  
1. Approve the Performance Base Funding – Data Integrity Certification to be signed by 

the Chairman of the Board of Trustees; and 
 

2. Approve the Audit Report - Audit of Performance Based Funding Metrics: Good 
Process Controls Contribute to their Reliability 

 
 

Background Information: 
This item is presented pursuant to a request from the State University System of Florida 
Board of Governors (BOG) dated June 27, 2014.  At the direction of the FIU Board of 
Trustees (the BOT), the Chairman of the BOT and President of the University shall execute 
a Data Integrity Certification furnished by the BOG and approve an audit performed by the 
University’s Internal Audit Director to ensure the completeness, accuracy and timeliness of 
data submissions to the Board of Governors.  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Supporting Documentation: 
 
 

Data Integrity Certification 
 
Good Process Controls Contribute to their Reliability 
 
 

Facilitator/Presenter: Allen Vann 
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OBJECTIVES, SCOPE, AND METHODOLOGY 
 
Pursuant to a request by the State University System of Florida - Board of Governors 
(BOG), we have completed an audit of the Data Integrity over the University’s 
Performance Based Funding Metrics.  The primary objectives of our audit were to: 
 
(a) Determine whether the processes established by the University ensures the 

completeness, accuracy and timeliness of data submissions to the BOG, which 
support the Performance Based Funding Metrics; and,  

 
(b)  Provide an objective basis of support for the University Board of Trustees Chair 

and President to sign the representations made in the Performance Based Funding 
- Data Integrity Certification which will be submitted to the Board of Trustees and 
filed with the BOG by March 1, 2015.  

 
The BOG requested that at a minimum, our audit include a review of: 
 

BOG Minimum Audit Objectives 
1.  The appointment of the Data Administrator by the University President and that 

duties related to these responsibilities are incorporated into the Data Administrator’s 
official position description. 
 

2.  The processes used by the Data Administrator to ensure the completeness, 
accuracy and timely submission of data to the Board of Governors. 
 

3.  Any available documentation including policies, procedures, desk manuals of 
appropriate staff and to assess their adequacy for ensuring data integrity for 
university data submissions to the Board of Governors. 
 

4.  System access controls and user privileges to evaluate if they are properly assigned 
and periodically reviewed to ensure only those authorized to make data changes do 
so. 
 

5.  Testing of data accuracy through tracing sampled items to source documents. 
 

6.  The veracity of the university Data Administrator’s data submission statements that 
indicate, “I certify that this file/data represents the position of this University for the 
term being reported.” 
 

7.  The consistency of data submissions with the data definitions and guidance 
provided by the Board of Governors through the Data Committee and 
communications from data workshops. 
 

8.  The University Data Administrator’s data resubmissions to the Board of Governors 
with a view toward ensuring these resubmissions are both necessary and 
authorized. This review should also evaluate how to minimize the need for data 
resubmissions. 
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Our audit was conducted in accordance with the International Standards for the 
Professional Practice of Internal Auditing, and included tests of the supporting records 
and such other auditing procedures as we considered necessary under the 
circumstances.  We also applied the following frameworks and standards: 1) Control 
Objective for Information and Related Technology 5.0 framework (COBIT), and 2) 
National Institute of Standards and Technology special publication 800–53A Revision 1 
guidelines (NIST). 
 
During the audit we: 
 

1. Obtained an understanding of the process flow of data for all of the relevant data 
files from the transactional level to their submission to the BOG; 
 

2. Reviewed all BOG data definitions; 
 

3. Interviewed key personnel including the University’s Data Administrator, 
functional unit leads, and those responsible for developing and maintaining the 
information systems;  

 

4. Observed current practices and processing techniques; 
 

5. Tested the latest data files for the 10 performance based funding metrics 
submitted to the BOG as of September 30, 2014. Sample sizes and transactions 
selected for testing were determined on a judgmental basis; and 

 

6. Tested the system access controls and user privileges within the State University 
Database System (SUDS) staging tables and production environment. 

 
Audit fieldwork was conducted from July to November 2014.  There were no external or 
internal audit reports issued within the past three years related to the scope and 
objectives of this audit, which would otherwise require follow-up.  
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BACKGROUND 
 
The Florida Board of Governors (BOG) has broad governance responsibilities affecting 
administrative and budgetary matters for Florida’s 12 public universities.  Beginning in 
fiscal year 2013-2014, the BOG instituted a performance funding program, which is 
based on 10 performance metrics used to evaluate the institutions on a range of issues 
including graduation and retention rates, job placement, and cost per degree, among 
other things.  Two of the 10 metrics are Choice metrics; one picked by the BOG and 
one by each University’s Boards of Trustees. These metrics were chosen after 
reviewing over 40 metrics identified in the Universities’ Work Plans.   
 
The BOG model has four guiding principles: 
  

1) use metrics that align with SUS Strategic Plan goals; 
 

2) reward Excellence or Improvement; 
 

3) have a few clear, simple metrics; and 
 

 4)  acknowledge the unique mission of the different institutions.  
 
The Performance Funding Program also has four key components: 
 

1) Institutions are evaluated and receive a numeric score for either Excellence or 
Improvement relating to each metric; 
 

2) Data is based on one-year data; 
 

3) The benchmarks for Excellence were based on the Board of Governors 2025 
System Strategic Plan goals and analysis of relevant data trends, whereas the 
benchmarks for Improvement were decided after reviewing data trends for each 
metric; and 

 

4) The Florida Legislature approved $100 million in new funding for performance 
funding and a proportional amount totaling $65 million came from each 
university’s recurring state base appropriation and another $35 million came from 
other system initiatives. 

 
 
The following table summarizes the performance funds allocated for the fiscal year 
2014-2015 using the performance metrics results from 2012-2013, wherein FIU earned 
34 points.   
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 *The maximum point an institution can score is 50. Institutions scoring 25 points or less do not receive any new funds. 
Funds at risk will be restored if the improvement plan approved by the BOG is successfully implemented.  
Notes: 
1 

Each university contributed a portion of their base budget, for a total of $65 million, to be allocated based on 
performance. Universities that had 26 points or higher receive their full base funding restored. Universities with 25 
points or less have to submit an improvement plan to be approved by the BOG. Restoration of their base funding is 
contingent upon successful implementation of the improvement plan. 

2 
In 2013-2014, $15 million was provided to the BOG to provide grants to address targeted program areas as 

identified in the GAP Analysis Report prepared by the Commission on Florida Higher Education Access & Attainment. 
These funds are reallocated in 2014–2015 pursuant to the BOG’s performance model.  
3 

In 2013-2014, $20 million was provided for performance funding to be allocated based on 3 metrics identified in 
legislation. These funds are reallocated pursuant to the BOG’s approved methodology adopted in November, 2013.  
However, universities that scored 25 points or less on the Board's performance model will only receive these funds 
upon successful implementation of the improvement plan.  

Florida Board of Governors Performance Funding Allocation, 2014-2015 

  
Points

* 
Allocation of 
New Funds 

Restoration of 
2013-2014 

 Base Funds1 

Allocation of 
Funds 

Previously 
used in 2013-
2014 for the 

Team Grants2 

Allocation of 
2013-2014 

Performance 
Funds3 

Total 
Performance 

Funding 
Allocation 

UF 42 $  22,453,117 $  12,199,069 $   3,367,967 $   1,739,130 $  39,759,283

USF 37 $  17,099,675 $    9,004,505 $   2,564,951 $   2,608,696 $  31,277,827

FIU 34 $  13,912,467 $    7,103,925 $   2,086,870 $   2,173,913 $  25,277,175

UCF 34 $  16,757,792 $    8,953,386 $   2,513,669 $   2,608,696 $  30,833,543

FSU 33 $  16,426,934 $  10,677,507 $   2,464,040 $   2,173,913 $  31,742,394

FGCU 30 $    3,297,844 $    2,143,599 $      494,677 $   2,173,913 $    8,110,033

FAMU 29 $    5,541,681 $    3,602,093 $      831,252  $      869,565 $  10,844,591

UNF 29 $    4,510,490 $    2,931,819 $      676,574 $   2,173,913 $  10,292,796
Sub – 
Total $100,000,000 $  56,615,903 $ 15,000,000 $ 16,521,739  $188,137,642

    
2013-2014 Base 
Funds at Risk 

2013-2014 
Performance 
Funds at Risk 

Total Funds at 
Risk 

NCF 25   $       645,594   $     434,783 $    1,080,377

FAU 24   $    5,213,263   $  1,739,130  $    6,952,393 

UWF 21   $    2,525,240   $  1,304,348 $    3,829,588
Sub – 
Total   $                   0  $    8,384,097 $                 0 $  3,478,261 $  11,862,358

Total   $100,000,000  $  65,000,000 $15,000,000 $20,000,000  $200,000,000 
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The Office of Planning and Institutional Research (OPIR) is the official source of FIU’s 
statistics. The OPIR provides statistical information to support decision making 
processes within all academic and administrative units at FIU, prepares reports and files 
for submission to the BOG and other agencies.  OPIR is also responsible for data 
administration, surveys, assessment of instruction, enrollment planning, and strategic 
planning.  The OPIR, through the Data Administrator who reports to the Associate 
Provost, is responsible for gathering data from all applicable University units, preparing 
the data to meet BOG data definitions and requirements, and submitting the data.   
 
At FIU, the Performance Funding Metrics reporting process flow consists of four layers 
that range from the University Production environment to the State University Database 
System application: (1) The Production data originated at the functional units, the 
Registrar’s Office, Academic Advising, Financial Aid, and Financial Planning 
departments is sent to (2) Staging tables.  In the Staging environment, dedicated 
developers perform data element calculations that are based on BOG guidelines and 
are also used to develop the Internal Portal. Once the calculations are completed, the 
data elements are formatted into text files and moved to the (3) Upload folder.  Users 
then log into the (4) State University Database System (SUDS) and depending on their 
roles, either upload, validate, or submit the data. The diagram below illustrates our 
testing on the effectiveness of the operational controls and the information system 
access controls currently implemented in the overall data element process flow. 

 

Registrar’s Office

Institutional Research

Staging tables

Operational Controls

Information Systems Controls

1. Production

2. Staging

4. SUDS

UTS Developers

Academic Advising

Financial Planning

Internal Portal

3. Upload
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FINDINGS 
 
Based on our audit we concluded that there are no material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies in the processes established by the University to report required data to the 
Board of Governors in support of their Performance Based Funding Metrics.  While 
there is always room for improvement as outlined in the detailed findings and 
recommendations that follow, the system is functioning in a manner that can be relied 
upon to provide complete, accurate and relatively timely data.  
 

Accordingly, in our opinion, this report provides an objective basis of support for the 
Board of Trustees Chair and the University President to sign the representations made 
in the BOG Performance Based Funding – Data Integrity Certification, which the BOG 
requested be filed with them by March 1, 2015.  
 
Our evaluation of FIU’s operational and system access controls that fall within the scope 
of our audit is summarized in the following table:  
 

 

INTERNAL CONTROLS RATING 
CRITERIA SATISFACTORY FAIR INADEQUATE 
Process Controls x   

Policy & 
Procedures 
Compliance 

x   

Effect x   
Information Risk x   
External Risk x  

INTERNAL CONTROLS LEGEND 
CRITERIA SATISFACTORY FAIR INADEQUATE 
Process Controls Effective Opportunities 

exist to 
improve 
effectiveness 

Do not exist or are not 
reliable 

Policy & 
Procedures 
Compliance 

Non-compliance 
issues are minor 

Non-
compliance 
Issues may be 
systemic 

Non-compliance issues 
are pervasive, 
significant, or have 
severe consequences 

Effect Not likely to impact 
operations or 
program outcomes  

Impact on 
outcomes 
contained 

Negative impact on 
outcomes 

Information Risk Information systems 
are reliable 

Data systems 
are mostly 
accurate but 
can be 
improved 

Systems produce 
incomplete or inaccurate 
data which may cause 
inappropriate financial 
and operational 
decisions 

External Risk None or low Potential for 
damage 

Severe risk of damage 
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Our detailed review of the BOG’s minimum audit objectives and their results follows: 
 

1. Data Administrator Authority and Responsibility 
 

BOG Request: Review the appointment of the Data Administrator by the University 
President and that duties related to these responsibilities are incorporated into the Data 
Administrator’s official position description.  

 
BOG Regulation 3.007(2), states, “Each University President shall appoint an 
Institutional Data Administrator to certify and manage the submission of data to the SUS 
management information system.” The Division of Human Resources provided us a 
copy of a letter signed on August 26, 2014 by the University President, appointing the 
Institutional Data Administrator for FIU.   
 
Although the Data Administrator has been performing the duties since 2006, her 
position description and remuneration changed on January 18, 2014 to include duties 
related to the BOG data submission; one of the duties added to the Data Administrator’s 
position description was “compile, verify and organize the data to fulfill the BOG 
requirements for the university’s ongoing program review.” In addition, another duty 
listed in the job description read, “provides relevant, timely and accurate institutional 
information to university administrators, the university community at large, the external 
community, and external agencies; provides institution-wide support for obtaining data 
and information and performing analyses in a variety of higher education areas, such as 
enrollment management, finances, faculty and staffing, service delivery, student affairs, 
and academic support.”   
 
Conclusion:  
 
Although the Data Administrator’s appointment by the University President occurred in 
late August 2014, after our audit fieldwork began, the duties and added responsibilities 
of the position were appropriately re-defined and approved by the Division of Human 
Resources in January 2014. 
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2. Review of Processes Used by the Data Administrator  
 

BOG Request: Review of the processes used by the Data Administrator to ensure the 
completeness, accuracy and timely submission of data to the Board of Governors. 
 
The Data Administrator provided us with an understanding of how the University 
ensures the completeness, accuracy and timely submission of data to the BOG.  OPIR 
developed a tool within PeopleSoft that generates edit reports similar to the ones found 
in the State University Database System (SUDS).  This tool allows functional unit users 
more time to work on their file(s) since the BOG edits are released closer to the 
submission deadline. The purpose of the review is for functional unit users to correct 
any problems concerning transactional errors before submitting the files. We found that 
the Registrar’s Office, which handles 5 of the 10 metrics, uses this tool.   The Data 
Administrator’s team then routinely reviews the error reports and summary reports to 
identify and correct any data inconsistencies.  According to OPIR they plan to extend 
the use of the tool to all appropriate users. 
 
In addition to the internal reports, the BOG has built into SUDS a data validation 
process through many diagnostic edits that generate errors by critical level.  SUDS also 
provides summary reports and frequency counts that allows for trend analysis. The 
OPIR team reviews the SUDS reports and spot–checks records to verify the accuracy of 
the data. Once satisfied as to the validity of the data, the file is approved for submission.  
 
We also met with the Vice Provost for the Office of Planning and Institutional Research, 
the Director of Institutional Research (Data Administrator) and the Assistant Director of 
Institutional Research to gain an understanding of the processes in place to gather, test, 
and ensure that only valid data, as defined by the BOG, is timely submitted to the BOG. 
The OPIR staff explained that the Data Administrator’s team is responsible for the day-
to-day reporting and understands the functional process flow, and that the Assistant 
Director of University Computer Systems is responsible for the data and understands 
the technical process flow. 
 
OPIR and University Technology Services (UTS) developed flow charts for us 
describing the process flow to prepare and submit data to the BOG for each of the 10 
metrics.  The BOG files submission cycle (listed below), were reviewed, observed and 
tested.     
 
Steps BOG Files Submission Cycle & Related Audit Observations 

1. The PeopleSoft team extracts data from the PeopleSoft database. Data are 
formatted according to BOG data elements definitions and table layouts. (We 
identified data elements definitions for each file and determined the formatting 
matches BOG definition.)  
 

2. The PeopleSoft team uploads data to SUDS and runs edits.  
 

3. SUDS edits the data for possible errors and generates dynamic reports. (We 
observed data errors for the last submittal, spring 2014, in order to identify and 
document the type and causes of errors.)  
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Steps BOG Files Submission Cycle & Related Audit Observations 
4. Functional unit users are notified that edits are ready to be reviewed. (The Data 

Administrator provided us with a sample of emails between OPIR, functional unit 
users, and BOG discussing errors, corrections, and re-submissions.) 
 

5. Functional unit users review the edits and make any required transactional 
corrections in the PeopleSoft database.  
 

6. OPIR Lead/PS Team/Functional unit users communicate by email, phone or in 
person about any questions/issues related to the file. 
 

7. Steps 1-6 are repeated until the freeze date. 
 

8. On the freeze date a final snapshot of the production data is taken.  
 

9. The file is finalized, making sure all Level-9 (critical) errors were corrected or can 
be explained.  
 

10. OPIR Lead reviews SUDS reports, spots-checks data and contacts functional 
unit users if there are any pending questions. (However, there was no 
documentation of the review of SUDS reports or technique used for spot- 
checking data.) 
 

 
In summary, the data is extracted from the PeopleSoft system and moved to a staging 
table where data calculation is performed for the elements required by the BOG.  The 
data extraction from the source document (PeopleSoft) and formatting according to 
BOG requirement was reviewed for all 10 metrics and each element/field was examined 
to determine the mapping of the production and staging fields.  There are four layers 
within the data process flow that included Production, Staging, Upload and the SUDS 
application. The Production Data element is extracted from Financial Planning, 
Financial Aid, Academic Advising and the Registrar’s Office.  The OPIR in collaboration 
with two application development teams from UTS translated the production data into 
separate staging database tables where the data elements were then programmatically 
calculated.  Data was then extracted from the Staging tables, formatted into specific file 
formats, and then uploaded to the SUDS online application.  
 
As for the timely submission of data, the OPIR used the due date schedule provided by 
the BOG as part of the SUS data workshop to keep track of the files due for submittal 
and their due dates.  The OPIR also maintains a schedule for each of the files to be 
submitted, which includes meeting dates with the functional unit leads, file freeze date, 
file due date, and actions (deliverables) for each date on the schedule. We observed 
that the file submission date was not evident.  Thus, we requested and were provided 
with the actual file submission dates noted below.   
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The following table reflects the due dates and actual submittal dates of the four most 
recent files due for the 2014-2015 submission period:  

 
File 

 
Title 

 
Term 

Due 
Date 

Submitted 
Date 

SIFD Degrees Awarded File Summer 2014 10/07/2014 10/08/2014
  SIFP Student Instruction File – Preliminary  Fall 2014 10/10/2014 10/30/2014
HTD Hours To Degree File Annual 2013 10/21/2014 11/19/2014
EA Expenditure Analysis File Annual 2013 10/28/2014 11/14/2014
 
We also reviewed data submission timeliness for select files with 2013-2014 due dates 
and observed they were similarly submitted late:   
 

 ADM – The Admissions File for fall 2013 term due on 9/27/13 was submitted on 
the due date but was not accepted by the BOG until 10/21/13. The Office of 
Planning and Institutional Research explained that the BOG’s delay in accepting 
the fall 2013 Admissions File resulted in a delay in submitting the fall 2013 SIFP 
File. The SIFP File was due on 10/11/2014 and was submitted on 10/22/2014, 
the day after the BOG accepted the ADM File.  

 
 HTD – The Hours To Degree File for annual 2012 due on 10/15/2013 was 

submitted on 11/4/2013. The Office of Planning and Institutional Research 
informed us that the delay in submitting the HTD File was due to the BOG 
releasing the HTD 2012-2013 edit on SUDS production late on 10/2/2013, nine 
days before the due date.  Email correspondence with BOG staff documents 
FIU’s request for clarifications.  The last email correspondence was on 
10/31/2013 where BOG staff provided clarification to FIU staff’s valid concerns 
relating to new BOG definitions.  

 
 EA – The Expenditure Analysis File for annual 2012 due on 10/22/2013 was 

submitted 10/24/2013, two days late.  
 
Conclusion: 
 
Our review disclosed that the process used by the Data Administrator provides 
reasonable assurance that complete, accurate and for the most part timely submissions 
occurred. There were instances where submissions were late. Apart from the 
aforementioned BOG interactions, we could not find any systemic reasons for such 
delays.  And while we found no material weaknesses, the process would benefit from 
better documentation of data validation and the review process undertaken. 
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3. Review Adequacy of Policies and Procedures  
 

BOG Request: Review of any available documentation including policies, procedures, 
desk manuals of appropriate staff and assess their adequacy for ensuring data integrity 
for University data submissions to the Board of Governors. 
 
The Office of Planning and Institutional Research provided a set of memos issued by 
the BOG between 2005 and 2008 as procedures followed by OPIR.  We found these 
memos to be outdated as the personnel and the systems documented in these memos 
were not current. The BOG Legacy Master files documentation included: Admissions 
File, Expenditure Analysis File, Instruction and Research File, Operating Budget File, 
and Student Data Course File.  However, the OPIR staff informed us that updates 
related to new or revised data elements, table layouts, and other file changes have 
been made since those records were published and provided the following: 
 

 SUDS Database Table Layout (2013-2014) 
 SUDS Database Cumulative Release Notes (2013-2014) 
 BOG 2013 Data Workshop proceedings 
 SUDS Basic Guide (adapted from the BOG SUDS Basic Guide)  

 
OPIR staff uses the BOG website for new information and were very familiar with all the 
BOG requirements and updates.  However, staff in functional units responsible for 
original source data indicated that they were not familiar with the process involved in 
ensuring the BOG data submission integrity.  All but the Registrar’s Office functional unit 
simply provides the data to the OPIR and makes corrections to data when they are 
informed of an error.  The Registrar’s Office uses the in-house developed PeopleSoft 
tool to validate data accuracy and correct any data errors prior to submittal and 
uploading to SUDS.  The tool helps prepare data for timely upload and minimize errors 
as the submittal window provided by the BOG was categorized by FIU staff as very 
short.  As previously noted, the Data Administrator informed us that the plan is to roll out 
the PeopleSoft tool to all of the appropriate functional units.   
 
We requested the Data Administrator to provide a narrative of any internal policies, 
procedures, minutes of staff meetings, or other documentation which evidence FIU’s 
effort to ensure integrity of data.  The Data Administrator explained that, “As part of the 
procedures to validate for ensuring data integrity for University data submissions to the 
Board of Governors, [they] set a list of milestones with deadlines for each file that is 
shared with the functional users.  [They] meet to discuss the deadlines/schedule to 
ensure that they are realistic and to discuss any foreseeable issues that may affect data 
integrity or the timely submission of the file.  During the meetings [they] verify that all 
individuals who will be involved in data validation have the necessary system access 
and understanding of what is expected from them. [They] also follow-up with additional 
meetings, as needed, emails and phone calls.”  
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Conclusion: 
 
Although the staff at the OPIR is knowledgeable of the BOG requirements and updates, 
we observed that there were no formal policies and procedures or written 
documentation over the process of data gathering, review and submittal to ensure data 
integrity for submission to the BOG.  
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4. System Access Controls and User Privileges  
 
BOG Request: Review system access controls and user privileges to evaluate if they 
are properly assigned and periodically reviewed to ensure only those authorized to 
make data changes do so. 
 
Identity Access Management 
 
There are four layers within the data process flow that included Production, Staging, 
Upload and the State University Database System application.  Figure 1 – Production 
Data Elements Process Flow illustrated the four departments of Financial Planning, 
Financial Aid, Academic Advising and the Registrar’s Office’s data that feed into the 
production system available to the Office of Planning and Institutional Research for 
analysis. There is a dedicated two-member application development team that 
translates production data into separate staging database tables where the data 
elements are then programmatically calculated. Data is then extracted from the Staging 
tables, formatted into specific file formats, and then uploaded to the State University 
Database System (SUDS) online application (see Background-Data Elements Process 

Flow diagram). 
 
Identity Access Management controls 
reviewed included system access 
policies, procedures, unique user 
identity, least privileged systems 
access and segregation of duties 
within the identified four layers of data 
flow process.  
 
Policies 
 
The PeopleSoft Campus Solutions 
Security Strategy manual is the access 
policy to the staging tables, which are 
the midway point between production 
data and the SUDS. The manual 

states that user access procedures for database tables will vary by database instances. 
Emails are used as formal access authorizations for the staging database tables.  
 

Figure 1 – Production Data Elements Process Flow
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For use of the State University Database 
System, the Master File Submission 
Subsystem Basic User Guide states that 
it is up to the Data Administrator and 
University policy to determine the 
granularity of the user access security 
and also encouraged the designation of 
at least one Submitter and one Security 
Manager. Currently, the Office of 
Planning and Institutional Research 
acknowledges that there is no formal access policy implemented but they are working 
on an online process to keep track of SUDS access requests.  Without a formal access 
policy, the Office of Planning and Institutional Research’s user access procedures could 
potentially be performed ineffectively and lead to inappropriate access. 
 
Procedures 
 
In the Staging environment, there were two new Database Administrators added to the 
staging tables. Their access was appropriately documented in accordance to the 
PeopleSoft Campus Solutions Security Strategy manual. 
 
The State University Database System access changes were initiated from informal 
requests made in meetings and conversations with the Data Administrator and the 
Assistant Director of the University Computer Systems. Of the 11 new submission 
privileges granted to the State University Database System, 7 did not have formal 
request documentation associated with their access. For deactivated user accounts, 6 
of the 21 user accounts 
were not deactivated 
timely. These 6 users were 
still active for 666 days on 
average after their 
termination date, as 
illustrated in Figure 3. 
 
The Master File 
Submission Subsystem 
Basic User Guide specifies 
that passwords should 
expire every 90 days and 
a new password should be 
required 4 times a year.  
One user was terminated on 7/7/2012.  However, her State University Database System 
password expired 555 days later on 1/13/2014. 
 
The lack of formal access request documentation, untimely user deactivation, and the 
continued use of a terminated user accounts increases the risk of inappropriate access 
within the State University Database System. 

Figure 2 - State University Database System Online 
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Figure 3- SUDS deactivated user accounts
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Unique Identity 
 
According to FIU Policy No. 1930.020a, electronic data must be accessed by way of a 
unique name or number for identifying and tracking the user’s identity. Of the 43 State 
University Database System user accounts, 29 staging database user accounts, and 5 
upload folder user access accounts examined, we found three identified generically- 
named user accounts which were used as system object connections but were not 
directly accessible to users.  This would indicate that the accounts are a low access 
risk.  Additionally, there was one generic installation account that still had its default 
password activated, however the account had no assigned privileges.  It is good 
practice to change default passwords to decrease the risk of unauthorized data access.  
  
Least Privileged  
 
According to COBIT 5.0 DSS05.04.01 and DSS06.03.03, user access privileges should 
be allocated and maintained based on what is only required to perform their job 
activities, business functions and process requirements.  Of the total 43 State University 
Database System users only one individual no longer needed access.  As information is 
pulled from production and copied to the staging environment, tests were performed to 
identify whether the 17 individuals directly involved in the data process flow had the 
ability to edit production data used in the calculations to the 79 in-scope data elements.  
Inappropriate access included software developers and senior management with edit 
privileges to 18 production data fields that were used in the calculation of 16 data 
elements.  Access privileges that are not part of their job responsibilities increase the 
risk to the integrity of the data elements. 
 
Segregation of Duties 
 
The overall process is adequately segregated as our testing revealed that no one 
individual had access to the production, staging and upload environments and also had 
the ability to submit files.  
 
Conclusion: 
 
The combination of system access control deficiencies noted above, while less severe 
than a material weakness in internal control, should nevertheless be promptly corrected 
or mitigated to reduce the likelihood that an unauthorized data change can be made and 
go undetected. 
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5. Data Accuracy Testing  
 
BOG Request: Test data accuracy through tracing sampled items to source documents. 
 
We identified the main data files and tables related to the calculations of the 10 
performance based funding metrics, as follows:  
 

 Degrees Awarded File;  
 Enrollments Table; 
 Expenditure Analysis File;  
 Retention File;  
 Student Instruction File;  
 Student Financial Aid File;  
 Courses To Degree Table; 
 Hours To Degree File; and  
 Person Demographic Table 

 
The BOG provided us with the in-scope data elements for each of the files (see 
Appendix A – In-scope BOG Data Elements).   
 
We tested data accuracy for each of the 10 metrics through the review of the 
corresponding data files, tables and elements and by tracing them to the source 
document data in PeopleSoft. We also performed a number of reconciliations. We 
limited our testing to the PeopleSoft data itself, as the objectives of our testing were to 
corroborate that the data submitted was in fact unabridged from/identical to the data 
contained in the University’s PeopleSoft system.   
 

Metrics Testing 
 

The University’s 10 performance based funding metrics were as follows: 
 
Key Metrics Common to All Universities: 

1. Percent of Bachelor's Graduates Employed and/or Continuing their Education 
Further 1 Year after Graduation. 

2. Median Average Full-time Wages of Undergraduates Employed in Florida 1 Year 
after Graduation. 

3. Average Cost per Undergraduate Degree to the Institution. 
4. Six Year Graduation Rate Full-time and Part-time FTIC. 
5. Academic Progress Rate 2nd Year Retention with GPA Above 2.0. 
6. Bachelor's Degrees Awarded in Areas of Strategic Emphasis (includes STEM). 
7. University Access Rate Percent of Undergraduates with a Pell-grant. 
8. Graduate Degrees Awarded in Areas of Strategic Emphasis (includes STEM). 

 
Institution-Specific Metrics: 

9. Percent of Bachelor’s Degrees without Excess Hours. 
 10. Bachelor’s Degrees Awarded to Minorities. 
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Metrics 1, 2, 6, 8, and 10 
 

The Degrees Awarded File is used for 5 of the 10 performance based funding 
metrics. We obtained the most current submission file contiguous with our audit 
fieldwork, which was submitted to the BOG in spring 2014. (The File is uploaded 
every semester, thus the spring 2014 uploaded in June 2014 was the most current 
file as of September 30, 2014.)   
 
The Degrees Awarded File we reviewed contained 4,617 students. This included 
out-of-term degrees from spring, summer, and fall of 2013 and excluded 49 spring 
degrees that were posted late and in turn were reported in summer 2014 as out-of-
term degrees.   
 
Among the 4,617 degrees, there were 474 double majors.  The BOG rule allows for 
multiple degrees to be counted individually, but not double majors.  Thus, double 
majors are counted as half (.5).  Our reconciliation of the Degrees Awarded File 
submitted to the BOG and the file provided to us by the Office of the Registrar 
resulted in differences in the number of degrees reported due to timing differences in 
posting the degrees (out-of-term degrees).  We determined that the 49 degrees 
posted late, were reported in summer 2014 as out-of-term degrees. We then tested 
10 students with two majors in the data file against the student’s record in 
PeopleSoft and found they had all been awarded two majors in spring 2014.   We 
then tested 10 students with two individual degrees (as opposed to a double major) 
in the data file against the student’s record in PeopleSoft and found they had all 
been properly awarded two majors in spring 2014.   

 
We examined all the BOG specified data elements in the Degrees Awarded File, 
including the CIP (Classification of Instructional Programs) code for Areas of 
Strategic Emphasis (Metrics 6 and 8), and the person demographic elements (Metric 
10). To calculate the results of Metrics 1 & 2, aside from using the data in the 
Degrees Awarded File, the BOG also uses non-FIU derived employment and 
education data, which we considered outside of the scope of the audit. 
 
Data for 21 sample students from the Degrees Awarded File were traced to the 
source document (student records and enrollment in PeopleSoft system) and we 
verified that the information for the elements being tested as reported to the BOG 
were the same as the data in the student information maintained in the University’s 
PeopleSoft system.  We reviewed each of the 21 students’ status and determined 
that 20 students graduated in spring 2014 and 1 student graduated in summer 2013, 
however, the one student was not included in the data submitted for summer or fall 
2013. OPIR personnel informed us that late degrees are reported in a subsequent 
submission, as required.   
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We also tested data reported for 15 sample students from the Enrollments Table and 
verified that the student’s Ethnicity/Race reported to the BOG matched the data in 
PeopleSoft, as part of our testing of Metric 10.   
 
The results of our testing found no differences in any of the data elements reviewed 
as part of the Degrees Awarded File reported in spring 2014.   

 
Metric 3 

 
The Expenditure Analysis (EA) File is used for Metric 3 (Average Cost per 
Undergraduate Degree to the Institution).  The file tested was submitted in October 
2013, the latest available as of September 30, 2014.  This metric identifies the full 
cost of instruction for each approved undergraduate program by the state. The 
complete cost of the programs is made up of direct instruction and indirect 
instruction expenditures.  The data for this file originates from two other files, the 
Operating Budget (OB) File and the Instruction and Research (IRD) File, and 
involves the calculations coming from a Crossover File, which provides for the 
percentages of expenditures based on Classification of Instructional Programs (CIP) 
codes. 
 
We obtained the EA File submitted, which contained over 363,000 records of 
program expenditures, analyzed each element and reconciled total expenditures in 
the OB to the EA File.  We selected 10 department numbers to test with their 
corresponding expenditures to ensure the data was properly captured from the OB 
File and matched properly with the EA File being reported to the BOG.  Finally, using 
the same 10 department numbers we recalculated the expenditures related to one 
specific CIP code.  For this test we utilized the Crossover File which provided us the 
total percentage code allocation by CIP code, as determined by the University.  
Thus, the selected CIP code percentage allocation from the Crossover File was 
multiplied by the department number’s expenditures to recalculate the specific CIP 
code expenditures based on the OB File, which was then agreed to the EA File 
expenditures filtered by that specific CIP code.    
 
The results yielded no discrepancies.  The OB File reconciled with the EA File as 
total expenditures submitted to the BOG in the amount of $424,781,382.73 matched 
in both files.  The 10 sample department numbers and their expenditures matched, 
as well as to each department’s percentage allocation recalculation based on the 
one CIP code. 

 
Metrics 4 and 5 

 
The Retention File is used for 2 of the 10 performance based funding metrics and is 
generated by the BOG from FIU’s SIF and SIFD Files.  Our tests of the SIF and 
SIFD Files are covered under other metrics. As the Retention File data is generated 
by the BOG, FIU’s Office of Planning and Institutional Research simply reconciles 
the data in the Retention File to the SIF and SIFD Files submitted to the BOG, and 
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investigates and resolves any differences.  We reviewed the OPIR’s reconciliation 
process conducted in January 2014 for the 2012-2013 file.   

                                                             
We concluded that OPIR staff adequately performed the reconciliation of data 
provided by the BOG against FIU data.  We reviewed a sample of errors found in the 
reconciliation and were satisfied with the process.  For example, in one instance, the 
BOG reported a Person ID mismatch that FIU staff determined had been previously 
updated by FIU, but was not reflected by the BOG.   

 
Metric 7 

 
The Student Instruction File is used for Metric 7 (University Access Rate Percent of 
Undergraduates with a Pell-grant).  This metric is based on the number of 
undergraduates enrolled during the fall term who received a Pell-grant during the 
term.  

 
We obtained the Enrollments Table for spring 2014 and the Student Financial 
Awards (SFA) File for the 2012-2013 academic year as these were the most current 
submissions as of September 30, 2014.  The Enrollments Table contained 
enrollment records for 50,083 students and the SFA File contained financial aid 
award information for 37,947 students.   

 
We also obtained the financial aid award records for the 2012- 2013 academic year 
as of November 2014 from Office of the Financial Aid and compared it to the SFA 
File submitted to the BOG.  We identified 1,385 students with different award 
amounts reported to the BOG as compared to the file provided by the Office of 
Financial Aid.  We reviewed select students’ financial aid award records in 
PeopleSoft and determined that the difference in the awarded amount was due to 
adjustments or additional awards that occurred after the submission to the 
BOG.  We also noted that financial compensation such as Federal Work Study was 
made by the University’s Division of Human Resources, therefore, not captured by 
the Office of Financial Aid.  All BOG files are point-in-time submissions and are 
certified by the functional unit users at the point of submission.  The difference 
between what was reported on the 2012-2013 BOG Student Financial Aid File and 
the data in the file provided by the Office of Financial Aid was due to timing.  

 
As part of testing the Enrollments Table, we selected a sample of 27 students and 
verified that the data provided to the BOG, specifically the BOG specified elements 
matched the University’s data maintained in PeopleSoft.  We found no differences in 
any of the 5 elements reviewed against the data submitted to the BOG for the 27 
students tested, except one student’s most recent admission date, which was 1 of 
the 5 tested elements.  We determined that the student was admitted in fall 2011 as 
an undergraduate student and in spring 2014 as a certificate – seeking student.  The 
student enrollment record in PeopleSoft had both of the admission dates for the 
student and his most recent admission was reported to the BOG.  OPIR staff 
informed us that in this case the student’s admission date for his undergraduate 
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degree is what should be used and are currently in discussions with the Registrar’s 
Office to adjust for these occurrences.   

 
Metric 9 

 
The Hours To Degree (HTD) File is used for Metric 9 (Percent of Bachelor’s Degrees 
without Excess Hours).  We obtained the Hours To Degree File submitted on 
10/13/13 for fall 2013, as the file is uploaded every year during fall and was the most 
current file as of September 30, 2014.  The Degrees Awarded File submitted in fall 
2013 contained 6,565 students with degrees awarded for summer 2012, fall 2012, 
and spring 2013. 

 
As part of our testing of the HTD File, we also obtained the Courses To Degree 
Table for all the students as this was needed to vouch the specific courses to the 
PeopleSoft system.  We sampled data for 12 students and verified that the students’ 
courses and related information in the Courses To Degree Table matched the data 
in PeopleSoft and found no differences in any of the 7 elements reviewed against 
the data submitted to the BOG for the 12 students tested. 

 
Conclusion: 
 
We successfully traced reported data to source documents on a sample basis, except 
for Metric 7 testing where we found one anomaly in handling data relating to multiple 
admission dates for one student.  
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6. Veracity of Data Administrator’s Certification 
 
BOG Request: Review the veracity of the University Data Administrator’s data 
submission statements that indicate, “I certify that this file/data represents the position 
of this University for the term being reported.” 
 

We were informed by the Data Administrator that prior to the current data system a 
facsimile was sent to the BOG with the statement, “I certify that this file/data represents 
the position of this University for the term being reported”.  However, after the 
replacement of the legacy system with SUDS it was agreed at a BOG Data 
Administrators’ meeting that the SUDS submittal was sufficient as digital signature and 
assertion that the data represents the position of the University for the term(s) being 
reported. We inquired from the BOG and confirmed that there is no physical certification 
statement that the Data Administrator has to sign and that the IRM will work on adding 
such a screen to the submission tool.  
 

Nonetheless, we asked the Data Administrator to explain what provides her reasonable 
assurance to assert that the data represents the position of the University for the term(s) 
being reported when submitting digitally.  The Data Administrator stated: “In addition to 
the BOG edits and the PeopleSoft edit tool previously described, to be satisfied with the 
validity of the data, my team and I use spot checking to review data at the transactional 
level. This includes selecting individual records and verifying that the data being 
reported accurately reflects what is in the production system. Any inconsistencies found 
are exhaustively investigated and the functional unit responsible is notified.  Finally, 
after I have verified that any known inconsistencies are resolved, I certify the 
submission.”    
 

As previously discussed in Finding No. 2, other than the flow chart (prepared on our 
behalf) describing the steps documenting data submission cycle there were no formal 
documentation of the steps taken, such as the spot checking and review of data at the 
transactional level as described by the Data Administrator to verify data accuracy by the 
Office of Planning and Institutional Research. The only documentation provided to us as 
support for data verification were examples of email communications with the functional 
units documenting how errors identified by the SUDS system are addressed.  When 
asked how the Data Administrator knows data is accurate, she stated that by examining 
the data and recognizing when the data does not seem reasonable compared to the 
prior year’s submission or the University’s records.  
 

On October 8, 2014 we observed submission of the SIFD File that was due on October 
7, 2014. The submission process included running the file in the SUDS and identifying 
any errors and warnings. We observed that the OPIR team worked with functional unit 
leads to correct or explain the errors.  
 

Conclusion:  
 

We found no material weaknesses or significant deficiencies other than the fact that the 
process would benefit from better documentation. The body of evidence appears to 
support the confidence the Data Administrator places in the established process 
controls when making the data submission to the BOG.  
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7. Consistency of Data Submissions with BOG Definitions 
 
BOG Request: Review the consistency of data submissions with the data definitions 
and guidance provided by the Board of Governors through the Data Committee and 
communications from data workshops. 
 
The Data Administrator described to us the efforts of the OPIR to ensure integrity of 
data through such means as BOG sponsored workshops, communications with the 
BOG Data Committee, internal discussions and communications, and adherence to 
procedures which require use of up-to-date data file definitions published by the BOG.  
The Data Administrator’s stated that, “Every year, my team and I attend the annual 
BOG sponsored Data Workshop to learn of any changes to the data definitions and 
receive guidance from the BOG staff for the next collection cycle.  During this workshop, 
there are several specialized meetings, such as the one for data administrators, where 
we can provide feedback on impending changes to the files.  This is also the opportunity 
to have meaningful discussions with the fellow SUS data administrators regarding best 
practices at their institution. In addition, whenever there is a change to the file, the BOG 
notified the data administrators and SUDS users by way of ‘cumulative release notes’… 
In addition, the SUS data administrators have quarterly conference calls to discuss 
policy and data matters.  Finally, whenever there is any ambiguity about a data element 
definition we contact the BOG staff for further guidance”.  
 
We observed that the Data Administrator/OPIR had BOG Data Workshop updates and 
cumulative release notes and they informed us that they attend the yearly Data 
Workshop and receive all updates. It was evident that the Data Administrator and the 
Assistant Director of Institutional Research were knowledgeable of the data definitions 
and the BOG requirements.  
 
We were informed that the SUDS system is programed to accept data with the required 
changes only, therefore, if OPIR attempts to submit data without the required updates 
the SUDS system will reject the data.   
 
As part of evaluating data validity controls to ensure that data extracted from the 
primary systems of record are accurate and complete we reviewed the changes 
implemented as a result of the IRM Data Workshop.  According to COBIT 5.0 Align, 
Plan and Organize (APO) 11.01.02, 11.01.03, and 11.01.04, effective change 
management procedures should include defined roles, decision rights and 
responsibilities; defined objectives that are in alignment with documented criteria; and 
are monitored for their effectiveness. The 4 selected changes requested from the June 
6, 2013 Higher Education Summit/SUS Data Workshop directly affecting the 
Expenditure Analysis, Hours To Degree, and Student Financial Aid submission files; 
along with the 13 change management tickets highlighted in the application code for the 
Retention and Graduation Rates and Percent of Bachelor’s Degrees Awarded Without 
Excess Hours, adequately documented the stakeholder, business analyst, developer, 
tester and approver to ensure that changes made to the data elements were in 
alignment with BOG criteria. 
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We also observed that change management tickets are created in the “PAWS” ticketing 
system and adequately documented the description, resolution, stakeholder, creator, 
developer, tester and approver for each of the 8 tickets tested.  
 
Conclusion:  
 
There were no reportable material weaknesses or significant control deficiencies that 
surfaced relating to consistency of data submissions with the data definitions and 
guidance provided by the Board of Governors through the Data Committee and 
communications from data workshops.  We also found that change management 
practices were proper. 
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8. Data Resubmissions 
 
BOG Request: Review the University Data Administrator’s data resubmissions to the 
Board of Governors with a view toward ensuring these resubmissions are both 
necessary and authorized. This review should also evaluate how to minimize the need 
for data resubmissions. 
 
We requested the Data Administrator to describe the nature and frequency of data 
resubmissions and to provide correspondence between the BOG and the University 
related to data resubmissions, to discuss lessons learned and determine if any future 
actions can be taken by the Office of Planning and Institutional Research that would 
reduce the need for resubmissions.  
 
The Data Administrator’s response was as follows, “Resubmissions are needed in the 
case of data inconsistencies detected by us or the BOG staff after the file has been 
submitted. Of course, our goal is to prevent any resubmissions; however, there are 
some instances when this happens. A common reason for not detecting the error before 
submission is because there are some inconsistencies that only arise when the data is 
cross-validated among multiple files... We used the resubmission process as a learning 
tool to identify ways to prevent having the same problems in the future.  When logic 
changes are implemented or added it is an additional edit in our internal tool.  In regards 
to the frequency of the resubmissions, we did a search in SUDS for files with due dates 
between July 1, 2012 and June 30, 2013 and found that we submitted 31 files to the 
BOG and resubmitted 4 files.”  In addition, for the period from July 1, 2013 through 
September 30, 2014, we were informed that 38 files were submitted and there were 10 
resubmissions, 7 of which related to the performance funding metrics. 
 
The following table describes the 7 files resubmitted and the reasons for resubmission.  

 
 

No. 
Due 
Date 

File 
Submission 

Term/ 
Year 

 
Reason for Resubmission 

1 8/19/2013 Operating Budget Annual 
2013 

Resubmitted because the Tuition 
Differential on the Supplemental 
form did not tie with the Schedule 
I report 625; and the Summary 
Schedule I and the E&G Schedule 
I - Tuition and Fees did not tie with 
report 580. 

2 9/13/2013 Student Instruction Summer 
2013 

Resubmitted at BOG’s request to 
remove 2 Personal ID changes 
that were conflicting with BOG 
data. 

3 10/8/2013 Instruction & Research Annual 
2012 

Resubmitted to correct length of 
dept. activity id and some other 
issues found while working in the 
EA File. 

4 1/17/2014 Student Instruction Fall 2013 Resubmitted at BOG’s request to 
fix one Personal ID change that 
was conflicting with BOG data. 
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No. 

Due 
Date 

File 
Submission 

Term/ 
Year 

 
Reason for Resubmission 

5 2/7/2014 Degrees Awarded Fall 2013 Resubmitted to fix Fee 
Classification Kind for some 
students from G to P. 

6 6/12/2014 Student Instruction Spring 
2014 

Resubmitted to correct total 
transfer credits for several 
students who graduated in spring 
2014.  While working on the SIFD 
spring 2014 file, OPIR noted that 
transfer credits were posted after 
SIF was submitted. 

7 6/25/2014 Degrees Awarded Spring 
2014 

Resubmitted because the BOG 
had a technical issue. After SIF 
was approved and SIFD was 
submitted, the system rejected 
SIF and it looked like SIF was not 
approved. Eventually, SIF was 
approved again and OPIR had to 
resubmit SIFD. 

 
In our review of the reasons for resubmissions, we found that requests were originated 
by both the BOG and FIU. The reasons for resubmission varied, such as the BOG 
requesting edits/additional information when a file does not reconcile with other records, 
FIU discovering some errors after submission, or when FIU brought up issues with the 
SUDS system that is either flagging the data with an error even though the information 
is accurate or rejects data filed (in such instance, FIU and BOG staff discuss the issue 
and SUDS system is reopened for resubmission).  In regards to the resubmissions 
being authorized, we observed that in all instances the BOG staff authorized the 
resubmission by reopening the SUDS system for resubmission.  
 
The 7 resubmissions were necessary and authorized, and as the Data Administrator 
explained above, some of the reasons for the resubmission are the subject of 
discussions between FIU and the BOG on how the process could be improved.  
 
Finally, we requested certain information from the BOG staff, which would allow us to 
independently confirm and reconcile the number and content of data submissions FIU 
staff provided to us.  However, to date, we have not received the requested information. 
 
Conclusion:  
 
There were no reportable material weaknesses or significant control deficiencies that 
surfaced relating to resubmissions.   
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RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

 

The  Office of Planning and Institutional Research should: 
 

 

1. 
 

Prepare internal written procedures that serve to enhance documentation of 
the steps taken to ensure data integrity including: data gathering, review, 
verification and analysis processes, and submission procedures. 
 

 

2. 
 

Further examine past instances of submittal delays to determine what steps 
can be taken to provide for timelier submittals. For example, rolling out OPIR’s 
internal edit tools to other users may speed up the process.  
 

 

3. 
 

Implement formal user access procedures that provides for : 
 

a) Tracking SUDS access requests and timely deactivation of terminated 
user’s access to the State University Database System; 

 

b) Limiting access to production data as appropriate; and 
 

c) The deactivation of the delivered generically-named user account. 
 

 

4. 
 

Continue to work with the Office of the Registrar to resolve how to properly 
report those limited instances where there are multiple admission dates for 
individual students. 
 

 
Management Response/Action Plan:  
 
1. The Office of Planning and Institutional Research (OPIR), in coordination with the 

BOG PantherSoft Team, will enhance the current BOG documentation with a 
manual of written procedures that document the steps taken to ensure the data 
integrity of the files before submission. 

 
 Implementation date:  March 2015 
 
2. In reviewing prior instances of submission delays, OPIR found that many of them 

were caused by the late release of the SUDS (State University Database 
System) edits by the BOG which do not provide users sufficient time to resolve 
transactional errors. To address this problem, the OPIR with the technical 
assistance of the BOG PantherSoft Team, developed an internal BOG edit and 
reports tool within the PantherSoft system. The internal edit tool provides edit 
reports to functional users months prior to the BOG deadline. Thus, allowing 
more time for the functional users to review the edit reports and correct the 
transactional errors. 
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The design phase for the tool began in January 2014. In February 2014, OPIR 
and the PantherSoft BOG team performed a parallel run with the official BOG 
edits to confirm that the new tool was working properly. By April 2014, the 
functional users of Undergraduate Admissions, Graduate Admissions and the 
Office of the Registrar were given access to the tool and were provided training 
on how to use it.  

 

Between July and December 2014, OPIR extended the use of the internal edit 
tool to the following functional units:  Chapman Graduate Admissions, University 
Graduate School, Enrollment Services, Class Management, Student Financials, 
Undergraduate Education and University College. Additionally, OPIR has trained 
these staff members to use the tool.  

 

Currently, the tool has edit reports for the Student Instruction File (Preliminary 
and Final) and the Admissions File. OPIR will enhance the existing edit tool to 
include additional files and edit reports and roll out access to the tool to the 
following functional areas: Office of the Registrar (Graduation Degrees Awarded 
File in January 2015); Office of Financial Aid (Student Financial Aid File in July 
2015); and Office of Academic Advising Technology (Hours to Degrees File in 
August 2015). 

 
 Implementation date:  August 2015 
 
3. a. The Office of Planning and Institutional Research is developing an electronic 

access request form using the PAWS system. PAWS will allow us to keep 
track of the requests and the final actions taken. The form will also be utilized 
to request user’s access deactivation. It should be noted that, with the 
exception of the few employees authorized to upload data or to submit the 
files, access to SUDS is limited to a “validator” role that provides only view 
access to the data.  

 

Currently, we are in the development and testing phases. Once these phases 
are finalized, the functional units will be provided with an access 
policy/training guide and the form will be launched. The guide will include a 
deactivation process where the directors of the functional units will be 
required to inform OPIR of any changes in their employees’ access 
requirements. OPIR will also schedule an annual review of SUDS users at the 
beginning of each fall term to confirm that all SUDS users meet the 
requirements to keep their access.  

 

Implementation date:  March 2015 
 

b. The Office of Planning and Institutional Research does not control access to 
production database systems but will establish annual communications with 
all Vice Presidents and Directors to remind them the importance of data 
integrity; particularly as it relates to the data that feeds the performance 
metrics and encourage them to manage production access appropriately. 

 

Implementation date:  January 2015  
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c. The PantherSoft team removed the generically-named user account from the 
development database. 

 
Implementation date:  Immediately 

 
4. The Office of Planning and Institutional Research will continue to have 

communications with the University Registrar quarterly to discuss any issues 
related to data integrity. 

 
 Implementation date:  January 2015 
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APPENDIX A 
In-Scope BOG Data Elements 

 
No. 

 
Metric 

 
Definition 

 
Submission/Table/Element Information 

Relevant 
Submission(s) 

1 Percent of 
Bachelor's 
Graduates 
Employed Full- time 
in Florida or 
Continuing their 
Education in the 
U.S. One Year After 
Graduation 

This metric is based on the 
percentage of a graduating class of 
bachelor’s degree recipients who 
are employed full- time in Florida or 
continuing their education 
somewhere in the United States. 
Students who do not have valid 
social security numbers are 
excluded. 
Note: Board staff have been in 
discussions with the Department of 
Economic Opportunity staff about 
the possibility of adding non- 
Florida employment data (from 
Wage Record Interchange System 
(WRIS2) to this metric for future 
evaluation. 
Sources: State University Database 
System (SUDS), Florida Education 
& Training Placement Information 
Program (FETPIP), National 
Student Clearinghouse. 

Submission:  SIFD 
Table:  Degrees Awarded 
Elements:   
01081 – Degree - Level Granted 
01412 – Term Degree Granted 
01045 – Reporting Institution 
 
 

June 25, 2014 
 

Submission:  Admissions 
Table:  Person Demographic 
Elements:   
01091 – Person Name -First 
01092 – Person Name - Middle 
01033 – Person Name - Last 
01024 – Date of Birth 
02016 – Person Name - Suffix 

 
August 31, 
2011 
 
December 31, 
2011 
 
May 31, 2012 

2 Median Wages 
of Bachelor’s 
Graduates 
Employed Full-time 
in Florida One Year 
After Graduation 

This metric is based on annualized 
Unemployment Insurance (UI) 
wage data from the fourth fiscal 
quarter after graduation for 
bachelor’s recipients. UI wage data 
does not include individuals who 
are self-employed, employed out of 
state, employed by the military or 
federal government, those without 
a valid social security number, or 
making less than minimum wage. 
Sources: State University Database 
System (SUDS), Florida Education 
& Training Placement Information 
Program (FETPIP), National 
Student Clearinghouse. 

Same as No. 1 above.  

3 Cost per 
Undergraduate 
Degree 

For each of the last four years of 
data, the annual total 
undergraduate instructional 
expenditures were divided by the 
total fundable student credit hours 
to create a cost per credit hour for 
each year. This cost per credit hour 
was then multiplied by 30 credit 
hours to derive an average annual 
cost. The average annual cost for 
each of the four years was summed 
to provide an average cost per 
degree for a baccalaureate degree 
that requires 120 credit hours. 
Sources: State University Database 
System (SUDS), Expenditure 
Analysis: Report IV (2009-2010 
through 2012-2013). 

Submission: IRD/OB 
Table: Expenditure Analysis Extract 
Elements: 
01045 – Reporting Institution 
01629 – Year - Fiscal 
01297 – Budget Entity Code 
01303 – Cost Activity 
01507 – College (Subcomponent) 
01506 – Account/Department Number,   

Activity 
01798 – University Budget Identifier 
01509 – Instruction and Research 
Activities 
01301 – Appropriation Category 
01302 – Object Code 
01516 – Instructor Portion of Fundable 

SCHs for the Course Section 
01176 – Person Years 
01307 – Actual/Estimated Expenditures 
01043 – Classification of Instructional 

Programs (CIP) 
 

October 22, 
2013 

4 Six Year FTIC 
Graduation Rate 

This metric is based on the 
percentage of first-time-in-college 
(FTIC) students who started in the 
Fall (or summer continuing to Fall) 
term and had graduated from the 
same institution within six years. 

Submission:  SIFD 
Table:  Degrees Awarded 
Elements:   
02001 – Reporting Time Frame 
 
 

June 25, 2014 
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In-Scope BOG Data Elements 
 

No. 
 

Metric 
 

Definition 
 

Submission/Table/Element Information 
Relevant 

Submission(s) 
Students of degree programs 
longer than four years (e.g., 
PharmD) are included in the 
cohorts. Students who are active 
duty military are not included in the 
data. 

 
Submission:  SIFP 
Table:  Enrollments 
Elements:   
01063 – Current Term Course Load 
01067 – Last Institution Code 
01068 – Type of Student at Date of Entry 
01085 – Institutional Hours for GPA 
01086 – Total Institutional Grade Points 
01088 – Term Credit Hours for GPA 
01089 – Term Credit Hours Earned 
01090 – Term Grade Points Earned 
 

August, 2013 

Submission:  SIF 
Table:  Enrollments 
Elements:   
01060 – Student Classification Level 
01112 – Degree Highest Held 
01107 – Fee Classification Kind 
01420 – Date of Most Recent Admission 
01413 – Type of Student at Time of Most 

Recent Admission 
01411 – Institution Granting Highest 

Degree 
01801 – University GPA (CUM & TERM) 
01433 – Full-time/Part-time Indicator 

June 12, 2014  

Submission:  Retention 
Table:  Retention Cohort Changes 
Elements:   
01429  –  Cohort Type 
01437  –  Student – Right-to-Know (SRK) 

Flag 
01442  –  Cohort Adjustment Flag 
 

2012-2013 
academic year 

5 Academic 
Progress Rate  
2nd Year Retention 
with GPA Above 2.0 

This metric is based on the 
percentage of first-time-in-college 
(FTIC) students who started in the 
Fall (or summer continuing to Fall) 
term and were enrolled full- time in 
their first semester and were still 
enrolled in the same institution 
during the Fall term following their 
first year with had a grade point 
average (GPA) of at least 2.0 at the 
end of their first year (Fall, Spring, 
Summer) 

Same as No. 4 above.  

6 Bachelor's  Degrees 
Awarded within 
Programs of 
Strategic Emphasis 
(includes STEM)  

This metric is based on the number 
of baccalaureate degrees awarded 
within the programs designated by 
the Board of Governors as 
‘Programs of Strategic Emphasis’. 
A student who has multiple majors 
in the subset of targeted 
Classification of Instruction 
Program codes will be counted 
twice (i.e., double-majors are 
included). 

Submission:  SIFD 
Table:  Degrees Awarded 
Elements:   
01082 –  Degree Program Category 
01083 –  Degree Program Fraction of 

Degree Granted (This field is a 
summed field) 

01045 –  Reporting Institution 
01412 –  Term Degree Granted 
01081 –  Degree Level Granted 
02015 –  Major Indicator 

June 25, 2014 
  

7 University Access 
Rate 
Percent of 
Undergraduates 
with a Pell-grant 

This metric is based the number of 
undergraduates, enrolled during the 
fall term, who received a Pell-grant 
during the fall term. Unclassified 
students, who are not eligible for 
Pell-grants, were excluded from 
this metric.  
 

Submission:  SIF 
Table:  Enrollments  
Elements:   
02041  – Demo Time Frame 
01045  – Reporting University 
01413  – Student at Most Recent 

Admission Type 
01060 –  Student Classification Level 
01053 –  Degree Level Sought 
01107 –  Fee Classification Kind 

June 12, 2014   
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In-Scope BOG Data Elements 
 

No. 
 

Metric 
 

Definition 
 

Submission/Table/Element Information 
Relevant 

Submission(s) 
 
Submission:  SFA 
Table:  Financial Aid Awards 
Elements:   
01045  –  Reporting University 
02040  –  Award Payment Term 
02037  –  Term Amount 
01253  –  Financial Aid Award Program 

Identifier 

 2012-2013 
academic year 
 

8 Graduate Degrees 
Awarded within 
Programs of 
Strategic Emphasis  
(includes STEM)  
Note: NCF does not 
award graduate 
degrees.  

This metric is based on the number 
of graduate degrees awarded 
within the programs designated by 
the Board of Governors as 
‘Programs of Strategic Emphasis’. 
A student who has multiple majors 
in the subset of targeted 
Classification of Instruction 
Program codes will be counted 
twice (i.e., double-majors are 
included).  

Same as No. 6 above.  

9 Percent of 
Bachelor’s degrees 
without excess hours 
 
Applies to: FAMU, 
FAU, FIU, FGCU, 
UCF, UNF, USF, 
UWF  
 

This metric is based on the 
percentage of baccalaureate 
degrees awarded within 110% of 
the credit hours required for a 
degree based on the Board of 
Governors Academic Program 
Inventory.  
Note: It is important to note that the 
statutory provisions of the “Excess 
Hour Surcharge” (1009.286, FS) 
have been modified several times 
by the Florida Legislature, resulting 
in a phased – in approach that has 
created three different cohorts of 
students with different 
requirements. The performance 
funding metric data is based on the 
latest statutory requirements that 
mandate 110% of required hours 
as the threshold. In accordance 
with statute, this metric excludes 
the following types of student 
credits (i.e., accelerated 
mechanisms, remedial coursework, 
non-native credit hours that are not 
used toward the degree, non-native 
credit hours from failed, incomplete, 
withdrawn, or repeated courses, 
credit hours from internship 
programs, credit hours up to 10 
foreign language credit hours for 
transfer students in Florida, and 
credit hours earned in military 
science courses that are part of the 
Reserve Officers’ Training Corps 
(ROTC) program).  

Submission:  HTD 
Table:  Courses to Degree 
Elements:   
01484  –  Course System Code 
01485  –  Course Grouping Code 
01489  –  Credit Hour Usage Indicator 
01459  –  Section Credit(Credit Hours) 
01488  –  Credit Hour Testing Method 
01104  –  Course Section Type 
 
Table:  Hours to Degree 
Elements:   
01477 – Catalog – Hours to Degree 
 

  
July 22, 2014   

10 Bachelor's Degrees 
Awarded to 
Minorities (BOT 
Metric) 

This metric is the number, or 
percentage, of baccalaureate 
degrees granted in an academic 
year to Non-Hispanic Black and 
Hispanic students. This metric does 
not include students classified as 
Non-Resident Alien or students 
with a missing race code. 
 

Submission: SIFD 
Table:  Degrees Awarded 
Elements: 
01082 –  Degree Program Category 
01083 –  Degree Program Fraction of 

Degree Granted (This field is a 
summed field) 

01045 –  Reporting Institution 
01412 –  Term Degree Granted 
01081 –  Degree Level Granted 

June 25, 2014 
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In-Scope BOG Data Elements 
 

No. 
 

Metric 
 

Definition 
 

Submission/Table/Element Information 
Relevant 

Submission(s) 
Submission: SIFD 
Table:  Person Demographic 
Elements: 

01044 – Racial/Ethnic Group 
01491 – Hispanic or Latino 
01492 – American Indian/Alaska Native  
01493 – Asian 
01494 – Black or African American 
01495 – Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific 

Islander 
01496 – White 
02043 – Non – resident Alien Flag 
01497 – No Race Reported  

August 31, 
2011 
 
December 31, 
2011 
 
May 31, 2012 

Definition Source for 4 – 10: State University Database System (SUDS). 
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Agenda Item 3                                                               FA4 
        

 THE FLORIDA INTERNATIONAL UNIVERSITY  
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

Finance and Audit Committee 
January 14, 2015 

 
Subject:  Quality Assessment of FIU Office of Internal Audit 
 

 
Proposed Committee Action: 

Recommend that the Florida International University Board of Trustees approve the report 
on the Independent Validation Quality Assessment of Florida International University 
Office of Internal Audit 
      
 

Background Information 
According to the University’s Office of Internal Audit (OIA) Policy and Charter: “The activities of 
the OIA shall be conducted in accordance with the standards for the Professional Practice of 
Internal Auditing.” This requires an external assessment of the internal audit department’s 
adherence with the standards at least every five years. The external assessment was 
performed subsequent to an internal self-assessment included as an attachment in the 
Independent validator’s report. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Supporting Documentation: 
 
 

Independent Validation Quality Assessment of FIU 
Office of Internal Audit 
 
 

Facilitator/Presenter: Allen Vann 
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INDEPENDENT VALIDATION 

QUALITY ASSESSMENT OF 

FLORIDA INTERNATIONAL UNIVERSITY 

OFFICE OF INTERNAL AUDIT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Drummond Kahn, MS, CIA, CGFM, CGAP 

December 6, 2014 
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FIU - Office of Internal Audit 
Quality Self-Assessment 
August 1, 2014 
Page 2 of 2 
 
(GAO).  This year he was recognized by the Institute of Internal Auditors as “one of the 
top 15 most influential professionals in Government Auditing.”			

Mr. Kahn’s assessment will focus on validating the self-assessment reported herein, 
conducting written surveys and personal interviews with selected Board members, 
management and audit staff, and reviewing the Internal Audit Department’s processes 
and supporting documentation.  He looks forward to your cooperation and participation 
in the process.  Mr. Kahn’s report will be presented to you at your January 9, 2015 
Finance and Audit Committee meeting.   

Should you have any questions, please feel free to contact me at 305-348-2465. 

 
Attachment  
 
C:   Albert Maury, Chairman, Board of Trustees 

Mark B. Rosenberg, University President 
Kenneth G. Furton, Provost and Executive Vice President 
Javier I. Marques, Chief of Staff, Office of the President 
Kenneth A. Jessell, CFO & Senior Vice President, Finance and Administration 
Drummond E. Khan, M.S., CIA, CGFM, CGAP 
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Florida International University 
Office of Internal Audit 

Quality (Self) Assessment Evaluation Summary 

(GC = Generally Conforms, PC = Partially Conforms, DNC = Does Not Conform)  

Quality Assessment Evaluation Summary—Overall Evaluation GC PC DNC 

OVERALL EVALUATION    

Quality Assessment Evaluation Summary—Major/Supporting 
Standards GC PC DNC 

1000 Purpose, Authority, and Responsibility 

The purpose, authority, and responsibility of the internal audit 
department is well defined in the University’s Office of Internal Audit 
Policy & Charter, and comport with IIA Standards.  All of its content 
are relevant and add value to the University.  

   

1010 Recognition of the Definition of Internal Auditing, the Code of Ethics, 
and the Standards in the Internal Audit Charter 

   

1100 Independence and Objectivity 

 

The Office fully meets this standard. With regard to independence, 
the Director of Internal Audit reports administratively to the Office of 
the President, a reporting relationship, which prevents management 
from interfering in the discharge of his “direct reporting 
responsibilities” to the Finance and Audit Committee as required per 
the Charter.  In this respect the Charter sets the tone for the Internal 
Auditors’ interaction with the Board.  

 

With regard to objectivity, for each assignment, the audit staff assert 
in writing that we do not have any conflicts, which would compromise 
our objectivity. 

   

1110 Organizational Independence    

1111 Direct Interaction with the Board    

1120 Individual Objectivity    

1130 Impairment to Independence or Objectivity    
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Quality Assessment Evaluation Summary—Overall Evaluation GC PC DNC 

1200 Proficiency and Due Professional Care 

 

Proficiency: Continuing professional development to all of our 
audit staff that enhances their knowledge and competencies. Staff 
is receiving sufficient (quantitative) and specific (qualitative) training 
based on their collective and specific needs. The Office maintains 
memberships for the professional staff and participated in training 
events with the following organizations: 1) the Institute of Internal 
Auditors; 2) the Association of College and University Auditors; 3) the 
Association of Healthcare Internal Auditors; 4) Association of 
Certified Fraud Examiners; 5) the Association of Inspectors General; 
and 6) the Information Systems Audit and Control Association. 

Due Professional Care: Audit workpapers provide evidence that 
due professional care is being taken in the conduct of the work 
performed. There is evidence that internal controls and risk of fraud 
are considered in audit engagements. 

   

1210 Proficiency    

1220 Due Professional Care    

1230 Continuing Professional Development    

1300 Quality Assurance and Improvement Program 
 

For all audit projects, we complete audit working paper review 
forms that document that our audit reports are fully supported by 
sufficient, competent, and relevant evidence. We also have a 
quality assurance checklist to ensure that there is evidence in the 
working papers that all aspects of IIA Standards are adequately 
covered.  

   

1310 Requirements of the Quality Assurance and Improvement Program    

1311 Internal Assessments    

1312 External Assessments    

1320 Reporting on the Quality Assurance and Improvement Program    

1321 Use of “Conforms with the International Standards for the 
Professional Practice of Internal Auditing” 
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Quality Assessment Evaluation Summary—Overall Evaluation GC PC DNC 

1322 Disclosure of Nonconformance    

2000 Managing the Internal Audit Activity 
 

In consultation with the Finance and Audit Committee, the Director 
of Internal Audit has established risk based plans and the Office is 
organized to ensure adequate coverage of the audit universe.  

 
The Operations manual used by the Office of Internal Audit, is 
comprehensive and has been reviewed and updated as necessity 
dictates. 

In accordance with the standards in this section, the Director of 
Internal Audit has reported periodically to the Committee and senior 
management on the internal audit activity purpose, authority, 
responsibility, and performance as well as significant fraud and 
other risks.  

   

2010 Planning    

2020 Communication and Approval    

2030 Resource Management    

2040 Policies and Procedures    

2050 Coordination    

2060 Reporting to Senior Management and the Board    

2070 External Service Provider and Organizational Responsibility for 
Internal Auditing 

   

2100 Nature of Work 

 
By using a systematic and disciplined approach to its work, the 
Office of Internal Audit, through its audits, demonstrates that it 
evaluates and contributes to the improvement of FIU’s governance, 
risk management, and control processes.

   

2110 Governance    
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Quality Assessment Evaluation Summary—Overall Evaluation GC PC DNC 

2120 Risk Management    

2130 Control    

2200 Engagement Planning 

 
Each audit is properly planned and its objectives are linked to risk 
based criteria. The scope of each engagement is consistent with the 
audit objectives. 

   

2201 Planning Considerations    

2210 Engagement Objectives    

2220 Engagement Scope    

2230 Engagement Resource Allocation    

2240 Engagement Work Program    

2300 Performing the Engagement 

Internal audit staff identify, analyze, evaluate, and document 
sufficient information to achieve each audit’s objectives. Audit 
conclusions and engagement results are based on appropriate 
analyses and evaluations that identify the root cause(s) of errors 
and/or irregularities.  Sufficient, competent and relevant information 
are included in the working papers for every assignment. There is 
evidence that each assignment is properly supervised.

   

2310 Identifying Information    

2320 Analysis and Evaluation    

2330 Documenting Information    

2340 Engagement Supervision    
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Quality Assessment Evaluation Summary—Overall Evaluation GC PC DNC 

2400 Communicating Results 

Each audit report includes the engagement’s objectives, scope and 
methodology, as well as, applicable findings, recommendations, 
and management action plans. An overall opinion or conclusion is 
included in each audit report. Satisfactory performance is 
acknowledged in reports whenever applicable. There is evidence of 
appropriate and timely communication with management and timely 
issuance of reports. 

The use of “Conducted in conformance with the International 
Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing” is 
included in all audit reports. 

   

2410 Criteria for Communicating    

2420 Quality of Communications    

2421 Errors and Omissions    

2430 Use of “Conducted in Conformance with the International Standards 
for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing” 

   

2431 Engagement Disclosure of Nonconformance    

2440 Disseminating Results    

2450 Overall Opinions    

2500 Monitoring Progress 
The Office of Internal Audit’s practice for monitoring implementation 
of past recommendations include obtaining semiannual status 
reports from responsible/cognizant officials, which is presented to 
the BOT Finance & Audit Committee. About every three years, our 
Office will test, on a sample basis, management’s self-reported 
data to assure that they in-deed have implemented the 
recommendations. Our last follow-up audit was issued in 2013.

   

2600 Communicating the Acceptance of Risks 

The Office of Internal Audit’s Charter and Operations Manual 
establish the expectation that audit staff will conform to the Code of 
Ethics requirements.  This policy has been communicated to and is 
understood by the internal audit staff. 
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Quality Assessment Evaluation Summary—Overall Evaluation GC PC DNC 

 The IIA’s Code of Ethics 

The Office of Internal Audit’s Charter and Operations Manual 
establish the expectation that audit staff will conform to the Code of 
Ethics requirements.  This policy has been communicated to and is 
understood by the internal audit staff. 

   

RATING DEFINITIONS 

“Generally Conforms” means the assessor has concluded the following: 

 For individual standards, that the internal audit activity conforms to the requirements of the 
standard (e.g., 1000, 1010, 2000, 2010, etc.) or elements of the Code of Ethics (both Principles 
and Rules of Conduct) in all material respects.   

 For the sections (Attribute and Performance) and major categories (e.g., 1000, 1100, 2000, 
2100, etc.), the internal audit activity achieves general conformity to a majority of the individual 
standards and/or elements of the Code of Ethics, and at least partial conformity to others, 
within the section/category.  

 For the internal audit activity overall, there may be opportunities for improvement, but these 
should not represent situations where the internal audit activity has not implemented the 
Standards or the Code of Ethics, has not applied them effectively, or has not achieved their 
stated objectives. 

“Partially Conforms” means the assessor has concluded the following: 

 For individual standards, the internal audit activity is making good faith efforts to conform to the 
requirements of the standard (e.g., 1000, 1010, 2000, 2010, etc.) or element of the Code of 
Ethics (both Principles and Rules of Conduct) but falls short of achieving some major 
objectives.  

 For the sections (Attribute and Performance) and major categories (e.g., 1000, 1100, 2000, 
2100, etc.), the internal audit activity partially achieves conformance with a majority of the 
individual standards within the section/category and/or elements of the Code of Ethics. 

 For the internal audit activity overall, there will be significant opportunities for improvement in 
effectively applying the Standards or Code of Ethics and/or achieving their objectives. Some 
deficiencies may be beyond the control of the internal audit activity and may result in 
recommendations to senior management or the board of the organization.  
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“Does Not Conform” means the assessor has concluded the following: 

 For individual standards, the internal audit activity is not aware of, is not making good faith 
efforts to conform to, or is failing to achieve many/all of the objectives of the standard (e.g., 
1000, 1010, 2000, 2010, etc.) and/or elements of the Code of Ethics (both Principles and Rules 
of Conduct). 

 For the sections (Attribute and Performance) and major categories (e.g., 1000, 1100, 2000, 
2100, etc.), the internal audit activity does not achieve conformance with a majority of the 
individual standards within the section/category and/or elements of the Code of Ethics. 

 For the internal audit activity overall, there will be deficiencies that will usually have a significant 
negative impact on the internal audit activity’s effectiveness and its potential to add value to the 
organization. These may also represent significant opportunities for improvement, including 
actions by senior management or the board. 
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Florida International University

Financial Summary Overview 1

FY 2014‐15

($ in millions) $ %

Revenue / Receipts

University

Educational and General (net) 2 153.1                              153.5                              0.4                                 0%

University 137.0                                      137.4                                      0.4                                          0%

College of Medicine 16.1                                        16.1                                        ‐                                               0%

FIU Self‐Insurance Program ‐                                      ‐                                      ‐                                     0%

Auxiliary Enterprises 65.4                                63.8                                (1.6)                                ‐2%

Intercollegiate Athletics 9.6                                  9.6                                  ‐                                     0%

Activities and Service 6.8                                  6.7                                  (0.1)                                ‐1%

Technology Fee 4.1                                  4.0                                  (0.1)                                ‐2%

Board Approved Fees 0.2                                  0.1                                  (0.1)                                ‐50%

Contracts and Grants 24.1                                27.7                                3.6                                 15%

Student Financial Aid 66.2                                68.0                                1.8                                 3%

Concessions 0.1                                  0.1                                  ‐                                     0%

Direct Support Organizations

FIU Athletic Finance Corp 1.3                                  0.9                                  (0.4)                                ‐31%

FIU Foundation Inc. 8.7                                  6.4                                  (2.3)                                ‐26%

FIU Health Care Network 2.5                                  1.8                                  (0.7)                                ‐28%

FIU Research Foundation 0.1                                  0.1                                  0.0                                 33%

Interfund Adjustments 3 (0.9)                                 (0.9)                                 ‐                                     0%

Total Operating Revenues 341.3                              341.8                              0.5                                 0%

University Treasury (net) 3.1                                  (4.7)                                 (7.8)                                ‐252%

FIU Foundation Inc  1.1                                  (4.8)                                 (5.9)                                ‐536%

Total Investment Revenues 4.2                                  (9.5)                                 (13.7)                              ‐326%

Total Revenues / Receipts 345.5                              332.3                              (13.2)                              ‐4%

Expenses

University

Educational and General (net) 89.4                                75.9                                13.5                               15%

University 78.7                                        68.0                                        10.7                                        14%

College of Medicine 10.7                                        7.9                                          2.8                                          26%

FIU Self‐Insurance Program ‐                                      ‐                                      ‐                                     0%

Auxiliary Enterprises 41.0                                35.8                                5.2                                 13%

Intercollegiate Athletics 6.9                                  8.4                                  (1.5)                                ‐22%

Activities and Service 3.6                                  2.8                                  0.8                                 22%

Technology Fee 7.0                                  2.2                                  4.8                                 69%

Board Approved Fees 0.2                                  0.1                                  0.1                                 50%

Contracts and Grants 26.9                                30.2                                (3.3)                                ‐12%

Student Financial Aid 71.0                                71.4                                (0.4)                                ‐1%

Concessions 0.2                                  0.1                                  0.1                                 50%

Direct Support Organizations

FIU Athletic Finance Corp 0.7                                  0.6                                  0.1                                 14%

FIU Foundation Inc. 7.9                                  3.8                                  4.1                                 52%

FIU Health Care Network 2.4                                  2.5                                  (0.1)                                ‐4%

FIU Research Foundation 0.0                                  0.0                                  0.0                                 52%

Interfund Adjustments 3 (0.9)                                 (0.9)                                 ‐                                     0%

Total Expenses 256.3                              232.9                              23.4                               9%

Principal Payment of Debt  4 ‐                                      ‐                                      ‐                                     0%

Change in Net Assets (incl. Investments) 89.2                              99.4                             10.2                              11%

Change in Net Assets (excl. Investments) 85.0                                108.9                              23.9                               28%

Year To Date

September 2014

Budget Current Year Actual
Variance
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Notes:
1

2

3

4 Principal payment of debt reflected above per BOG requirement that debt service payments be shown on a cash basis.

The financials presented above reflects the state budgeting methodology which differs from full accrual Financial Statements.  The 

following have the most significant impact:    

▪  Depreciation of Assets:  For budgeting purposes equipment purchases are fully expensed in their acquisition year, therefore 

depreciation is not included in the budget. 

▪  Payables: At fiscal year‐end, E&G expenses will include year end commitments (encumbrances) which have not yet been invoiced.

▪  Unrealized gains and losses:  The investment results are recognized as revenues in the budget however GASB accounting principles 

require that it be recorded as a non‐operating revenue /  expense.

 E&G revenues include State Funding and Tuition and are net of waivers, uncollectible amounts and 30% Financial Aid need‐based 

amounts per BOG regulation.  The difference between E&G Revenues and Expenses will be funded from prior years carry forward.

Interfund transfers have been included resulting in higher revenue and expenses by fund allowing for an individual fund performance 

analysis. The interfund adjustments above eliminate this double counting. However, interfund transactions such as tuition funded by 

scholarships and auxiliary services provided to other units have not been eliminated. Since revenues and expenses are equal, the 

interfund adjustments are the same for both.
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     OFFICE OF INTERNAL AUDIT 
 
 
 
Date:  January 14, 2015 
 
To:   Board of Trustees and Finance and Audit Committee  

 
From:   Allen Vann, Audit Director   
 
Subject: OFFICE OF INTERNAL AUDIT STATUS REPORT 
 
 
I am pleased to provide you with the quarterly update on the status of our office’s work 
activities.  Since our last update to you on September 10, 2014, we completed the following 
audits:  
 
1. Report on Board of Governors Performance Based Funding Model - University Data 

Integrity Audit – Pursuant to a request by the State University System of Florida - Board 
of Governors (BOG), we have completed an audit of the Data Integrity over the 
University’s Performance Based Funding Metrics.  The performance metrics reported by 
FIU resulted in a BOG 2014-15 allocation of over $25 million in total performance funding.  
 
We concluded that FIU’s system of internal controls is functioning in a manner that can 
be relied upon to provide complete, accurate and relatively timely data to the BOG in 
support of the established performance based funding metrics.   Accordingly, the audit 
provides an objective basis of support for the Board of Trustees Chair and the University 
President to sign the representations made in the BOG Performance Based Funding - Data 
Integrity Certification, which the BOG requested be filed with them by March 1, 2015. 
 

2. Affiliation and Other Healthcare Related Agreements - Our audit included a review of 
affiliation and other healthcare related agreements for the: 1) Herbert Wertheim College 
of Medicine; 2) Nicole Wertheim College of Nursing and Health Sciences; and 3) Robert 
Stempel College of Public Health and Social Work. Through the 1,244 agreements 
managed by the three colleges, students receive education, training, and clinical 
experience.   

 
Overall, our audit disclosed that controls related to the execution and monitoring of 
agreements were satisfactory. However, there were areas where internal controls need 
strengthening, specifically with the contract renewal and payments, contract monitoring, 
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and documenting procedures. The audit resulted in six recommendations, which 
management agreed to implement.  

 
3. Minor Construction Projects – Total minor construction project expenditures for fiscal 

years 2012 and 2013 were $31 million and $24 million, respectively, with an additional 
$12.7 million during the first 7 months of fiscal year 2014.   

 
Construction costs billed by contractors and paid by the University for the minor 
construction contracts tested appear to be appropriate and properly supported and 
recorded.  The majority of minor construction project funds are expended on projects over 
$75,000. For those projects our audit disclosed that internal controls were mostly 
functioning as designed.  However, the overwhelming majority of minor projects fall 
below $75,000 and our audit testing revealed that they require significantly more 
attention by Project Managers and other staff in the Facilities Management Department. 
For those projects, the competitive procurement process, insurance monitoring and 
project management need improvement. Management agreed to implement our nine 
recommendations.  

 
4. Southeast Environmental Research Center – SERC is a Center within the College of Arts 

and Sciences, which conducts environmental research.  Its operations are funded mainly 
through numerous sponsored research projects with current active awards exceeding $38 
million and related life-to-date expenditures of $26 million.  However, SERC also collects 
fees as a “Recharge Center” when providing research related support to other units of the 
University. 

  
Overall, our audit disclosed that SERC established controls and procedures were 
generally adequate and effective to ensure the proper administration of grants and 
recharge centers. Nevertheless, there were areas where internal controls need 
strengthening, particularly in the areas of: grant expenditure monitoring/reconciliation, 
avoiding unallowable costs on sponsored projects, recharge center rate calculations, credit 
card controls, travel authorization, and asset management. Management agreed to 
implement our twenty-one recommendations.  

 
5. Jewish Museum of Florida-FIU – The Museum located on Miami Beach has a collection 

of nearly 33,000 objects devoted to preserving and interpreting for the public the 
historical evidence of the Jewish experience in Florida from its inception to the present.  
Revenues consist mostly of endowment and other contributions, which provide for self-
sustaining programs and operating costs.    
  
The Museum is a relatively small operation with limited staff size. Since joining FIU in 
late 2012, FIU’s Foundation has done a very good job of integrating the Museum’s 
financial operations.  Nevertheless, processes are somewhat informal and due to its size, 
opportunities for better segregation of duties are limited.  We considered controls fair in 
light of the circumstances. Our recommendations focus on improvements that can be 
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made to collection controls, the Museum store, expenditure controls, human resources, 
and cash controls, with a view towards minimizing the amount of additional cost to the 
University.  Management agreed to implement our seventeen recommendations.   
 
On October 24th I attended the FIU Foundation, Inc. Board of Directors Audit 
Subcommittee meeting and briefed them on the results of our audit.   
 

Investigation 
 
During the current period, we completed an investigation resulting from a complaint we 
received through the Get Lean Hotline. The complaint included a wide range of issues from 
improper use of funds to employee leave related matters. The allegations were found to be 
mostly unsubstantiated and to the extent necessary were resolved.  
 
Work In Progress 

 

Fieldwork has been completed and draft reports have been prepared for the following audits: 
 

1. Camps and Programs Offered to Minors (University-Wide) 
2. College of Architecture + The Arts  

 
Fieldwork is planned or continues on the following audits: 
 

1. University’s IT Network Security Controls (Division of Information Technology) 
2. Parking and Transportation Department (Division of Finance and Administration) 
3. Nicole Wertheim College of Nursing and Health Sciences 
4. FIU Football Attendance for the 2014 Season in Accordance with the National 

Collegiate Athletic Association (NCAA) Operating Bylaws (FIU Athletics) 
5. Restricted Gift Agreements (University Advancement) 

 
Results of Independent Validation of Quality Assessment Review 
 
At our last Finance and Audit Committee meeting, I reported on a Quality Self-Assessment I 
performed of the Office of Internal Audit.   Most recently I provided you with the subsequent 
report issued by an independent validator in December.   
 
I am pleased to inform you that the independent validator concluded that FIU’s internal 
audit department conforms to the International Standards for the Professional Practice of 
Internal Auditing.    
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Professional Development 
 

Audit staff continues to fulfil mandatory professional development requirements.  In October 
seven staff members attended a one-day conference provided by The Institute of Internal 
Auditors–Miami Chapter at FIU’s Kovens Conference Center. I attended the State University 
Audit Council meeting at the University of South Florida in Tampa, Florida during the 
month of October.  In addition, in December the staff attended a one-day, in-house training 
seminar related to improving audit efficiency. 
 
Semi-Annual Follow-Up Status: 
 
Twice a year, we survey management on their progress towards completing past 
recommendations. According to management, 62 of the 85 recommendations due for 
implementation this quarter were satisfactorily completed. They are working to complete the 
remaining 23 recommendations.  
 

 
Areas Audited 

Total Due for 
Implementation 

 
Implemented 

Partially 
Implemented 

School of Computing and Information 
Sciences 

16 14 2 

The Patricia & Phillip Frost Museum 16 12 4 

Environmental Health & Safety 11 7 4 

Wolfsonian-FIU Museum 8 3 5 

Herbert Wertheim  
College of Medicine 

8 2 6 

College of Business 6 6  

Division of Student Affairs 5 5  

Office of the Controller/ 
Purchasing Services 

5 4 1 

Office of Business Services 5 5  

Office of Enrollment Services/ 
Undergraduate Education/ 
Athletics Department 

4 
 
4 
 

 

Division of Research 1  1 

Totals 85 62 23 

Percentages 100% 73% 27% 
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3. Screening of Leadership 
4. Communication and Training 
5. Monitoring and Auditing 
6. Reporting and Enforcement 
7. Response and Prevention 
8. Risk Identification 
 
  
The Guidelines state that an effective program is developed and maintained to 
exercise due diligence to prevent and detect criminal conduct and to promote an 
organizational culture that encourages ethical conduct and compliance with the 
law.  But organizational ethics means more than avoiding illegal practices and 
providing employees with policies. Organizations with a strong culture of 
integrity experience gains in business strategy outcomes and compliance risk 
outcomes.   To foster a climate that encourages exemplary behavior, the 
Compliance Office will develop a comprehensive approach that goes beyond 
legal compliance.  Our compliance ethics and framework will emphasize 
responsibility, accountability and integrity as we fulfill our mission to our 
students, staff, faculty, donors, volunteers and the State of Florida. 

 
Year In Review 

  
The following are highlights and achievements of the Office of Compliance for 
2014. 

 Standards and Procedures 
 

The Compliance Office worked with each of the Units to review, update or 
archive approximately 128 University policies.  In addition, the Compliance 
Office led the effort to establish efficiencies in the review and approval process 
for policies that do not have substantive changes.   
 

Oversight 
 

Element 2 (B) of the Guidelines states the following:  “High-level personnel of the 
organization shall ensure that the organization has an effective compliance and 
ethics program, as described in this guideline.  Specific individual(s) within high-
level personnel shall be assigned overall responsibility for the compliance and 
ethics program.”  Element 2 (C) states:  “Specific individual(s) within the 
organization shall be delegated day-to-day operational responsibility for the 
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compliance and ethics program.  Individual(s) with operational responsibility 
shall report periodically to high-level personnel and, as appropriate, to the 
governing authority, or an appropriate subgroup of the governing authority, on 
the effectiveness of the compliance and ethics program.  To carry out such 
operational responsibility, such individual(s) shall be given adequate resources, 
appropriate authority, and direct access to the governing authority or an 
appropriate subgroup of the governing authority.”  
 
With the appointment of Karyn Boston as Assistant Vice President and Chief 
Compliance Officer, FIU is working to enhance the current oversight 
responsibilities regarding compliance and ethics issues by interacting more 
frequently with President Rosenberg and the Board of Trustees, and clearly 
defining the compliance issues to be elevated prior to scheduled updates. 
 

Communication and Training 
 

Element 4(A) of the Guidelines states the following:  “The organization shall take 
reasonable steps to communicate periodically and in a practical manner its 
standards and procedures, and other aspects of the compliance and ethics 
program by conducting effective training programs and otherwise disseminating 
information appropriate to such individuals’ respective roles and 
responsibilities.” 
 
In 2014, the Compliance Office met Element 4(A) by conducting the following 
trainings: 
 
• New Faculty Orientation.  The Compliance Office presented compliance and 
ethics training to 80 new faculty members on August 20, 2014.  Some of the 
topics covered during orientation were Compliance, Florida Code of Ethics, Gifts 
Policy, Non-Retaliation Policy, Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act 
(FERPA), Student Privacy, and IT Security. 

  
• New Employee Orientation – Florida Keys National Marine 
Sanctuary.   Presentation on Compliance and Ethics provided to the new 
FIU employees (formerly with the Department of Environmental Protection) at the 
Florida Keys National Marine Sanctuary in Islamorada, Florida on October 7, 2014. 
  
• IT Security Awareness Training. Staff from the Compliance Office have worked 
closely with the IT Security Office to provide 
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mandatory IT Security Awareness training to Spanish-speaking only 
employees.  The first training session was held on April 17, 2014. There are 120 
more Spanish-speaking employees who must attend training and the sessions 
will be conducted in several segments due to the work schedules of these 
employees. 
 
 

 
 

FY 2014-2015 Compliance Trainings (1st quarter) 
 
Training   # of Presentations  # Attending 
Compliance/Ethics        2             23 
Ethics and Gifts                1    4  
Identity Theft     8            141 
New Faculty Orientation               1              80 
New Employee Experience              12           333 
Total      24           581 
   

Trend Analysis 
 

There has been a minimal increase in the volume of internal and external 
inquiries to the Compliance Office and external inquiries to the ethics and 
compliance hotline from 2013-2014.  In 2013, there were a total 29 reports or 
inquiries.  In 2014 there were a total of 34 reports or inquires.  The subject matters 
with most notable decreases include Discrimination and Harassment down from 
7 to 1, and Offensive or Inappropriate Communication down from 5 to 3.  The 
majority of inquiries and reports for 2014 were related to Employee Misconduct.  
This data will be used to inform decision-making regarding additional targeted 
training for 2015. 
 
There is room for improvement when it comes to defining, communicating, 
tracking and training individuals and Units on compliance policies.  In 2015, the 
Compliance Office will focus on identifying high-risk compliance areas, and 
develop targeted communication and training plans for those areas that are most 
vulnerable.  With the launch of a new compliance software system in the first 
quarter of 2015, the Compliance office will be able to better track, monitor and 
enforce policy review and training to help deliver a more effective Program.   
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The Year Ahead 
 

Below are some of the key initiatives that the Compliance Office will be 
implementing during the first quarter of 2015.  The data obtained from the key 
initiatives will be used to develop the recommendations for the Compliance Plan 
that will be presented to the Board of Trustees for approval in 2015.    
 

Additional 2015 Key Initiatives 
 

Over the next few months, the Compliance Office anticipates launching the 
following key initiatives: 
 
• Program Effectiveness Evaluation:  Element 5 (B) of the Guidelines states the 
following:  “To have an effective compliance and ethics program, an organization 
shall evaluate periodically the effectiveness of the organization’s compliance and 
ethics program.  Further, it is now considered a well established best practice for 
a compliance program to be evaluated every 2-3 years for program 
effectiveness.”   

  
The Compliance Office will engage the services of an independent compliance 
firm to conduct a program effectiveness review of the Program.  The data 
generated from the program review will be used to define the optimal structure 
for ensuring that FIU’s compliance priorities and initiatives are incorporated into 
the compliance plans at the Division level.  In addition, the data will provide 
baseline information for purposes of gauging program improvements in the 
future.  

  
• Export Controls Compliance Program:  In order to create a compliance 
structure that aligns with federal regulatory requirements, enforcement 
guidelines, and current best practice among U.S. research institutions, the 
Compliance Office is working with a nationally recognized consultant to 
establish a more effective and centralized process for compliance with export 
control regulations by enhancing and identifying gaps related to policies, 
procedures and protocols, and developing a network of export control liaisons to 
monitor and enforce compliance efforts within each Unit.  

  
• Investigations Protocols, Education and Training:  Element 5(C) of the 
Guidelines states the following:  “To have an effective compliance and ethics 
program, the organization shall take reasonable steps to have and publicize a 
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system, which may include mechanisms that allow for anonymity or 
confidentiality, whereby the organization’s employees and agents may report or 
seek guidance regarding potential or actual criminal conduct without fear of 
retaliation. “ 
  
Over the next few weeks, the Compliance Office will conduct an Investigations 
Workshop featuring investigations strategy, policy interpretation and report 
writing for FIU staff, representing approximately 30 individuals, responsible for 
conducting investigations on behalf of FIU.  
  
Upcoming Compliance Office activities for 2015  
Compliance Governance 
Develop the following documents for review and approval by the Board of Trustees: 
 
• FIU Compliance Plan 
• 2015 University annual work plan 
 
Compliance Committee 
• Finalize scope of work and structure for the Compliance Committee and begin 
conducting meetings and obtaining feedback 

  
Ethics and Code of Conduct 
• Develop the FIU Code of Conduct in collaboration with Human Resources in order 
to enhance existing requirements set forth in the Florida Code of Ethics 
• Develop and execute the work plan to distribute, train and enforce the Code of 
Conduct 

  
Policies and Procedures 
• Launch a new management program for the processing of policies and procedures 
focusing on clarity of roles, responsibilities and accountabilities.  The new program 
will allow for management of policies and procedures “cradle to grave” from 
inception, implementing and tracking attestation of review by employees, education 
and trainings, non-compliance with the policies and procedures and automating the 
review process of existing policies and procedures for continued relevance, updating 
or archiving   
Training 
• Align compliance trainings with legal, regulatory and policy requirements in order 
to identify the individuals and Units that should receive targeted compliance trainings 
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because they work in areas considered high risk or because the nature of their job 
• Roll out the new compliance software that will support efforts to track and enforce 
compliance with training requirements set forth in each policy plan 

  
Monitoring 
• Develop the 2015 monitoring plan, toolkits, support resources and enforcement 
support for Units involved with high-risk compliance areas 
  
Auditing  
• Develop the plan to work with internal Audit on defining the scope of audits 
involving high-risk compliance areas  
  
Reporting 
• Develop the compliance data collection process and templates for purposes of 
building compliance reports 
 
Response and Prevention 
• Determine process to document and enforce recommendations, management 
responses and oversight of corrective action/remediation plans for ethics and 
compliance violations 
 
• Develop and roll out the Ethics and Compliance Incentive Program 
• Determine the cycle and process for conducting ethics and compliance culture 
surveys  
 
Enforcement 
• Develop and work with Human Resources and Executive Leadership on the 
development of disciplinary action guidelines for compliance and ethics breaches and 
failures. This work will further support Element 5(E) of the Guidelines.  The 
Guidelines state that adequate discipline of individuals responsible for an offense is a 
necessary component of enforcement  
Enterprise Risk Management Process  
• Evaluate which, if any elements, of Enterprise Risk Management should be 
implemented  
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Rating Agencies 
The University met with S&P in July for the annual rating surveillance. S&P affirmed its AA- long-term rating 
on the University’s parking facility revenue bonds and its A long-term rating on FIU’s dormitory revenue 
bonds currently outstanding. The outlook on all ratings is stable. 
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Finance and Administration

Office  of the  Treasurer

Treasury Summary

Period Ending September 30, 2014 (000's )

OVERVIEW LIQUIDITY

Liquidity Position Availability

Cash + W/C Pool 123,591$      Same Day 35,391$       

Strategic + Reserve Pools 220,778        1‐5 Days 160,806       

Total 344,370$      6‐120 Days 135,341       

120+ Days 12,832         

Debt Position Total 344,370$     

University Debt 180,155$     

DSO Debt 38,786          Real Days Payable (<5 Days)

Total 218,941$      MTD Outflows 38                  

QTD Outflows 46                  

Liquidity/University Debt 1.91               YTD Outflow 46                  

Liquidity/Total Debt 1.57              

CASH SOURCES AND USES INVESTMENTS

Sources MTD QTD YTD Cash + W/C Pool Balance FYTD Last 1Y

Opening W/C Pool Balance 106,222$      57,979$        57,979$        W/C Pool 119,082$     0.3% 1.0%

Opening Cash Balance 4,811             7,991             7,991             Cash 4,510            0.0% 0.0%

From State 20,160          67,103          67,103          Strategic + Reserve Pools

From Operations 107,319        273,040        273,040        Fixed Income 79,482         ‐0.4% 5.5%

Uses Real Assets 50,525         ‐6.4% ‐0.9%

To Payroll (40,560)         (113,037)      (113,037)      Equity 64,758         ‐1.5% 12.0%

To Operations (31,768)         (88,171)         (88,171)         Absolute Return 26,014         ‐0.2% 6.4%

To Students (42,591)         (81,313)         (81,313)         Total 344,370$     ‐1.3% 4.3%

Cash + W/C Pool 123,591$      123,591$      123,591$     

DEBT

University O/s Balance Avg. Rate

Housing (Aa3/A/A+)* 104,825$      4.1%

Parking (Aa3/AA‐/A+)* 75,330          4.7%

Direct Support Organizations

AFC (Stadium) 32,092          4.4%

Foundation (MARC) 6,694             4.3%

Total Outstanding Debt 218,941$      4.4%

 * (Moody's/S&P/Fitch)

Fixed Rate Debt 204,444        93.4%

Variable Rate Debt 14,497          6.6%
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Finance and Administration

Office  of the  Treasurer

Financial Condition as of Sept 30, 2014

Report of Condition | FIU Internal  Asset Bank

2015 YTD Actuals 2014 FY Actuals

ASSETS (Uses of Funds)

Current Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 46,268,921$                44,047,925$              

Adjustments to Fair Market Value 27,316,065                  34,287,409$              

Total Current Assets 73,584,986$                78,335,334$              

Noncurrent Assets

Due from Component Units/University

Parking Deferred Payment Plan 1,379,582$                  1,379,582$                 

   Athletics Operations Loan 5,234,208                    5,234,208$                 

   Stadium Expansion Loan ‐                                

Total Non‐Current Assets 6,613,790$                  6,613,790$                 

TOTAL ASSETS 80,198,776$                84,949,124$              

LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL (Sources of Funds)

Accounts Payable ‐$                               8,638$                         

Accrued Salaries & Wages ‐                                 5,702$                         

Due to/(from) Component Units ‐                                 ‐                                

Total Liabilities ‐$                               14,340$                       

Total Capital (Net Assets) 80,198,776$                84,934,784$              

TOTAL LIABILITES AND CAPITAL 80,198,776$                84,949,124$              

December 11, 2014
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THE FLORIDA INTERNATIONAL UNIVERSITY  
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

Finance and Audit Committee 
January 14, 2014 

BUSINESS SERVICES REPORT AS OF DECEMBER 10TH, 2014 
Report (For Information Only – no action required)  
 
Updates 
 A new Starbucks opened on October 8th in the Biscayne Bay Campus library to great fanfare, 

providing the community a full menu of drinks and food along with café seating.     
 The MANGO building, opened November 3rd, featuring Panda Express, Starbucks and Taco Bell 

with over 6,000 sq. ft. of indoor/outdoor seating designed to foster collaboration and engagement.  
 Parking Garage 6, opening in 2015, will include 2,000 new parking spaces, classrooms and over 

30,000 sq. ft. of retail. Retailers identified to date include, EXN nutrition, College Optical Express 
and Reebok Cross Fit to name a few.  

 JuiceBlendz will be opening in PG-5 Market Station for the spring semester replacing Freshens. 
JuiceBlendz will offer freshly made sandwiches, salads and wraps, smoothies, fresh squeezed 
juices and self-service frozen yogurt.   

 Student Copiers were replaced this fall with new machines from Ricoh.  The new equipment 
offers features such as follow me printing, mobile, USB and cloud printing and accepts multiple 
payment forms including credit/debit cards.   
 

Quick Facts 
Services under Management – Fall 2014 
 49 Food and Retail Venues, Beverage & Snack Vending, FIU One Card Program, Office Supplies, 

Printing and Copying, Multi-use Facilities, Property Management and University-Wide 
Advertising.   

Investments 
 For fiscal year 2014-15, Business Services will invest $2.6M to build out new facilities, expand 

services and increase indoor and outdoor seating to help foster affinity and retention at FIU.   
Business Services also contributed $1.7M to fund University initiatives, provide scholarships, 
underwrite student services and support FIU facilities. 

Revenues 
 For the period ended October 31, 2014, Business Services managed sales of nearly $17.5M from 

operations.  Total operating revenues for the period ended October 31, 2014 increased from $2.6M 
to $2.8M; a 6% increase over budget.   

 
Barnes & Noble at FIU 
 For the period ended October 31, 2014, sales at Barnes & Noble decreased 6%, compared to the 

same period in 2013, due primarily to declines in both new textbook and textbook rental sales. 
These decreases were partially offset by increases in café, convenience and school supply sales. 
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Beverage Vending  
 For the period ended October 31, 2014, beverage vending sales increased 1%, compared to the 

same period in 2013. This increase was partially offset by a decrease in snack vending sales of 2%, 
primarily due to the timing of reporting periods from Pepsi.  
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The Florida International University  
Board of Trustees 
Finance and Audit Committee 
January 14, 2014 
Athletics Update 

 | 2 P a g e
 

Page 2 of 2 
 

 Year-to-date Net Income excluding debt service was $783 thousand, unfavorable 
to budgeted $205 thousand 

o Primary drivers include: 
 Unfavorable Operating Expenses of $216 thousand, mainly driven 

by video board repairs of $95k, A/C repairs of $14k, and timing of 
invoice payments for Game Day expenses $66k unfavorable to 
budget for Q1 as more home games earlier in the season  

 The debt coverage covenant requirement is forecasted to be met for the period 
ending June 30, 2015. 
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THE FLORIDA INTERNATIONAL UNIVERSITY  
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

Finance and Audit Committee 
January 14, 2015 

 
FACILITIES AND CONSTRUCTION UPDATE AS OF DECEMBER 15, 2014 

Report (For Information Only – no action required)  
 
Projects Completed 
     
 Science Classroom Complex (SCC)/Academic Health Center 4 (AHC-4) (BT-876) - 

$57.5M Public Education Capital Outlay (PECO) project budget. A/E – Perkins + 
Will; CM – DPR. (136,076 gross square feet-gsf).  FIU has occupied the facility since 
March 2013.  DPR has customized 6,000 gsf of lab space as individual researchers 
have been assigned to specific locations.  (Since this project has been completed, this 
entry will be removed from future Board of Trustees reports).   

 

 5th floor Bio-Medical Engineering (BME) lab was occupied in September 
2014.   

 

 Construction for the build-out of the 3rd floor wet labs started September 
2014 but was placed on hold in October 2014 pending Department of 
Research (DoR) future hires. 

 
 Project closeout of the entire contract is in process.  This process will be 

adjusted accordingly if the hold on the 3rd floor wet lab buildout is lifted.    
 

 Stocker AstroScience Center (BT-814) - $4.4M (multiple sources) project budget.  
A/E – Siddiq Khan & Associates (SKA); CM – Stobs Brothers. (10,233 gsf).  The final 
Certificate of Occupancy (CO) was issued on July 24, 2014.  A related component is a 
minor project to improve the adjacent site (civil and landscaping work) consistent 
with the Campus Master Plan.  The revised 100% CD’s for this component were 
priced by the CM in October 2014.  An analysis is under way to study modifications 
to the entire quadrant including the proposed modifications under the Stocker 
AstroScience Center.  Conceptuals will be presented to FIU leadership for guidance 
and discussion.    (Since this project has been completed, this entry will be removed from 
the future Board of Trustees reports).   
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 Academic Health Center 5 (BT-877/895) - $46.2 M (multiple sources: $38.3M PECO, 
$7.9 auxiliary) project budget.  A/E – Perkins + Will; CM – Skanska. (121,465 
gsf).   The Robert Stempel College of Public Health and Social Work (RSCPHSW) 
project ($23.3M) and the International Hurricane Center (IHRC) project ($15.0 M) 
were combined into one project; the DoR contributed an additional $7.9M for 
research facilities.  The project achieved substantial completion on July 3, 2014, 
missing the April 25th delivery date.  A/E and CM have been advised that 
Liquidated Damages (LD’s) will be applied.  RSCPHSW, Earth and Environment, 
and the Extreme Environment Institute (EEi) occupied the building in July 2014.  
IHRC occupied the building in November 2014. Audio-visual (AV) installation is 
95% complete with all required systems installed for the start of the Fall semester.  
Site work was completed November 2014 and the remaining punch-list items for 
minor interior work should be complete by the end of December 2014.  The 
RSCPHSW move triggered renovations for the Herbert Wertheim College of 
Medicine in AHC-1 and AHC-2, which are scheduled for completion by the end of 
December 2014.  Current Owner Direct Purchase (ODP) tax savings are $382,938.11 -
- slightly shy of the 1% objective of $385,000.   

            
 Management and New Growth Opportunities (MANGO) Mixed-Use College of 

Business Building- (BT-886) - $35.7M (multiple sources) project budget.   A/E – 
HOK; CM-Arellano.  (107,912 gsf).  Ground floor food venues (Starbucks, Panda 
Express, and Taco Bell) successfully opened for business the first week of November 
2014 followed by occupancy of the remainder of the building in mid-November.  
Classes have been scheduled for the Spring 2015 semester with full audio-visual 
(A/V) capability.  The final finishes on the 1st floor monumental stairs are being 
completed in December.  Building punch-list remediation work is in progress and 
scheduled to be complete in February 2015.  Current ODP savings of $378,894 
exceed the 1% objective of $370,524.   

 
 
Projects under Construction  

 
 Parking Garage 6 (BT-868) – $49.3M (multiple sources) project budget. A/E – 

PGAL; CM – Facchina.  This facility reuses the PG5/Market Station design. 
Dimensions: 779,815 gsf total with 50,771 gsf shelled for retail and academic use; and 
approximately 2,000 parking spaces.  The project incorporates site specific 
modifications such as improved traffic lanes at the SW 112th Avenue entry, a traffic 
circle at the intersection of Palm Avenue and Loop Road, and a pedestrian bridge 
across Loop Road.  The garage pre-cast installation is complete. Pedestrian bridge 
pre-cast installation was completed and major road work (traffic circle and road 
widening) was opened to vehicle traffic in August 2014 prior to the start of the 
semester.  The final layer of asphalt and road markings will be completed before the 
start of the 2015 Spring semester.  All site work, finishes, irrigation, and landscaping 
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will be completed during the holiday break.  Parking Garage 4 (PG-4) west entrance 
was opened before the start of the Fall ‘14 semester.  Classrooms are being 
redesigned to meet recent changes in classroom teaching standards.  This redesign 
pushes back the scheduling of the four classrooms to the Summer of 2015.  
Classroom construction is underway. Planning with Miami-Dade Transit (MDT) and 
Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT) continues.  Current ODP savings tally 
$131,733.82 toward the 1% objective of $342,727.  Target delivery date for parking 
garage element: January 2015.      

 
 Ambulatory Care Center (BT-870) - $8.8M (County bond) project budget. A/E – 

AECOM; CM – Klewin. (32,023 gsf).  Building foundations and shell were completed 
in October 2014.  Interior work continues and is approximately 75% complete.  The 
delivery date has slipped from December 22, 2014 to January 30, 2015.  A/E and CM 
have been advised that Liquidated Damages (LD’s) will be applied.  Connection to 
PG5 is in process and scheduled for completion by end of December 2014.  All utility 
connections are being finalized and remaining sitework is scheduled for completion 
in January 2015.  Current ODP savings tally $99,382 and exceed the 1% target of 
$78,975.  Both the project budget and the schedule continue to be extremely tight.   
Revised delivery date: January 30, 2015. 

 
 Student Academic Support Center (SASC) (BT-882) - $30.9M (PECO) project 

budget.  A/E – Gould Evans; CM – Balfour Beatty. (81,045 gsf with an additional 
7,350 gsf for an elevated exterior amphitheater terrace and stair system).  The 
University received $6.8M in additional funding as part of the FY2014-15 
appropriation.  GMP negotiations with the CM were completed in September 2014 
and ground breaking took place on November 21, 2014.  Delivery is scheduled for 
March 2016.  Scope not included in the contract in order to obtain an acceptable 
GMP include: promenade to the traffic circle, terrazzo flooring on the ground floor, 
and wood acoustical paneling in the 750 seat auditorium.  Parking lot demolition 
and intercampus bus routing / bookstore delivery rerouting has occurred.  Sitework 
is in process with foundation work beginning in January 2015.  Target delivery date: 
March 2016. 
 
    

Projects in Design  
  
 Recreation Center Expansion (BT-903) - $13.6M Capital Improvement Trust Fund 

(CITF) project budget.  A/E – HKS; CM –Moss Construction pending final contract 
negotiation.  (50,000 gsf).  The project will expand the existing facility into Parking 
Lot #8 and will include a basketball/volleyball gym, a weight training room, and 
locker room addition.  Based on the addition of $7,328,254 in additional CITF 
appropriations, $5,028,254 has been allocated to increase the scope of the Rec Center 
project.  Programming was completed in October 2014.  Design is currently in the 
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advanced schematic phase with the start of construction targeted for May 2015 and 
substantial completion for September 2016.     

 
 
Projects in Planning Stage 

              
 Frost Museum of Science Batchelor Environmental Center at FIU (BT-913) - $5.0M 

privately funded project budget.  Project is currently in the master planning / 
programming phase.  Leo A Daly (a continuing service contract architect) has been 
retained for this phase of work.  The project includes a new research wildlife center 
to be developed in conjunction with the Frost/Miami Science Museum.  Phase 1 will 
be programming, infrastructure, first half of the animal holding area and support 
facilities. The Frost Museum has provided an initial projection of $1.5M for 
equipment, pending confirmation during programming.  Phase 1 completion is 
targeted for September 2015.  Phase 2 will be a classroom & lab building about 3,000 
square feet and the balance of the animal holding area.  Phase 2 completion is 
targeted for September 2016.     
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FIU FOUNDATION, INC.
Recap of Statement of Activities

For the Period Ended October 31, 2014

(In Thousands of Dollars)

2014‐15 2014‐15 Budget to Actual 2014‐15 2013‐14 Current Year to

4‐Month 4‐Month 4‐Month Annual 4‐Month Previous Year

Budget Actuals Variance Budget Actuals Variance

REVENUES:

   Cash Contributions 9,361$                        5,475$                       (3,886)$                      [1] 46,947$                     9,319$                        (3,845)$                     

   MARC Building 840$                            484$                           (356)$                         [2] 1,694$                       926$                            (443)$                        

   Foundation Subsidiaries 172$                            295$                           122$                           [3] 502$                           1,432$                        (1,137)$                     

   Estimated Investment Returns 2,524$                        (4,665)$                      (7,189)$                      [4] 14,406$                     15,185$                      (19,850)$                   

TOTAL REVENUES 12,897$                      1,587$                       (11,309)$                    63,549$                     26,863$                      (25,275)$                   

EXPENSES:

University Programs:

   Scholarships & Programs 5,929$                        2,623$                       3,306$                       [5] 14,591$                     3,146$                        523$                          

   Building Funds 1,144$                        869$                           275$                           1,643$                       623$                            (245)$                        

   Unrestricted Annual Expenses 434$                            286$                           148$                           975$                           367$                            81$                            

TOTAL UNIVERSITY PROGRAMS EXPENSES 7,507$                        3,778$                       3,730$                       17,210$                     4,136$                        359$                          

Operational:

   MARC Building 200$                            36$                             164$                           [6] 692$                           160$                            124$                          

   Foundation Subsidiaries 108$                            97$                             12$                             474$                           36$                              (61)$                          

   Administrative & Fund‐Raising 2,204$                        1,930$                       275$                           8,003$                       1,111$                        (818)$                        

TOTAL OPERATIONAL EXPENSES 2,513$                        2,063$                       450$                           9,169$                       1,307$                        (755)$                        

TOTAL EXPENSES 10,020$                      5,840$                       4,180$                       26,379$                     5,444$                        (396)$                        

EXCESS REVENUES OVER EXPENSES 2,877$                        (4,253)$                      (7,129)$                      37,170$                     21,419$                      (25,672)$                   

 *These financial statements recaps reflect expenses on an accrual basis and receipts on a cash basis, with the exception of investment returns.

**Please refer to Appendix A for detailed variance notes.
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Asset Class/Manager

GMO Global Equity Asset Allocation 9,671 4.3% ‐0.3 ‐2.9 1.1 ‐5.5 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 5.2
Indus Markor Master Fund 3,922 1.7% 3.4 3.2 ‐1.9 ‐1.7 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐2.2
Kiltearn Global Equity Fund 9,434 4.2% ‐2.4 ‐6.8 ‐‐‐ ‐8.8 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐5.6
Maverick Long Fund, Ltd 10,711 4.8% 3.5 5.9 ‐‐‐ 3.9 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 7.1
Vanguard Total World Stock Index 662 0.3% 1.1 0.2 ‐‐‐ ‐1.6 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 2.7

Global Public Equity 34,400 15.3% 16.5% 10.0%‐25.0% 12.5% 0.7 ‐0.8 1.0 ‐3.2 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 5.1

D.E. Shaw Core Alpha Extension 9,374 4.2% 0.7 1.7 7.1 0.3 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 7.1
First Eagle U.S. Equity Fund 10,631 4.7% 1.8 2.6 ‐‐‐ 0.7 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 6.6
Sirios Focus Fund 7,831 3.5% 2.7 6.2 ‐‐‐ 3.6 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 4.4
HHR Titan Offshore 5,055 2.3% 1.1 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 1.1

U.S. Public Equity 32,890 14.7% 16.5% 10.0%‐25.0% 15.0% 1.6 2.8 6.0 0.1 12.1 16.7 13.3 7.4 4.4

AKO European Master Fund 8,241 3.7% 0.7 1.5 3.0 0.1 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 3.0
Vanguard FTSE Dev. Markets 1,904 0.8% ‐0.3 ‐4.2 ‐2.3 ‐6.4 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 0.8
Cevian Capital II 4,128 1.8% ‐0.1 ‐2.3 3.2 ‐6.2 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 3.2
Buena Vista Asian Opp. Fund 5,297 2.4% ‐0.8 ‐1.4 ‐‐‐ ‐0.6 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 5.9
Kabouter International Opps. Fund II 5,000 2.2% ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐

Non‐U.S. Developed Public Equity 24,570 10.9% 11.5% 5.0%‐20.0% 10.0% ‐0.0 ‐1.4 2.7 ‐3.0 5.8 8.4 5.1 5.2 1.9

DFA Emerging Markets Value 6,826 3.0% ‐0.1 ‐6.2 2.0 ‐4.5 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 3.8
Somerset Emerging Markets 3,678 1.6% 1.7 ‐0.8 ‐‐‐ ‐0.9 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 5.1
Polunin Developing Countries Fund 4,236 1.9% 0.6 ‐4.8 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐4.8

Emerging Markets Public Equity 14,740 6.6% 5.0% 0.0%‐10.0% 5.0% 0.5 ‐4.4 3.8 ‐3.2 1.0 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 6.5

Total Global Private Equity 18,210 8.1% 8.0% 0.0%‐15.0% 15.0% ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 10.0 ‐‐‐ 22.3 16.8 17.2 ‐‐‐ 6.7

Total Long Public and Private Equity 124,810 55.6% 57.5% 45.0%‐65.0% 57.5% 0.7 ‐0.3 4.1 ‐1.9 10.1 15.0 11.5 6.9 4.0

Blue Harbour Strategic Value 3,936 1.8% 3.0 0.9 5.0 ‐1.4 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 5.0
Valinor Capital Partners 4,263 1.9% 1.6 5.0 13.7 4.1 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 13.7
Roystone Master Fund 3,868 1.7% ‐0.5 ‐1.3 ‐‐‐ ‐3.3 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 3.2
Fir Tree International Value 3,667 1.6% ‐2.2 ‐3.8 ‐‐‐ ‐3.9 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐2.2

Hedge Funds (Growth Objective) 15,734 7.0% ‐‐‐ 0.0%‐15.0% ‐‐‐ 0.5 0.3 4.9 ‐1.0 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 4.9

Archstone Offshore Fund 2,663 1.2% ‐1.1 ‐0.5 0.4 ‐1.5 4.3 7.7 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 5.1
Ironwood International Ltd ‐ Holdback 42 0.0% 0.0 0.0 ‐‐‐ 0.3 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 0.3
Indus Asia Pacific Fund 3,754 1.7% 0.2 ‐0.3 ‐‐‐ ‐0.2 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 0.1
Brahman Capital Partners 3,493 1.6% 2.2 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐6.0 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐6.9
Naya Offshore Fund 3,479 1.5% 0.6 ‐0.6 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐0.6

Hedge Funds (Blended Objective) 13,431 6.0% ‐‐‐ 0.0%‐15.0% ‐‐‐ 0.5 ‐0.1 ‐1.4 ‐2.5 1.3 6.4 5.5 4.1 4.7

Davidson Kempner 4,174 1.9% ‐1.8 ‐2.0 4.4 ‐1.8 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 4.4
BlueCrest All Blue Fund 3,937 1.8% ‐0.4 0.5 5.0 0.9 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 5.0
Kynikos Opportunity Fund 3,586 1.6% ‐1.1 0.4 ‐‐‐ ‐2.7 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐4.4
Luxor Capital Partners 3,501 1.6% ‐3.3 ‐1.5 ‐‐‐ ‐4.7 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐6.6
Scopia PX Funds 3,686 1.6% 1.8 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 5.3

Hedge Funds (Diversifying Objective) 18,885 8.4% ‐‐‐ 0.0%‐15.0% ‐‐‐ ‐1.0 0.6 1.8 ‐0.7 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 1.8

Total Hedge Funds 48,050 21.4% 17.5% 10.0%‐30.0% 17.5% ‐0.1 0.3 1.8 ‐1.3 4.5 7.5 6.2 4.4 5.0

Franklin Templeton Global Bond Fund 3,715 1.7% 0.6 0.7 4.2 0.7 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 5.1
Clifton Defensive Equity Strategy 4,281 1.9% 0.6 2.4 ‐‐‐ 1.7 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 5.7

Other Diversifying Investments 7,996 3.6% ‐‐‐ 0.0%‐20.0% ‐‐‐ 0.6 1.6 6.4 1.2 7.6 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 9.1

Total Diversified Growth 56,047 25.0% 17.5% 10.0%‐30.0% 17.5% 0.0 0.5 2.6 ‐0.9 4.5 7.4 6.1 4.4 5.0

Van Eck Global Hard Assets 5,509 2.5% ‐8.9 ‐16.1 ‐7.5 ‐18.5 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐4.7
SPDR Gold ETF 4,419 2.0% ‐3.1 ‐8.7 ‐3.0 ‐12.0 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐1.8
Harvest MLP Income Fund 5,389 2.4% ‐2.7 3.8 ‐‐‐ ‐0.1 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 20.0

Public Inflation Sensitive 15,318 6.8% 9.0% 0.0%‐15.0% 4.0% ‐5.0 ‐7.8 1.5 ‐10.9 4.4 3.8 8.1 ‐‐‐ ‐0.8

Private Inflation Sensitive 2,735 1.2% 1.0% 0.0%‐10.0% 6.0% ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐

Total Inflation Sensitive 18,052 8.0% 10.0% 0.0%‐15.0% 10.0% ‐4.3 ‐6.7 2.7 ‐9.8 5.7 4.2 8.3 ‐‐‐ ‐0.7

Colchester Global Bonds ($‐Hdg) 8,930 4.0% 0.6 0.7 5.1 0.9 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 5.1
PIMCO Low Duration II 4,012 1.8% 0.3 0.4 ‐‐‐ 0.1 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 0.1
Dodge and Cox Income Fund 10,287 4.6% 0.7 0.9 ‐‐‐ 0.7 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 3.3
State of Florida Treasury Fund 800 0.4% 0.3 0.5 1.5 0.8 1.6 2.1 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 2.2
State of Florida Treasury Fund (MARC) 1,500 0.7% ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐

Total Deflation Sensitive 25,529 11.4% 15.0% 9.0%‐30.0% 15.0% 0.5 0.7 4.5 0.6 3.9 3.9 5.8 5.8 6.2

Total Managed Assets Net of CA Fees 224,438 100.0% 100.0% ‐‐‐ 100.0% 0.1 ‐0.5 3.5 ‐2.1 7.6 10.9 9.3 6.0 4.4

Foundation Enterprise Holdings I 574 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 2.2
JMOF ‐ Raymond James CEF 999 ‐‐‐ 0.7 0.7 2.0 0.4 0.8 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 0.8
Student Managed Investment Fund 291 ‐‐‐ ‐1.9 ‐0.4 8.6 ‐0.1 13.4 13.8 7.6 ‐‐‐ 6.8
SunTrust Balanced Annuity Account 302 ‐‐‐ 1.2 ‐2.3 ‐5.4 ‐3.6 ‐6.9 3.0 6.0 4.7 4.9
Islamorada Investment 1,306 ‐‐‐ 0.5 1.6 ‐‐‐ 2.2 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 4.4
StoneCastle FICA Program 2,001 ‐‐‐ 0.0 0.1 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 0.1
IR&M Short Fund 3,011 ‐‐‐ 0.3 0.4 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 0.4
Other Alternatives 8,484 ‐‐‐ 0.2 0.4 2.4 0.4 2.1 4.1 6.1 4.3 4.5

Total Assets Net of CA Fees 232,922 ‐‐‐ 0.1 ‐0.5 3.5 ‐2.0 7.5 10.9 9.3 6.0 4.4

Notes:
1. Funds available for investment in the Wells Fargo operating account have been deployed to the investment portfolio as of December 31, 2013.
2. Private Investments' trailing performance represents time‐weighted quarterly returns. Data represents NAVs and performance through June 30, 2014, updated with cashflows through the most recent period.
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Asset Class/Composite

Global Public Equity 34,400 15.3% 16.5% 10.0%‐25.0% 12.5% 0.7 ‐0.8 1.0 ‐3.2 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 5.1

U.S. Public Equity 32,890 14.7% 16.5% 10.0%‐25.0% 15.0% 1.6 2.8 6.0 0.1 12.1 16.7 13.3 7.4 4.4

Non‐U.S. Developed Public Equity 24,570 10.9% 11.5% 5.0%‐20.0% 10.0% ‐0.0 ‐1.4 2.7 ‐3.0 5.8 8.4 5.1 5.2 1.9

Emerging Markets Public Equity 14,740 6.6% 5.0% 0.0%‐10.0% 5.0% 0.5 ‐4.4 3.8 ‐3.2 1.0 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 6.5

Global Private Long Equity 18,210 8.1% 8.0% 0.0%‐15.0% 15.0% ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 10.0 ‐‐‐ 22.3 16.8 17.2 ‐‐‐ 6.7

Total Long Public Equity and Private Investments 124,810 55.6% 57.5% 45.0%‐65.0% 57.5% 0.7 ‐0.3 4.1 ‐1.9 10.1 15.0 11.5 6.9 4.0

Total Hedge Funds 48,050 21.4% 17.5% 10.0%‐30.0% 17.5% ‐0.1 0.3 1.8 ‐1.3 4.5 7.5 6.2 4.4 5.0

Other Diversifying Investments 7,996 3.6% ‐‐‐ 0.0%‐20.0% ‐‐‐ 0.6 1.6 6.4 1.2 7.6 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 9.1

Total Diversified Growth 56,047 25.0% 17.5% 10.0%‐30.0% 17.5% 0.0 0.5 2.6 ‐0.9 4.5 7.4 6.1 4.4 5.0

Total Inflation Sensitive 18,052 8.0% 10.0% 0.0%‐15.0% 10.0% ‐4.3 ‐6.7 2.7 ‐9.8 5.7 4.2 8.3 ‐‐‐ ‐0.7

Total Deflation Sensitive 25,529 11.4% 15.0% 9.0%‐30.0% 15.0% 0.5 0.7 4.5 0.6 3.9 3.9 5.8 5.8 6.2

Total Managed Assets Net of CA Fees 224,438 100.0% 100.0% ‐‐‐ 100.0% 0.1 ‐0.5 3.5 ‐2.1 7.6 10.9 9.3 6.0 4.4

Total Assets Net of CA Fees 232,922 ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ ‐‐‐ 0.1 ‐0.5 3.5 ‐2.0 7.5 10.9 9.3 6.0 4.4
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   Appendix A 
Variance Notes: 
 
[1] The negative variance of $3.9 million in cash contributions as of October 31, 2014 is a result of 
anticipated new gifts that have not yet materialized.  The Development team is actively working the 
Campaign plan to meet the budgeted cash goal for the year. 
 
[2] The negative variance for MARC Building revenues is a result of timing related to new leases.  Building 
occupancy remains at 100%, and all budgeted rental income will be collected by the end of December. 
 
[3] Foundation subsidiaries are comprised of four single member LLCs – Foundation Enterprise Holdings I 
through IV – with FIU Foundation as their sole member.  The positive variance is a timing issue related to 
the upfront receipt of $214,992 in PO&M State funds for FEH III versus the $187,379 budgeted throughout 
the fiscal year. 
  
[4] Investment returns for fiscal year 2014-15 were projected at 6.0% or $14.4 million, based on a beginning 
balance of $225 million.  The monthly returns were forecasted based on our asset allocation and the 
historical performance of indexes for each asset class.  Fiscal year-to-date investment losses on the portfolio 
through October 31, 2014 totaled approximately 2.0%, or ($4.7) million. 
 
[5] The positive $3.3 million variance in scholarships and program expenses is mainly due to timing. The 
processing of several scholarships, salary reimbursements, and event-related invoices mainly in the College 
of Arts & Sciences, College of Medicine, and College of Business will occur later in the year. 
 
[6] The positive $164,000 variance in MARC Building expenses are a result of a $134,000 credit for the 
reversal of a prior year building renovation expense that should have been capitalized.  There has been an 
additional savings of $25,000 in interest expense as a result of the low interest rate environment. 
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